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The company, State Auto Financial Corporation (“STFC™),
is a regional insurance holding company headquartered in
Columbus, Ohio. STFC, through its six insurance sub-
sidiaries, provides personal and commertcial insurance for
both the standard and nonstandard insurance markets.
STFC’s principal lines of business include personal and
commercial auto, homeowners, commercial multi-peril, fire
and general liability. Combined, the State Auto companies
market their insurance products through approximately
22,400 independent agents, associated with approximately
3,400 agencies in 26 states. STFC and its subsidiaries are
affiliated with State Automobile Mutual Insurance Company
(*Mutual™), which owns approximately 66% of the compa-
ny’s outstanding shares.

STFC's insurance subsidiaries consist of State Auto
Property and Casualty Insurance Company (“State Auto
P&C”), Milbank Insurance Company (“Milbank”), Farmers
Casually Insurance Company, (“Farmers”), State Auto’
Insurance Company of Ohio (“SA Ohio”), State Auto
National Insurance Company (“SA National”) and Mid-
Plains Insurance Company (“Mid-Plains”). An insurance
pooling arrangement exists between various insurers in the
State Auto group by which premiums, losses and under-

e, s L lichia OF STATE AUTO FINANCIAL CORPORATION
FI n a n G I a I H I g h I l g I“S (in millions, except per share data)

writing expenses are shared by the pool participants.
STFC receives 80 percent of this underwriting pool, while
Mutual receives 20 percent in the aggregate.

STFC also has three non-insurer subsidiaries. Stateco
Financial Services, Inc. (“Stateco”) provides investment
management services to the entire State Auto group of
companies. Strategic Insurance Software, Inc. (“S.1.8”)
develops and markets software designed to compete in
the insurance agency management system market. Also,
the company’s 518 Property Management and Leasing,
LLC ("518 PML") owns and leases real and personal prop-
erty to STFC and affiliates.

With a commitment to responsible cost-based pricing,
conservative investments and sound underwriting prac-
tices, STFC has maintained a healthy financial record
since becoming a public company in 1991. Combined with
its focus on providing outstanding customer service to pol-
icyholders and agents, State Auto has earned the reputa-
tion as one of the strongest and best managed regional
insurance groups in the industry. State Auto has consis-
tently received A.M. Best Company’s A+(Superior) rating.

State Auto Financial Corporation is traded on the
Nasdag National Market System under the symbol STFC.

2000* 1999~

2003 2002 2001*
GAAP MEASURES
Total revenue $1,041.7 967.5 623.3 462.8 440.9 402.°
Net income $ 636 37.0 20.6 47.7 42.8 37t
Total assets $1,836.7 1,593.0 1,367.5 898.1 759.9 717.%
Total stockholders' equity $ 5423 463.8 400.2 386.1 317.7 340.¢
GAAP combined ratio” 98.2 102.4 107.0 98.4 96.0 97.t
PER COMMON SHARE @ .
Basic earnings $ 1.62 0.95 0.53 1.24 1.05 .8¢
Diluted earnings $ 1.58 0.93 0.52 1.21 1.03 .87
Book value $ 1371 11.89 10.28 10.01 8.29 8.11
NON-GAAP MEASURES
Total operating revenue® $1,031.1 961.6 621.3 457.5 438.3 3991
Plus net realized gain
on investments $ 106 5.9 2.0 53 26 3.C
GAAP Total revenue $1,041.7 967.5 623.3 462.8 440.9 402.1
Net income from operations® $ 567 33.2 19.3 443 41.2 35.6
Plus net realized gain
on investments, less applicable
federal income taxes $ 6.9 3.8 1.3 3.4 1.6 1.9
GAAP Net Income $ 636 37.0 206 47.7 42.8 37.5
PER COMMON SHARE @
Basic earnings from operations® | $ 1.44 0.85 0.50 .15 1.01 .85
Dituted earnings from operations®|$  1.41 0.83 0.49 1.12 .99 .83
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1997

1996 1995*

363.0 345.1 333.5
41.0 26.4 29.9
664.4 605.4 579.2
297.3 247.6 225.8
94.6 100.5 97.8
.99 64 73
97 63 72
7.11 5.98 5.48
359.9 3423 3317
3.1 2.8 1.8
363.0 345.1 333.5
39.0 24.6 28.8
2.0 1.8 1.1
41.0 26.4 29.9
.94 60 70
.92 59 69

1994
254.4
15.3
487.3
175.9 . . .
103.3 (1) Combined ratio is the loss and LAE ratio plus the expense
’ ratio. GAAP ratios are computed using earned premiums
for both the loss and LAE ratio and the expense ratio, and
include the effect of eliminations in consolidation.
39 (2) Per common share adjusted for 1998 2-for-1 and 1996
.39 3-for-2 common stock split effected in the form of a stock
4.29 dividend. Earnings per common share amounts prior to
1998 are restated as required to comply with SFAS No. 128.
(3) Total operating revenue excludes net realized gains and
252.8 and losses on investments from total revenue.
(4) Net income from operations excludes net realized gains and
1.6 losses on investments, net of tax, from net income.
(5) Basic and diluted earnings from operations is net income
254.4 from operations as defined above divided by the weighted
i average basic or diluted shares outstanding for the period,
as applicable.
14.8
*Includes pooling changes effective October 1, 2001, January 1,
2000, 1999, 1998 and 1995.
0.5
15.3
.36
.36




Robert H. Moone,
President, CEO, and
Chairman of the Board

We've titled your 2003 Annual Report “By the Numbers.”
That seemed appropriate for a year that was marked by
some very interesting financial and performance data.

Let’s start by locking at those figures that tell the most about
the operations of your company — the combined ratio, sales
growth and our expense ratio. Then we'll dig a little deeper
into the issues that drove this performance.

We are extremely pleased to report that STFC’s GAAP
combined ratio was 98.2. This marks a return to underwrit-
ing profit, which is in no small measure a direct result of the
total re-positioning of the Meridian book that came with the
Meridian acquisition in mid-year 2001. By the end of 2002
(a short 18 months into the process), we could see palpable
progress. And that continued over the course of 2003 to the
point that most of the Meridian business is now integrated
into the State Auto segment with a strong contribution to the
excellent operating results.

It would be difficult to overstate just what a significant
accomplishment that is. In an industry littered with the rem-
nants of integrations gone awry, we are very proud of the
efforts of our people who did the work that had to be done,
yet retained strong relationships with our agency partners
and the preponderance of the insurance clients who had
been so hard won. In fact, so much of the business has
been moved to the State Auto platform this will be our last
report on Meridian as a specific business segment.

The results summarized above are even more noteworthy
because 2003 was not benign from a catastrophe stand-
point. In fact, “Cat 88,” a series of early May storms, rav-
aged 17 of our operating states. This became the largest
catastrophe dollar loss in the companies’ history. The total
dollar cost of Cat 88 to the State Auto Group was $51.8 mil-
lion, with $39.6 million of that hitting STFC's books. The
strategy of concentrating on geographic dispersion as we
grew our written premium proved to be effective as the loss
ratio impact of this catastrophe was mitigated to 4.1 loss

ratio points. Not many years ago a “Cat” loss of this mag-
nitude would have spelled an overall underwriting loss for
the year. By the end of the third quarter 2003, we had over-
come that significantly adverse event and posted positive
underwriting numbers.

As illustrated graphically nearby, written premium contin-
ued to grow, albeit at a slower pace than the previous two
years. During the latter half of the ‘90s the property/casu-
alty insurance industry suffered serious self-inflicted
wounds as a result of the so-called soft market cycle. For
reasons known only to them, many companies began sell-
ing their service at less than cost and continued that prac-
tice until the financial bleeding became too severe to
endure. Throughout this period, we “kept our powder dry”
in anticipation of a market turn. When that turn occurred we
were poised to exploit it by maintaining the open, consistent
market we promise our independent agent sales force. As
a benefit, for the period 2001 through 2003, we enjoyed the
three largest years of internal growth in the company’s his-
tory. Around mid-year of 2003, we began to notice a return
of competition, which had somewhat of a dampening effect
on growth, particularly growth generated by rate nourish-
ment on our renewal book. Nonetheless, we have reason
to believe there will be a continuation of solid written premi-
um increases. And, should there be a return to irrational
rate cutting, we’ll again keep our eyes firmly riveted on the
bottom line.

The expense ratio ticked up over the course of 2003. In a
sense this was good news, because the key drivers of this
expense increase were profit bonuses paid to our indepen-
dent agency partners and to our employee group. From an
operational standpoint, every office successfully held
spending to less than budgets. Sharing profits with the
people who worked so hard to make them a reality is a
potent way to build loyalty and encourage successful
behaviors.

In this time of governmental/regulatory reaction to a peri-
od of corporate scandals, it seems a few words about our
governance practices are in order. In this report is a photo
of your directors. More information about them is available
on our Web site, www.STFC.com. We are exceptionally
proud of the experience, intellect, energy, diversity and
commitment they bring to the enterprise as they work
on your behalf.



As presently constituted, the nine members of the board
include six independent directors (as defined by NASDAQ
and the SEC) and three non-independent directors. The
Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, Nominating
and Governance Committee and Independent Committee
are comprised exclusively of independent directors. Each
of these standing committees has a charter outlining its
responsibilities and requiring an annual assessment of its
effectiveness. The board holds an annual retreat and, at
each of the quarterly board meetings, an executive ses-
sion — excluding management directors. Your company has
achieved a Corporate Governance Quotient of 85.5 from
Institutional Shareholder Services (meaning 1SS rates our
governance to be better than 85.5% of the Russell 3000
companies).

Suffice it to say we are proud of our record and continue
to work toward adopting recognized best practices in the
corporate governance arena.

Since STFC's inception in 1991, your company has been
rated A+ (Superior) by A. M. Best & Co., the premier rating
agency for property and casualty insurers. STFC’s parent
and principal shareholder, State Auto Mutual, was recent-
ly recognized by Best as being one of only 15 companies
(out of some 3,500) to have earned this prestigious A+ rat-
ing for fifty consecutive years. While the honor belongs to
Mutual, it is important to note that the same emphasis on
executing sound, conservative underwriting and financial
strategies employed to merit and retain that rating, apply
equally to STFC.

On behalf of the more than 2,000 State Auto associates
and our over 22,000 agent partners, we offer our pledge to
continue that execution as the key to outstanding perfor-
mance and the creation of true shareholder value.

[Sotek P loonee

Robert H. Moone, CPCU
Chairman of the Board
President and Chief Executive Officer
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R Selected flnanCIaI data as of 12/31/03

Market Price.......coiee e $23.34
52-week high-low range................cccoooen $26.90 -14.96

2003 basic/diluted earnings per share........... $1.62/$1.58
P/E 1ati0. uveei i 14.4x
Market capitalization..........ccccccovviniiirnennnn. $923.3 million
Shares outstanding...........cccoveivinniinnnnn, 39.6 million
Estimated float.........ccoooveeiiiii e, 13.3 million
Book value/share..........cccccooiiiiiniii e, $13.71
Price/book value..........cccoivviiiii e 1.7x
Return on average equity........ococoviiiiiininnnncnians 12.6%
Quarterly dividend..........coccovieiiiiie e $0.040

Average daily trading volume.................... 42,452 shares”

*Source: NASDAQ




GAAP Combined Ratio

98.2 -------- The company’s GAAP combined
ratio for 2003 was 98.2%, marking
a return to underwriting profitability,
STFC’s pre-eminent goal every year.

After an impressive run of four years, 1997 through
2000, the company failed to make an underwriting profit in
2001 and 2002. 2003 marked the return to underwriting
profitability as STFC posted a 98.2% GAAP combined
ratio. Underwriting profitability is State Auto’s overriding
corporate goal. Property/casualty insurance companies
can make a profit even when they spend more on claims
and operating expenses than they collect in premium due
to the generation of investment income. State Auto has
always viewed adequate pricing and expense control —
and hence an underwriting profit — as the immutable rule
for producing long-term and consistent profits. The deci-
sion to achieve higher sales by simply lowering prices has
led to more than one company’s plunge into the red, a
condition that, if prolonged, can lead to drastic reunder-
writing and closed markets. State Auto’s determination to
make an underwriting profit every year rarely makes us
the lowest priced product in the market, but it does make
us one of the most consistent markets in our territories for
both agents and consumers.

The investment in the Meridian acquisition in 2001,
while creating a short-term deterioration in underwriting
profitability, contributed heavily to a more than doubling in
STFC's earned premium. The return to profitable com-
bined ratios in combination with increased size has result-
ed in STFC producing record operating earnings in four of
the last five quarters (as of fourth quarter 2003).

Commercial Lines

We have all heard the old saying, “Don’t sweat the
small stuff” We couldn’t disagree more. We have built
an entire underwriting operation around “sweating the
small stuff” It was the relentless execution of underwrit-
ing fundamentals that steered our commercial lines oper-
ation to profit in 2003.

Over the past three years, we have focused on restor-
ing rate adequacy to the commercial lines segment of our
business, measuring our progress through a metric we
call “premium per exposure.” This continued focus on
rate resulted in premium levels strong enough o endure
record catastrophe losses in 2003, and still generate a
commercial lines underwriting profit. Commercial lines
catastrophe losses in 2003 were more than twice the
amount incurred in 2002. Heavy wind storms in early
May were particularly devastating. In response to chang-
ing weather patterns, we have increased deductibles for
larger properties, particularly those in areas prone to wind
damage. In some cases, we have applied percentage
deductibles for wind and hail losses, which have the
effect of applying a larger deductible for wind/hail dam-
age, while preserving smaller ones for other losses, such
as fire, vandalism and theft.

In 2003, our workers’ compensation results began to
decline. The insurance industry loss ratio historically has
fluctuated more in this line of business than in most other
lines. In our focus on stability, we have contained our
workers’ compensation writings so that they represent
less than 10% of our commercial lines premium and
around 3% of our total company volume. Still, we contin-
ue to apply responsible underwriting measures to restore
this line to profitability.

continued on page 8
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Last year, we made much progress in moving the
Meridian business from the former Meridian policy
issuance computer system to the State Auto system. Al
but two of the 16 states had at least begun this transition
and we have already completed the process in some of
our states. The two remaining states are scheduled to
begin the conversion in the first half of 2004. As a result
of having all business on one “platform,” we will be able

to underwrite our business more efficiently and more
effectively review those accounts in need of attention.

Personal Lines

Private passenger auto (PPA) was profitable in 2003.
As STFC's leading product by volume, profitability in this
line is critical to achieving our overall combined ratio goal.
Heading into 2003, concerns about deteriorating private
passenger auto liability results made reversing this trend
a high priority for personal lines underwriters throughout
the company. While we aren’t completely satisfied with
our efforts in this regard, we finished 2003 with improved
experience in the PPA liability coverages. We will contin-
ue 1o promulgate rate increases and apply underwriting
changes in order to bring this coverage to the desired
performance level. Part and parcel of our liability experi-

ence was the poor personal injury protection (PIP) results.

Not available in all of our states, PIP coverage cannot be
underwritten, so the key to improving PIP results falls
strictly to rate relief.

Writing profitable homeowners business remains, per-
haps, the industry’s biggest underwriting challenge, and
State Auto would agree. While we ended the year with a
loss in the homeowners line, the trend line was moving in
the right direction as we headed out of 2003. if catastro-
phes are removed from the year’s total HO loss experi-
ence, STFC would have shown a profit in the line. And,
most encouragingly, homeowners delivered a healthy
profit in the second half of the year (when Cat losses
were minimal). Our underwriting approach is consistent
and our risk selection at the branch level is sound.
Pricing remained strong in 2003 and we plan to remain
aggressive throughout 2004, though the overall percent-
age of rate increases will be somewhat lower than in pre-
vious years.

Personal lines grew by almost 10% in 2003. We contin-
ued to be an open market for account homeowners busi-
ness and private passenger auto. Our most impressive
personal lines growth - both in terms of numbers and
profitability - continues to be with those consumers who
qualify for our PRIME of Life Program. This program pro-

vides both coverages and discounts for insureds over the
age of 45 when we write both their auto and home.

Sales volume

$987 million - in written premium.

2003 was a strong growth year for STFC, achieving total
written premium of a record $987 million. The diligence
and discipline we demonstrated in properly pricing our
insurance products during the long soft market of the
1990s was rewarded during the hard market we have
experienced for the better part of the new millennium.
While other companies struggled to regain pricing equilib-
rium while maintaining market share, STFC was able to
keep its doors open and remained a friendly market for
our agency partners. The company continued its empha-
sis on sales training and introduced a thorough branch
sales review program, completed in early 2003. Results
from this review were shared with the branches and steps
were taken to improve on the results for the balance of
2003 and beyond.

The addition of the personal lines sales specialist posi-
tion has had an impressive impact on the company’s per-
sonal lines sales results. STFC finished the year with 29
associates in the specialist role throughout our 10
branches. We are adding more specialists in early 2004.
Working closely with our agency partners in cross selling
current accounts and prospecting new business, the per-
sonal lines sales specialists have proven instrumental in
getting personal lines sales back on track for STFC.

State Auto has had senior commercial specialists in the
field for over a decade. These underwriters have binding
authority and provide State Auto with the opportunity to
“look before we buy” risks presented by agents and con-
sumers. With more and more companies closing offices
and pulling underwriters out of the field, our current orga-
nization make-up allows for continued close personal
relations with our agency partners — relationships they
favor through increased new business opportunities.

The PaceSetter program is the premier new agent train-
ing program in the country. [t offers new agents an
intense, two-week classroom experience in the home
office, where they tearn both the State Auto underwriting
philosophy and effective selling techniques. PaceSetter
also provides each graduate with a sales coach for one
year after the conference ends. The coaches not only
teach and provide encouragement, they also closely mon-
itor the strict prospecting and sales requirements
demanded of PaceSetter graduates. It is this ongoing,
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impressive and new agencies are | Book Value
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insurance group, you're right. State nes
Auto is a premier regional insurance oor 1028 | '
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*Book Value = Ratio of total stockholders’ equity to total number of common stock shares outstanding
continued on page 10
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Agencies considered for appointment are put through a
rigorous — and lengthy — due-diligence. We make sure a
member of State Auto management visits with each
agency prospect during this process. (Agency principals
often visit with multiple management members. In addi-
tion, where feasible, prospective agents visit branch or
home office facilities to meet the associates they would be
working with if a partnership is formed.) We look at the
relationships the agency currently has with other carriers.
We want to know how State Auto will fit into the agency’s
business equation and how much business will be placed
within the agency. We look into loss ratios to see how the
agency is faring with its current companies. We thorough-
ly investigate the agency’s financials, ensuring that we will
be dealing with an ongoing, profitabte enterprise. We
secure information on each of the licensed individuals
within the agency to confirm they can fulfill their fiduciary
responsibilities. In short, we conduct a thorough, exhaus-
tive study of every prospect. We aren’t as concerned
about the number of appointments as we are the quality of
apointments. And the proof is in the profit numbers.

AgentSite

Agents and employees
paid more than 1,000,000
visits to AgentSite in
2003, a reflection of the
Web site’s growing versa-
tility and usefulness as
an insurance
tool.

With well over one million
visits logged in 2003, State

Auto’s AgentSite has become a vital source of information
for both company associates and independent agencies.
Over the past year, the site added many popular new fea-
tures, including payment and claim status, agency experi-
ence and incentive travel reports, policyholder documents
(such as declaration pages), manuals, forms and other
applications that assist agents in selling our products and
providing service to customers.

With this handy information online, the quantity of paper
documents that traditionally have been mailed to agents
was reduced. Agents also saw increased efficiencies, as
instant online access eliminated sorting and filing by their
personnel and aillowed them to provide better customer
service to policyholders. To make the process even more
efficient for our agency partners, State Auto worked with
three major agency management systems so that agents
using these systems can link directly into AgentSite. No
additional passwords are required, streamlining their
workflow.

As one agent noted recently, “l love AgentSite. I'm out
there all the time. When your company reps come into
our office to tell us about new rates or other State Auto
information, | already know because I've seen it on
AgentSite. And, | can link to AgentSite directly from my
agency management system”

With electronic upload of new, personal lines business
hovering at 50%, State Auto introduced a new, online rat-
ing and submission system late in 2003 called NetXpress.
Accessed from AgentSite, it also allows agen-cies to sub-
mit policy changes, print applications and other necessary
forms, and access other supplementary rating tools.
Plans call for NetXpress to be available in most of the
company’s 26 operating states during 2004.

An acknowledged leader in agency-company electronic
communication, State Auto earned the ACORD* “Upload
Company of the Year” award for the second straight year,




Total assets

WQOO( 1,836.7
fam!
1800 (
1700 ‘
1,593.0
1600 =
j
1500 |—1
|
|
1400 13674 | |
L
1300 D }——
1200 ] - —
b
1100 J ; J —
| | 1 '
1000 SN
2 s || 1L
S 900 P‘ T
£ 7599 || ‘ | L
£ 800 —
= R .;
700 T — e
N L . 605.4 : f g b
and the third time in six years. The 600 579.2 Pl ‘ ‘ | | |
. . . — | Lo |
award is given to the company with | ) L ||
the most total upload implementa- s00 2828 — i i ——\ |
tions during the year. ACORD is a 400 __7 \ f L
global, nonprofit insurance associa- 5 \ [ B
. . . . o | H
tion whose mission is to facilitate the 300 — - —[ | E — : — |
development and use of standards Do ' ’ | : I
for the insurance, reinsurance and 200 = n ‘1 ! a
related financial services industries. 100 ___} [ \ _l ;
. ‘ ‘ CoL
continued on page 12 0 Ll ‘ L
1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1989 2000 2001 2002 2003
o ) * Reflects changes in the pooling arrangement effective
*Association for Cooperative January 1 of 1895, 1998, 1999, 2000 and
Operations Research and Development October 1 of 2001.
252.8  331.7* 3423 359.9  399.1* 438.3* 457.5° 621.3* 961.6 1,031.1
e ——  $1200 1
Total operatmg revenue”’ ‘
‘ 5.9
— 1000 5
(] Earned Premiums —_— %46
59.7
D Net Investment income T
B other income 800 —[
| |
i | i
18.7 i |
600 -—
0 474 J
5 | IR
= 120 g | o f
£ 400 o4 MEe 38 | —\ I
* Reflects changes in the pooling = 60 o0 e 1—32 S | L Lo
arrangement effective January 1 el 31 A } | { | |
of 1995,1998,1999, 2000, _22..2.. ,ﬁ ] 1 | ‘ | | o T R
22, | ‘ | ! ) | ‘
October 1, 2001. 200 — ‘ ‘ — f } —
‘ | L
o Refer to the chart on pages 2 2083 2964 }304.5 320,0' | |esez  fas20 393 o‘ 5552 (896.6| ’960 6
and 3 for reconciliation to GAAP " ( { ] .‘ [ [ [ |
Total Revenue o LI | | l P ) ?
1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1998 2000 2001 2002 2003

11




12

( Z
3
6 4 continued from page 11 11
=

78

Return on equity and book value

Our return on equity. We have
outperformed the industry in this
category every year since 1991.

15.30/0 ----- STFC’s book value per common

share increased over 2002.
These critical measurements of shareholder
value indicate that our shareholders are, indeed,
getting value.

STFC produced a 12.6% return on equity for 2003.
STFC has provided shareholders with double digit return
on equity in seven of the last ten years (see chart on
page 13). STFC’s return on equity has outperformed the
industry return on equity every single year since the initial
public offering in 1991. STFC’s commitment to sharehold-
er value has resulted in our GAAP equity increasing at a
strong compound average growth rate of 15.0% since the
IPO.

Total STFC assets

$1.84 billion - Total assets reached

$1.84 billion at year-end 2003

STFC'’s total assets rose to a record high $1.84 billion at
year-end 2003, a 15.3% increase over the $1.59 billion
recorded at the end of 2002. This growth occurred as a
result of the company’s profitable operations, an increase
in the financial markets and the issuance of $100 million
of senior debt.

Approximately 85.0% of the company’s total assets are
invested in publicly traded, marketable securities, i.e.,
stocks and bonds. The pie charts on page 13 show the
distribution of the company’s assets and the bond portfolio.

Approximately 88.3% of the company’s investable assets
are fixed-income bonds. Within the bond portfolio, 41.8%
is invested in U.S. Government and Government Agency
bonds. The remaining 58.2% is made up of corporate

bonds and tax-free municipal bonds. The bonds in our
portfolio carry an average investment rating of AA+, indica-
tive of a conservative investment policy that dictates the
purchase of only investment grade bonds.

Our exposure to common stocks increased during 2003
as a result of an above average total return on invested
assets and an increase of available funds allocated to this
class of assets by the Investment Committee of the board
of directors. The stock market reversed a three year
decline in 2003 and stock investors were rewarded with
significant gains. The company’s equity portfolio experi-
enced a total return of about 25% for the year, slightly
less than the return of the S&P 500. The market was led
by technology and small-cap issues, most of which pay
no dividend. Company policy requires that all stock
investments be in companies that pay a dividend, that
have a history of regular increases in dividends and have
real earnings that are also increasing.

On the bond side, interest rates declined to levels that
have not been experienced in 40-plus years. As a result,
the company’s yield declined as the value of its holdings
increased. The profitable operations of the company dic-
tated a shift in the bond portfolio to increased exposure to
tax-free bonds.

Stock price
$23.34 ------ STFC’s closing price on

December 31, 2003.

The performance of STFC’s stock price has reflected
the company’s consistent and steadfast commitment to
profitability, overwhelming service and building sharehold-
er value. During 2003, STFC’s stock price increased
50.6%. Since going public, STFC has produced a com-
pound average annual growth rate of 20.6%, a healthy
return for a relatively conservative, solidly capitalized
financial sector stock. While past results cannot guaran-
tee future performance, the strong, disciplined fundamen-
tals that have been STFC’s hallmark and produced these
outstanding results remain firmly in place entering 2004.

continued on page 14
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Corporate governance guotient

------ Our corporate governance quotient,
better known as CGQ, is 85.5.

Corporate governance refers to the measures a corpo-
ration puts in place in order to regulate itself and help
ensure accountability for and transparency of its financial
and operational results for the benefit of the owners of the
corporation. The rules and laws that led to increased
scrutiny of governance procedures and policies arose out
of the ethical lapses of top management at several major
corporations in the United States.

State Auto’s corporate governance efforts include ensur-
ing a strong majority of independent directors on the
board. The audit, compensation, nominating and gover-
nance committees and standing independent committee
consist of only outside, independent directors. Each
standing board committee has a charter which sets forth
certain fundamental rules and powers of the committee.
Each committee’s charter is a public document, available
at www.STFC.com. Also, the company has adopted gov-
ernance guidelines which are a statement of standards by
which the board of directors will conduct itself in fulfilling
its responsibilities to the owners of the company. Among
other internal rules set forth in the governance guidelines,
one prescribes that the board of directors meets with only
independent directors present at least twice a year.
Another is that the board will evaluate its performance
annually. These are but two of the standards of behavior
to which the directors have subjected themselves pur-
suant to the governance guidelines. The full story is
available at www.STFC.com. You are encouraged to
review this material.

State Auto Financial Corporation’s governance structure
is formally rated by an organization called Institutional
Shareholder Services (ISS). 1SS has created a corporate
governance rating system it is applying to public compa-
nies, with the goal that shareholders will have an opportu-
nity to compare one public company’s governance with
that of other public companies should that company’s
governance be a factor in an investment decision. ISS
gives companies a Corporate Governance Quotient™ or
CGQ™, based on the company’s response to approxi-
mately 60 questions that pertain to the following broad
areas: board composition, committees’ composition, char-
ter and bylaws of the company, domiciliary state law pro-
visions, board procedures, the audit process, executive
and director compensation, executive and director stock
ownership, qualitative factors (e.g., mandatory retirement

State Auto’s
Core Values

- Fairly price and ethically sell
useful insurance products.

- Treat every transaction with
absolute honesty and integrity.

- Extend dignity and respect to everyone.
Encourage innovation.

= Fully utilize every person’s talents.

age for directors, term limits for directors, performance
reviews of the board, executive sessions of directors),
and director education. As of March 15, 2004, STFC’s
CGQ™ was 85.5 which means its assessment of STFC’s
governance outperformed assessmenis of 85.5% of the
companies in the Russell 3,000 index. STFC’s industry
ranking was 77.9 which means it outperformed 77.9% of
the companies in the insurance group, as categorized by
ISS.

State Auto’s governance materials set a tone of respon-
sibility to, and respect for, the owners of the company. The
corporate governance processes and policies implement-
ed by the company and its directors merely reflect behav-
iors and traits engrained in the State Auto culture for many
years. These behaviors and traits, which we call our Core
Values, are listed above as they appear on printed materi-
als and computer screens throughout our company.



Milbank Regional Office

Companies of any appreciable size that cover extensive
territory invariably confront the difficult choice: to central-
ize, to decentralize or to find that Goldilocks’ compromise
that allows them to be a bit of both. State Auto has faced
that choice virtually since its founding in 1921 (when func-
tioning at opposite ends of Ohio was more than enough
challenge). But it's always been an easy choice for us.

“We're a regional insurance company,” says Cathy
Miley, one of two vice presidents of regional operations
for State Auto Financial Corporation. “We understand the
advantages of centralizing functions, and we’ve done that
with our smaller claims handling and policy processing
operations. But to service our agents and our policyhold-
ers in the most effective and profitable way, we know we
need to have field and branch offices in the midst of our
customers, staffed by people who know the politics,
understand the market and can literally reach out to our
partners when they need us”

Miley’'s group of branches include the Southern, Milbank
(SD), Nashville, Eastern and Indianapolis Regional
Offices. Of those, the Southern Regional Office covers
the most territory — seven states — but SRO Manager
Larry Wilson, 35 years with State Auto, says the agents
are close to State Auto and close to each other. “You
know why the regional approach works? First, we really
like these folks we work with, and they really like us. It
sounds simplistic, but you tend to shoot pretty straight
with the people you call friends. Agents are independent
business men and women operating in a very competitive
business. They want to know that they can wake up

-tomoerrow and one of their best companies is still there,
providing great products and consistent service” Wilson
says that the vagaries of the market — roller coaster pric-
ing and market climate underwriting — have never been
the State Auto way. “Agents know we’re serious when we

tell them, ‘We are demanding underwriters and exception-
al claims handlers. We're rarely going to be your lowest

30

priced — but we're going to be your best company.

The Indianapolis Regional Office (IRO) services the
states of Indiana and lilinois. Joel Brown runs this newest
STFC regional office, formerly the home of recently
acquired Meridian Insurance Companies. Brown says the
competitions’ headlong rush to centralize has made State
Auto more atfractive then ever. “Our agencies appreciate
State Auto’s commitment to this region. A regional office
has the advantage of knowing the marketplace and know-
ing the competitors and can react more quickly to
changes in the insurance environment. Agencies like to
know who they are doing business with, and a regional
office provides that opportunity.”

Milbank, South Dakota, is a friendly town of 3,000 that
seems even smaller to the first time visitor. This is home
to the Mitbank Regional Office (MRO), formerly the head-
quarters of Milbank Insurance Company, acquired by the
State Auto Companies in 1993, two years following the
creation of STFC. “The Milbank office can trace its insur-
ance roots back 100 years,” says manager Russ Fischer,
whose accent reveals his Eastern upbringing but whose
heart is mainly on the plain. Fischer has been State Auto
Milbank’s only branch manager. “We've been a beacon, a
predictable, dependable business partner to our agents.
When State Auto acquired Milbank, I think a lot of folks
were waiting for the other shoe to drop. It never dropped.
We're still here...only four times bigger and 20 points
more profitable. Ask our agents if they think it makes a
difference that we’re here instead of New York or San
Francisco or Zurich." Milbank services agents in North
Dakota, Minnesota and Utah as well as South Dakota.

The Eastern Regional Office, located in the Columbus
Home Office, manages three states. Ben Blackmon grew

continued on page 16
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up in one of those states, Maryland - West Virginia and
Pennsylvania being the other two - and worked in his fam-
ily’s agency before joining State Auto. Blackmon would
point out that his states may form a region, but their dis-
similarities make his job challenging, fun and necessary.
“I know some companies use a global approach to mar-
keting, but | can’t fathom that something as complicated
and important as insurance can be designed and man-
aged one way and satisfy both the customer from the
Eastern Shore and the customer at the foot of the
Appalachians.”

George Furlong agrees with Blackmon that market
diversity is the challenge and the joy of running his baili-
wick, the Nashville Regional Office (NRO). “We manage
seven states. You almost never have seven states behav-
ing just the way you want them to. And if we tried to treat
them all the same, I'm not sure any of them would
behave, period” But, Furlong and his staff have figured
something out. NRO has consistently been among the
companies’ most profitable and fastest growing regions.

Cathy Miley’s counterpart, Steve Hazelbaker, has respon-
sibility for the Cleveland, Cincinnati and Lacrosse branch-
es and the Central and Des Moines regional offices. He
believes that allowing smaller offices to have a strong say
in underwriting and sales decisions creates two advan-
tages. “When you make the rules and set the goals, you
have fewer excuses for failing to meet them. And when
you realize you're in an elite and competitive group -
(meaning those who manage the branches) - you keep
that edge that makes you work harder and smarter. |
haven’t met a branch manager who doesn’t believe his or

her operation is the best...or on its way to being the best.”
Don Spickler manages Cleveland, the company’s small-
est and first branch office. The importance of being a
physical presence in the area is obvious to him. “The
Cleveland Branch serves 175 agencies in a seven-county
area. The close proximity to our agency force is a tremen-
dous advantage, especially since many of our competitors
have consolidated or centralized their offices, moving away
from Cleveland. We have a long and successful history up
here. And, believe me, Cleveland is not Cincinnati or
Columbus or Columbia. If you want to be successful in
any city, you need to live in it, understand it, embrace it.

Central Regional 127
Cincinnati Branch 67
Cleveland Branch 50
Des Moines Branch 35
Eastern Regional 99
Indianapolis Regional 62"
Lacrosse Branch 32
Milbank Regional 90
Nashville Regional 129
Southern Regional 169

- 2003 loss ratio 2003 premium .

et voluime (in miltionsy
64.0 $157.0
53.9 119.2
52.1 66.6
53.5 33.7
70.6 133.0
54.0 124.5
51.2 40.0
51.3 119.1
81.0 204.3
53.8 87.8

(1) This number does not include a claims staff. 1RO claims are handled by the corporate claims staff.

(2) These are State Auto Group numbers



MERIDIAN CENTE!

Cities are like snowflakes...they're all beautiful in their
own way, and no two are exactly alike. And we know
snow in Cleveland.”

At the opposite end of Ohio is the Cincinnati Branch,
managed by Jim Wilkerson. Hamilton County has the
largest concentration of branch business, but Wilkerson’s
staff also serves western and central Kentucky. “We're in
two states and, yes, there are differences in the Kentucky
and Ohio insurance environments. But there’s not that
much difference in the way the agents and their policy-
holders want to be treated.” The branch’s close and suc-
cessful business partnerships with its agents can be cred-
ited in part to the long and successful history State Auto
has had in both Kentucky and the Cincinnati area. And
things have never been better: the branch enjoyed a
combined ratio of 88.3 on $119 million in sales in 2003.

The Central Regional Office (SRO), which manages
Ohio between Cincinnati and Cleveland, as well as
Michigan, was housed until recently in the Columbus
Home Office. Jean Reynolds, CRO manager, says “mov-
ing out” has been easier than some of her staff had imag-
ined. “We have a great headquarters in Columbus, but
we’re a branch and that means we have unique goals and
territorial challenges.

“We only moved a mile away, but that separation has

’55, STATE AUTO
i/ Insurance Compenes

Indianapolis Regional Office

strengthened our branch persona and reminded us we
do have a special constituency.”

The Des Moines (DBO) and La Crosse Branch Offices
(LBO) oversee newer company territories. State Auto
acquired State Auto insurance Company of Wisconsin
(formerly Midwest Security Insurance Company) in
Wisconsin in 1997 and Farmers Casualty Insurance
Company in Des Moines in 1999. Managers Lester
Brue in DBO and Kevin Kelley in LBO have taken a good
thing and made it better. “We acquired State Auto
Wisconsin because it was easier to buy a book of busi-
ness than to create one from scratch,” says Kelly.
“Frankly, that book needed some attention. It’s important
to understand the market and the agent, and we can't
pretend we had it down pat right away, but look at it
now; we’ve become a very profitable operation” The
same can be said about the Des Moines Branch Office,
which manages lowa and Kansas. Brue and his staff
posted a strong 2003. “We've worked hard — and so
have our agents. State Auto’s emphasis on underwriting
at every level, including the front line (agents) has made
the difference. But you can'’t just tell folks this will hap-
pen. You have to work with them. The regional concept
of running an insurance company makes this partnership
approach possible.”
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During 2003, State Auto claims people received in excess
of 227,000 claim assignments. This number includes not
only the day in and day out assignments, but also surges of
claims generated by storms. In fact, during 2003, State
Auto claims people worked through claims that arose out of
the largest “Cat” in company history.

Claim handlers can not allow themselves to get caught up
in the cumulative numbers or fall into the trap of thinking of
their open claims as just a stack of files. They must see
each claim for the individual trauma that it is. Each claim

represents an event where something has gone wrong in an

insured’s life. It could be damage to a car. There might
have been wind or fire damage to her home. It might have
involved an event that interrupted the normal course of his
business, thereby affecting only the insured or the insured’s
employees.

It does not matter if the claim is large or small. [t is impor-
tant to the insured, which makes it important to the State
Auto claims person.

State Auto’s commitment to providing excellent claims ser-
vice is not new to the company. In establishing the compa-
ny, founder Bob Pein made a promise of providing “prompt
and satisfactory service in the settlement of all claims” The
State Auto claims person of 2003 fully understands this tra-
dition and is dedicated to its preservation and improvement.

Working through independent agents as we do, it often
happens that the first State Auto employee an insured
meets is the claims person. When they meet, something
unfortunate has happened to the insured. Many times, the
loss is the first claim the insured has ever experienced. This
first contact is very important. We want the first impression

to be one of a competent, caring person who is there to help

the insured return to that condition or state prior to the loss.
We want to let the insured know what is and is not going to
happen as the claim progresses.

State Auto’s service to its policyholders does not stop
there. We work with them at every step using our back-
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Claims Contact Center in Columbus, Ohio

ground and expertise to make a bad situation as bearable
as we can, often turning it into a positive experience.

it is one thing for us to talk about how well we do our
jobs. It is more meaningful to let some of our customers
talk about our performance, as they often do in letters they
have written to and about our claims handlers.

From a Wisconsin insured: “I have never been in an acci-
dent and had no idea what to do. When | called State
Auto | was reassured. The claims handler was extremely
helpful. In less than one week, my car was fixed. He took
the time to explain every detail and for that | am eternally
grateful”

From a Kentucky insured: “Thank you for being so
quick, thorough and understanding. You gave us excel-
lent service during our claim. You took all the worry from
me and handled the situation very professionally and to
my satisfaction”

From a Wisconsin insured: “Although the situation of my
car accident was very frustrating, (the claims handler) has
been wonderfull | feel like | am being taken care of and
that my wellbeing is important to you. (She) has been so
friendly, prompt and effective. This may sound ‘cheesy’
but | am truly proud to have insurance through State
Auto.... | feel like a person, not a number. Thank you.”

From a Pennsylvania insured "(The claims handler) was
so very helpful during my claim ... in suggesting ways for
beginning clean-up, equipment recovery, names and num-
bers of cleaning companies, and the most important char-
acteristic of all, | could tell that | was not just another
insurance claim to him. | can not thank him enough”

Each of the over 227,000 claims that State Auto claims
people took care of during 2003 began with one person in
need and a team of people dedicated to solving that one
person’s problem. We like to think we came close to mak-
ing 227,000 people feel good about our company and our
claims handling.



Board of Directors

seated, from left: Richard K. Smith, retired partner, KPMG LLP; Urlin G, Harris, retired exscutive vice president and treasurer, State Auto Insurance Companies;
Robert H. Moone, president and CEQ, chairman of the board, S. Elaine Roberts, president and chief executive officer, Columbus Regional

Airpart Authority.

standing, from left: John R. Lowther, senior vice president, secretary and general counsel; David J. D’Antoni, senior vice president and group operating officer,
Ashland, Inc.; William J. Lhota, principal, Lhota Services, retired executive vice president, American Electric Power, Paul S. Williams, executive vice
president, chief legal officer and secretary, Cardinal Heafth, Inc.; Paul W. Huesman, consultant and retired president, Huesman-Schmid Insurance Agency, Inc.

Senior Officers

Robert H. Moone, 60
president and CEQ,
chairman of the board

Steven J. Johnston, 44
senior vice president,
treasurer and CFO

John R. Lowther, 53
senior vice president,
secretary and general counsel

Mark A. Blackburn, 52
senlor vice president

Terrence L. Bowshier, 51
vice president

James E. Duemey, 57
vice president and
investmant officer

William D. Hansen, 38

vice president

Steven R. Hazelbaker, 48
vice president

Terrence P. Higerd, 59
vice president

Noreen W. Johnson, 55
vice president

Robert A, Lett, 64
vice president

John B. Melvin, 54
vice president

Cynthia A. Powell, 43
vice president

Cathy B. Miley, 54

vice president

Richard L. Miley, 50
vice president

Paul E. Nordman, 46
vice president

John M. Petrucci, 45
vice president
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20

Copies of the omitted exhibits and schedules are also



UNLIIED SIATEDS OEVURIITIED AND EAVHAANGE CUNMMLIOO1UN
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

[x] Annual Report pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003
or
[] Transition Report pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission File Number 0-19289
STATE AUTO FINANCIAL CORPORATION

State of Incorporation: Ohio
I.R.S. Employer I.D. No.: 31-1324304

Address of Principal Executive Offices: 518 East Broad Street, Columbus, OH 43215-3976
Telephone: 614-464-5000

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act: None

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:
Common Shares, without par value: 39,711,913 shares were outstanding at March 5, 2004

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant
was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.
Yes _X_ No_ .

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained
herein, and will not be contained, to the best of Registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements
incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. X
Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act).

Yes _X No

As of June 30, 2003, the last business day of the Registrant’s most recently completed second fiscal quarter, the
aggregate market value (based on the closing sales price on that date) of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the
Registrant was $292,274,383.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
1. Portions of the Registrant's Proxy Statement relating to the annual meeting of shareholders to be held May 28,

2004 (the 2004 Proxy Statement”), which will be filed within 120 days of December 31, 2003, are incorporated
by reference into Part III of this Form 10-K.

21



STATE AUTO FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
(a majority-owned subsidiary of State Automobile Mutual Insurance Company)

IMPORTANT INFORMATION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

All statements, other than statements of historical facts, included in this Form 10-K of State Auto Financial
Corporation ("State Auto Financial” or “STFC") or incorporated herein by reference, including, without Ilimitation,
statements regarding State Auto Financial’s future financial position, business strategy, budgets, projected costs, goals
and plans and objectives of management for future operations, are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements generally can be identified by the use of
forward-looking terminology such as "may,” “will,” “expect,” “intend,” “estimate,” “anticipate,” “project,” “believe” or
“continue” or the negative thereof or variations thereon or similar terminology. Forward-looking statements speak only
as the date the statements were made. Although State Auto Financial believes that the expectations reflected in forward-
looking statements have a reasonable basis, it can give no assurance that these expectations will prove to be correct.
Forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual events or results to differ
materially from those expressed in or implied by the statements. For a discussion of the most significant risks and
uncertainties that could cause State Auto Financial’'s actual results to differ materially from those projected, see "Forward-
Looking Statements; Certain Factors Affecting Future Results” in Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” Except to the limited extent required by applicable law, State Auto
Financial undertakes no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events, or otherwise.,

PART I
ITEM 1. Business
(a) Generai Deveiopment of Business--

State Auto Financial is an insurance holding company formed in 1990 and headquartered in Columbus, Ohio.
STFC engages primarily in the property and casualty insurance business through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, State Auto
Property and Casualty Insurance Company (“State Auto P&C”), Milbank Insurance Company (“Milbank”), Farmers
Casualty Insurance Company (“Farmers”), State Auto Insurance Company of Ohio ("SA Ohio”), and State Auto National
Insurance Company ("SA Nationai”). Farmers owns 100% of the outstanding common shares of the property-casuaity
insurer, Mid-Plains Insurance Company (“Mid-Plains").

Approximately 66% of State Auto Financial’s outstanding common shares are owned by State Automobile Mutual
Insurance Company (“Mutuai”), an Ohio mutual property and casualty insurance company organized in 1921. Mutual
owns 100% of the outstanding common shares of property-casualty insurers, State Auto Florida Insurance Company ("SA
Florida”) and State Auto Insurance Company of Wisconsin ("SA Wisconsin”). Mutual is also the sole owner of Meridian
Insurance Group, Inc. ("MIGI”), an insurance holding company with two wholly-owned property and casualty insurance
subsidiaries: Meridian Security Insurance Company (“Meridian Security”) and Meridian Citizens Security Insurance
Company ("Meridian Citizens™). In 2001, Mutual merged with Meridian Mutual Insurance Company (“Meridian Mutual”),
with Mutual continuing as the surviving corporation, and in a substantially concurrent transaction Mutual acquired the
outstanding shares of MIGI. MIGI is also a party to an affiliation agreement with the property-casualty insurer, Meridian
Citizens Mutual Insurance Company (“Meridian Citizens Mutual”). Meridian Security, Meridian Citizens, and Meridian
Citizens Mutual are hereafter referred to collectively as the “MIGI Insurers,” and together with MIGI, they are hereafter
referred to collectively as the "MIGI Companies.”

Another wholly-owned subsidiary of STFC is Stateco Financial Services, Inc. ("Stateco”), which provides
investment management services to affiliated insurance companies. STFC also owns Strategic Insurance Software, Inc.
("S.1.5."), a developer and seller of insurance-related software. The limited liability company, 518 Property Management
and Leasing, LLC (“518 PML"), whose members are State Auto P&C and Stateco, owns and leases real and personal
property to affiliated companies. The results of operations of S.1.S. and 518 PML are not material to the total operations
of STFC.

22




STATE AUTO FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
(a majority-owned subsidiary of State Automobile Mutual Insurance Company)

State Auto Financial and its wholly owned subsidiaries, State Auto P&C, Milbank, Farmers, SA Ohio, SA National,
Mid-Plains, Stateco, S.1.S., and 518 PML, are collectively referred to as the "Company.”

State Auto P&C has participated in a quota share reinsurance pooling arrangement with Mutual since 1987 (the
“Pooling Arrangement”). The participants in the Pooling Arrangement currently are State Auto P&C, Mutual, Milbank, SA
Wisconsin, Farmers, SA Ohio, and SA Florida, collectively referred to hereafter as the “Pooled Companies.” State Auto
P&C, Milbank, Farmers and SA Ohio are collectively referred to hereafter as the “STFC Pooled Companies.” Effective
January 1, 2003, the pooling percentages were modified as follows: Mutual (18.3%), State Auto P&C (59%), Milbank
(17%), SA Wisconsin (1%), Farmers (3%), SA Ohio (1%) and becoming party to the agreement on this same date, SA
Florida (0.7%). See “Pooling Arrangement” in the “Narrative Description of Business.” The Pooled Companies, SA
National, Mid-Plains and the MIGI Insurers are collectively referred to as the “State Auto Group.”

. The insurers in the State Auto Group write a broad line of property and casualty insurance, including standard
personal and commercial automobile; nonstandard personal automobile; homeowners; commercial multi-peril; workers’
compensation; general liability and fire insurance through approximately 22,400 independent insurance agents associated
with approximately 3,400 agencies in 26 states and the District of Columbia. The State Auto Group’s insurance products
are marketed primarily in the central and eastern parts of the United States, excluding New York, New Jersey and the
New England States.

(b) Financial Information about Segments

The Company currently operates in three insurance segments. Prior to 2003, it operated in four segments: the
State Auto standard insurance segment, consisting of the business operations of the STFC Pooled Companies; the State
Auto nonstandard segment, consisting of the business operations of SA National and Mid-Plains; the Meridian standard
segment, consisting of the standard insurance business of the former Meridian Mutual, and the Meridian nonstandard
segment, consisting of the nonstandard business of the former Meridian Mutual. Effective January 1, 2003, the Meridian
nonstandard segment is included in the State Auto nonstandard segment as the results of this segment no longer meet
the quantitative thresholds for separate presentation as a reportable segment. Financial information about all these
segments is set forth in Note 15 to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Item 8 “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data.” Additional information regarding the Company’s insurance and non-insurance
segments is provided in “Narrative Description of Business.”

(c) Narrative Description of Business
Property and Casualty Insurance
Pooling Arrangement

The Pooled Companies are parties to an intercompany Pooling Arrangement under the Reinsurance Pooling
Agreement Amended and Restated as of January 1, 2000, as amended by the First, Second, Third and Fourth
Amendments (the “2000 Pooling Agreement”). The Pooling Arrangement covers all the property and casualty insurance
written by the parties, except voluntary assumed reinsurance written by Mutual and catastrophe inter-company
reinsurance written by State Auto P&C. Under the terms of the Pooling Arrangement, each of the STFC Pooled
Companies, SA Wisconsin and SA Florida cede premiums, losses and expenses on all of their business to Mutual; in turn,
Mutual cedes to each of the Pooled Subsidiaries, SA Wisconsin and SA Florida a specified portion of premiums, losses and
expenses and Mutual retains the balance (Mutual, SA Wisconsin and SA Florida are hereafter collectively referred to as
the “Mutual Pooled Companies.”).
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The following table sets forth a chronology of the participants and their participation percentage changes that
have occurred in the Pooling Arrangement since it became effective on January 1, 1987:

State SA SA SA
Year *¥** Mutual Auto P&C  Milbank Wisconsin Farmers Chio Florida
1987-1991 80% 20% N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
1992-1994 70 30 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
1995-1997 55 35 10* N/A N/A N/A N/A
1998 52 37 10** 1 N/A N/A N/A
1999 49 37 10 1 3 N/A N/A
2000-9/30/2001 46 39 10 1 3 1 N/A
10/1/2001-2002 19 59 17 1 3 1 N/A
2003 _ 18.3 59 17 1 3 1 0.7

* At this time Milbank was a wholly owned subsidiary of Mutual.
** In July 1998 Milbank became a wholly owned subsidiary of STFC.
**xTime period is for the year ended December 31, unless otherwise noted.

The following table sets forth a summary of the Pooling Arrangement participant percentages of STFC and
Mutual, aggregating their respective wholly-owned subsidiaries:

Yearx** STFC Pooled Companies Mutual Pooled Companies

1987-1991 20% 80%
1992-1994 30 70
1995-1997 35 65
1/1/1998-6/30/1998 37 63
7/1/1998-12/31/1998 47 53
1999 50 50
2000 - 9/30/2001 53. 47
10/1/2001-2003 80 20

***Time period is for the year ended December 31, unless otherwise noted.

With the June 2001 merger of Meridian Mutual into Mutual, all insurance business written by Meridian Mutual
legally became the business of Mutual and was included in the Pooling Arrangement effective July 1, 2001. The former
Meridian Mutual business has been monitored as a segment separate from the State Auto standard business. Over time,
the Meridian segment has decreased and will disappear as this segment is integrated over to the State Auto systems
platform. Indeed, after representing approximately 20% of the Pooled Companies’ earned premium in 2001, 15% in
2002 and 9% in 2003, the Meridian Standard segment will be included in the State Auto Standard segment beginning
with January 1, 2004. Likewise, the Meridian Nonstandard segment has been included in the State Auto Nonstandard
segment beginning January 1, 2003, due to the integration efforts of management and the fact the Meridian Nonstandard
segment no longer meets the quantitative thresholds for segment reporting. Both 2002 and 2001 have been revised to
reflect this change. See “Reportable Segments” in “Narrative Description of Business.”

Prior to 2001, the pooling percentages were reviewed by management at least annually, and more often if
deemed appropriate by management or the Board of Directors of each company, to determine whether any adjustments
should be made. As a result of the changes made to the pooling percentages in 2001, it is not management’s current
intention to recommend an adjustment to the Pooled Subsidiaries aggregate participation percentage in the foreseeable
future. Under revised procedures, management of each of the Pooled Companies would make recommendations to a
standing independent committee of the Board of each of Mutual and STFC. These independent committees would review
and evaluate such factors as they deem relevant and recommend any appropriate pooling change to the Boards of both
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e

Mutuai and STFC. See "Management Agreement” in the “Narrative Description of Business.” The Pooling Arrangement is
terminable by any party oh 90 days’ notice or by mutual agreement of the parties. None of the Pooled Companies
currently intends to terminate the Pooling Arrangement.

Under the terms of the Poocling Arrangement, all premiums, incurred losses, loss expenses and other underwriting
expenses are prorated among the companies party to the agreement on the basis of their participation in the pool. By
spreading the underwriting risk among each of the participants, the Pooling Arrangement is designed to produce more
uniform and stable underwriting results for each of the Pooled Companies than any one company would experience
individually. One effect of the Pooling Arrangement is to provide each participant with an identical mix of pooled property
and casualty insurance business on a net basis.

The 2000 Pooling Agreement contains a provision excluding catastrophic losses and loss adjustment expenses
incurred by the parties in the amount of $100 million in excess of $120 million, as well as the premium for such
exposures. State Auto P&C reinsures each insurer in the State Auto Group for this layer of reinsurance under a
Catastrophe Assumption Agreement. See "Reinsurance” in the “Narrative Description of Business.”

The direct business of the MIGI Insurers is not included in the Pooling Arrangement and to that extent is not
included in the insurance operations of the Company. If State Auto PRC were required to pay catastrophe losses of the
MIGI Insurers under the above referenced Catastrophe Assumption Agreement, those losses would impact the Company’s
results.

Non-Standard Auto Insurance

The Company writes non-standard auto insurance through SA National. See “Marketing” in “Narrative Description
of Business.” This business is not part of the Pooling Arrangement. See also “Reportable Segments” in “Narrative
Description of Business.”

Management Agreement

State Auto P&C's employees provide all organizational, operational and management functions for all insurance
affiliates within the State Auto Group through management and cost sharing agreements. For the performance of its
services under two of the management agreements, State Auto P&C is paid a quarterly management and operations
services fee based on formulas outlined in the agreements, to the extent specified performance standards are achieved.
Under the 2000 Midwest Management Agreement among State Auto P&C, Mutual and SA Wisconsin, SA Wisconsin pays
0.75% of direct written premium for management and operation services performed by employees of State Auto P&C.
Under the Management Services Agreement dated July 1, 2002, among State Auto P&C, MIGI and the MIGI Insurers (the
"MIGI Management Agreement™), each of the MIGI Companies pays State Auto P&C a management fee of 10% of all
State Auto P&C’'s employee-related costs in exchange for the services of those employees, in addition to reimbursing
State Auto P&C for the actual costs of such services. Mutual provides facilities for all the insurance affiliates under
management or cost sharing agreements. -

While there had been in place a fee under a management agreement between State Auto P&C and Mutual (the
"2000 Management Agreement”), as a result of the resolution of a disagreement with the Ohio Department of Insurance,
the fee aspect of that agreement was terminated, effective October 1, 2001, and that arrangement continues as a pure
cost sharing arrangement. As a result of the loss of the service fee under the 2000 Management Agreement,
substantially all of State Auto P&C’s insurance operations management fee was eliminated effective October 1, 2001.
Consequently, beginning with the first quarter 2002, the management and operations services segment was included in
the “other” category for segment reporting as the resuits of this segment no longer met the quantitative thresholds for
separate presentation as a reportable segment.

Each of the affiliated management and cost sharing agreements, except the MIGI Management Agreement, has a
ten-year term and automatically renews for an additional ten-year period unless sooner terminated in accordance with its
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terms. If the 2000 Management Agreement is terminated for any reason, the Company would have to locate facilities to
continue its operations, although the Company does not anticipate such termination.

.. Reportable Segments

See Note 15, Reportable Segments in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements and Item 7
“"Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

Marketing

In its 26 states of operation, the State Auto Group markets its products through approximately 22,400 insurance
agents associated with approximately 3,400 independent insurance agencies. None of the companies in the State Auto
Group has any contracts with managing general agencies.

SA National markets nonstandard products in 21 states exclusively through the Company's network of
independent agents. Mid-Plains writes nonstandard auto insurance in Iowa and Kansas through the agency network of
Farmers in those states. The Mid-Plains business is processed on SA National’s system, but SA National began in October
2003 to write all Mid-Plains renewals and all new nonstandard business in Iowa and Kansas. See “Nonstandard Auto
Insurance” in the “Narrative Description of Business.” ‘

Because independent insurance agents significantly influence which insurance company their customers select,
management views the Company’s independent insurance agents as its primary customers. Management strongly
supports the independent agency system and believes that maintenance of a strong agency system is essential for the
Company’s present and future success. As such, the Company continually develops programs and procedures to enhance
agency relationships, including the following: regular travel by senior management and branch office staff to meet with
agents, in person, in their home states; training opportunities; travel incentives; and an agent stock purchase plan.

The Company actively helps its agencies develop professional sales skills within their staff. The training programs
include both products and sales training in concentrated programs in the Company's home office. Further, the training
programs include disciplined follow-up and coaching for an extended time.

The Company has made continuing efforts to use technology to make it easier for its agents to do business with
the Company. The Company offers internet-based rating of certain products. In addition the Company provides its
agents with the opportunity to maintain policyholder records electronically, avoiding the expense of preparing and storing
paper records. Software developed by S.1.S. also enhances the ability of the Company and its agents to take advantage
of electronic data submission. The Company believes that, since agents and their customers realize better service and
efficiencies through automation, they value their relationship with the Company. Automation can make it easier for the
agent to do business with the Company, which attracts prospective agents and enhances the existing agencies’
relationship with the Company.

The Company shares the cost of approved advertising with selected agencies. The Company provides agents
with certain travel and cash incentives if they achieve certain sales and underwriting profit levels. Further, the Company
recognizes its very top agencies as Inner Circle Agencies. Inner Circle Agencies are rewarded with additional trip and
financial incentives, including additional profit sharing bonus and additional contributions to their Inner Circle Agent Stock
Purchase Plan, a part of the Agent Stock Purchase Plan described below.

To strengthen agency commitment to producing profitable business and further develop its agency relationships,
the Company’s Agent Stock Purchase Plan offers its agents the opportunity to use commission income to purchase the
Company’s stock. The Company’s transfer agent administers the plan using commission dollars assigned by the agents to
purchase shares on the open market through a broker. The Company also makes available to certain top performing
agents the opportunity to vest grants of options in the Company’s common shares (without par value) provided the
participants meet performance targets described in the Agent Stock Option Plan.
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The Company receives premiums on products marketed in Alabama, Arkansas, District of Columbia, Florida,
Georgia, Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, Kansas, Kentucky, Maryland, Michigan, Minnesota, Mississippi, Missouri, North Carolina,
North Dakota, Ohio, Oklahoma, Pennsylvania, South Carolina, South Dakota, Tennessee, Utah, Virginia, West Virginia and
Wisconsin. During 2003, the seven states that contributed the greatest percentage of the Company’s direct premiums
written were: Ohio (18.6%), Kentucky (11.9%), Tennessee (6.7%), Minnesota (6.4%), Indiana (5.3%), Pennsylvania
(5.1%), and South Carolina (4.1%).

Claims

Insurance claims on policies written by the Company are usually investigated and settled by staff claims adjusters.
The Company's claims division emphasizes timely investigation of claims, settiement of meritorious claims for equitable
amounts, maintenance of adequate reserves for claims, and control of external claims adjustment expenses. Achievement
of these goals supports the Company's marketing efforts by providing agents and policyholders with prompt and effective
service.

Claim settlement authority levels are established for each adjuster, supervisor and manager based on his or her
level of expertise and experience. The claims division is responsible for reviewing the claim, obtaining necessary
documentation and establishing loss and expense reserves of certain claims. Generally, property or casualty claims
estimated to reach $100,000 or above are sent to the home office to be supervised by claims division specialists.
Branches with small volumes of large claims report claims to the home office at a lower dollar threshold. In territories in
which there is not sufficient volume to justify having full-time adjusters, the Company uses independent appraisers and
adjusters to evaluate and settle claims under the supervision of claims division personnel.

The Company attempts to minimize claims costs by settling as many claims as possible through its internal claims
staff and, if possible, by settling disputes regarding automobile physical damage and property insurance claims (first party
claims) through arbitration. In addition, selected agents have authority to settle small first party claims, which improves
claims service.

Claim representatives use third party, proprietary bodily injury evaluation software to help them value bodily
injury claims, except for the most severe injury cases. This software continues to be a valuable tool for the Company.
The Claims Contact Centers allow the Company to improve claims efficiency and economy by concentrating the handling
of smalier, less complex claims in a centralized environment. The Company provides 24 hour, seven days a week claim
service through associates in the Claims Contact Centers, which are located in Des Moines, Iowa and Columbus, Chio.

Reserves

Loss reserves are management’s best estimates at a given point in time of what the Company expects to pay to
claimants, based on facts, circumstances and historical trends then known. During the loss settlement period, additional
facts regarding individual claims may become known, and consequently it often becomes necessary to refine and adjust
the estimates of liability. The Company’s results of operations and financial condition could be impacted, perhaps
significantly, in the future if the ultimate payments required to settle claims vary from the liability currently recorded.

The Company maintains reserves for the eventual payment of losses and-loss expenses for both reported claims
and incurred claims that have not yet been reported. Loss expense reserves are intended to cover the ultimate costs of
settling all losses, including investigation, litigation and in-house claims processing costs from such losses.

Reserves for reported losses are initially established on either a case-by-case or formula basis depending on the
type and circumstances of the loss. The case-by-case reserve amounts are determined based on the Company's reserving
practices, which take into account the type of risk, the circumstances surrounding each claim and policy provisions relating
to types of loss. The formula reserves are based on historical paid loss data for similar claims with provisions for trend
changes caused by inflation. Loss and loss expense reserves for incurred claims that have not yet been reported are
estimated based on many variables including historical and statistical information, inflation, legal developments, storm loss
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estimates, and economic conditions. Case and formula basis loss reserves are reviewed on a regular basis. As new data
becomes available, estimates are updated resulting in adjustments to loss reserves, Generally, reported losses initially
reserved on a formula basis which have not settled after six months, are case reserved at that time. Although
management uses many resources to calculate reserves, there is no precise method for determining the ultimate liability.
The Company does not discount loss reserves for financial statement purposes. Additional information regarding the
Company’s reserves is included in Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and Analysis” in the Losses and Loss Expenses
Payable section included therein.

Mutual has guaranteed the adequacy of State Auto P&C's loss and loss expense reserves as of December 31,
1990. Pursuant to the guarantee, Mutual has agreed to reimburse State Auto P&C for any losses and loss expenses in
excess of State Auto P&C's December 31, 1990 reserves ($65.5 million) that may develop from claims that have occurred
on or prior to that date. This guarantee ensures that any deficiency in the reserves of State Auto P&C as of December
31, 1990, under the Pooling Arrangement percentages effective on December 31, 1990 will be reimbursed by Mutual. As
of December 31, 2003, there has been no adverse development of these reserves. In the event Mutual becomes
financially impaired, and subject to regulatory restrictions, it may be unable to make any such reimbursement.

The following table presents one-year development information on changes in the reserve for loss and loss
expenses of the Company for the three years ended December 31, 2003:

Year Ended December 31
2003 2002 2001
(in thousands)
Beginning of Year:

Loss and loss expenses payable $600,958 523,860 244,583
Less: Reinsurance recoverable on losses and loss
expenses payable! 8,825 13,919 7.930

Net losses and loss expenses payable® 592,133 509,941 236,653
Provision for losses and loss »
expenses occurring:

Current year 653,010 641,060 366,348
Prior years® (1,787) 12,414 60,726
Total 651,223 653,474 427,074

Loss and loss expense payments
for claims occurring during:

Current year 370,731 349,733 240,508
Prior years _ 243,842 221,549 144,862
Total 614,573 572,282 385,370
Impact of the addition of the former Meridian Mutual
business to the Pooling Arrangement, effective 7/1/01 - - 75,575
Impact of pooling change effective 10/1/01 - - 156,009
End of Year:
Net losses and loss expenses payable®® 628,783 592,133 509,941
Add: Reinsurance recoverable on losses and loss
expenses payable® 14,236 8,825 13,919
Losses and loss expenses payable $643,019 600,958 523,860
o Includes amounts due from affiliates of $4,286, $8,867, and $2,111, respectively.
@ Includes net amounts assumed from affiliates of $303,959, $280,011 and $10,126, respectively.
&) This line item shows increases (decreases) in the current calendar year in the provision for losses and loss

expenses attributable to claims occurring in prior years. The decrease of $1.8 million in 2003 and the increase of
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$12.4 million in 2002 for claims occurring in prior years is well within normal expectations for reserve
development and claim settlement uncertainty. The increase of $60,726 in 2001 for claims occurring in prior
years is primarily the result of reserve strengthening on the former Meridian Mutual business in order to bring
these claim reserves in line with historic State Auto adequacy levels as well as ongoing analysis of recent loss
development trends.

@ Includes amounts due from affiliates of $5,706, $4,286, and $8,867, respectively.

) Includes net amounts assumed from affiliates of $303,894, $303,959, and $280,011, respectively.

The following table sets forth the development of reserves for losses and loss expenses from 1993 through 2003
for the Company. "Net liability for losses and loss expenses payable” sets forth the estimated liability for unpaid losses
and loss expenses recorded at the balance sheet date, net of reinsurance recoverables, for each of the indicated years.
This liability represents the estimated amount of losses and loss expenses for claims arising in the current and ail prior
years that are unpaid at the balance sheet date, including losses incurred but not reported to the Company.

The lower portion of the table shows the re-estimated amounts of the previously reported reserve based on
experience as of the end of each succeeding year. The estimate is increased or decreased as more information becomes
known about the claims incurred.

The upper section of the table shows the cumulative amounts paid with respect to the previously reported
reserve as of the end of each succeeding year. For example, through December 31, 2003, the Company had paid 70.6%
of the currently estimated losses and loss expenses that had been incurred, but not paid, as of December 31, 2003.

The amounts on the "cumulative redundancy (deficiency)" line represent the aggregate change in the estimates
over all prior years. For example, the 1993 reserve has developed a $14.9 million redundancy through December 31,
2003. That amount has been included in operations over the ten years and did not have a significant effect on income of
any one year. The effects on income caused by changes in estimates of the reserves for losses and loss expenses for the
most recent three years are shown in the foregoing three-year loss development table.

In evaluating the information in the table, it should be noted that each amount includes the effects of all changes
in amounts for prior periods. For example, the amount of the redundancy related to losses settled in 1996, but incurred
in 1993, will be included in the cumulative redundancy amount for years 1993, 1994 and 1995. The table does not
present accident or policy year development data, which readers may be more accustomed to analyzing. Conditions and
trends that have affected the development of the liability in the past may not necessarily occur in the future.
Accordingly, it may not be appropriate to extrapolate future redundancies or deficiencies based on this table.

In 1995, 1998, 1999, 2000 and 2001, the Poocling Arrangement was amended to increase the Company’s share of
premiums, losses and expenses.  An amount of assets equal to the increase in net liabilities was transferred to the
Company from Mutual in 1995, 1998, 1999, 2000 and 2001 in conjunction with each year's respective pooling change.
The amount of the assets transferred from Mutual in 1995, 1998, 1999, 2000 and 2001 has been netted against and has
reduced the cumulative amounts paid for years prior to 1995, 1998, 1999, 2000 and 2001, respectively.

[See table on following page.]
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STATE AUTO FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
(a majority-owned subsidiary of State Automobile Mutual Insurance Company)

The following table is a reconciliation as of each December 31 of losses and loss expenses payable, computed
under generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP"), to losses and loss expenses payable, computed under statutory
accounting principles used by insurance companies for reporting to state insurance regulators ("STAT"):

2003 2002 2001
(in thousands)
GAAP losses and loss

expenses payable $643,019 600,958 - 523,860
Less: ceded reinsurance recoverable
on losses and loss expenses payable 14,236 8,825 13,919
Net losses and loss expenses payable 628,783 592,133 509,941
Add: salvage and subrogation
recoverable® - 27,093 26,216
STAT losses and loss
expenses $628,783 619,226 536,157
W Effective January 1, 2003, the loss reserving process for statutory reporting began anticipating salvage and

subrogation recoverable.

Reinsurance

Members of the State Auto Group follow the customary industry practice of reinsuring a portion of their
exposures and paying to the reinsurers a portion of the premiums received. Insurance is ceded principally to reduce net
liability on individual risks or for individual loss occurrences, including catastrophic losses. Although reinsurance does not
legally discharge the individual members of the State Auto Group from primary liability for the full amount of limits
applicable under their policies, it does make the assuming reinsurer liable to the extent of the reinsurance ceded.

Each member of the State Auto Group is party to working reinsurance treaties for property, casualty and workers
compensation lines with several reinsurers arranged through a reinsurance broker. Under the property per risk excess of
loss treaty, each member is responsible for the first $2.0 million of each defined loss, and the reinsurers are responsible
for 100% of the excess over $2.0 million up to $10 million of defined loss, depending upon the nature of the injury or
damage. The rates for this reinsurance are negotiated annually.

The terms of the casualty excess of loss program provide that each company in the State Auto Group is
responsible for the first $2.0 million of a covered loss. The reinsurers are responsible for 100% of the excess over $2.0
million up to $5.0 million of covered loss. Also, certain unusual claim situations involving bodily injury liability, property
damage, uninsured motorists and personal injury protection are covered by an arrangement that provides for $10.0
million of coverage in excess of a $5.0 million retention for each loss occurrence. This layer of reinsurance sits above the
$3.0 million excess of $2.0 million arrangement. The rates for this reinsurance are negotiated annually.

The terms of the workers compensation excess of loss program provide that each company in the State Auto
Group is responsible for the first $2.0 million of covered loss. The reinsurers are responsible for 100% of the excess over
$2.0 million up to $10.0 million of covered loss. Net retentions under this contract may be submitted to the casualty
excess of lgss program, subject to a limit of $2 million per loss occurrence. The rates for this reinsurance are negotiated
annually.

In addition, the State Auto Group has secured other reinsurance to limit the net cost of large loss events for
certain types of coverage. Included are umbrella liability losses which are reinsured up to a limit of $10.0 million above a
maximum $600,000 retention. The State Auto Group also makes use of facultative reinsurance for unique risk situations
and participates in involuntary pools and associations in certain states.
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The State Auto Group participates in an intercompany catastrophe reinsurance program. Under this program, the
members of the State Auto Group, on a combined basis, retain the first $40.0 million of catastrophe losses that affect at
least two individual risks. For catastrophe losses incurred by the State Auto Group up to $80.0 million, in excess of $40.0
million, traditional reinsurance coverage is provided with a co-participation of 5%. For catastrophe losses incurred by the
State Auto Group up to $100.0 million, in excess of $120.0 million, in exchange for a premium paid by each reinsured
company, State Auto P&C acts as the catastrophe reinsurer for the State Auto Group under the terms of an intercompany
catastrophe reinsurance agreement. There have been no losses assumed under this agreement.

To provide funding if the State Auto Group was to incur catastrophe losses in excess of $120.0 million, State Auto
Financial has continued a structured contingent financing transaction with a financial institution and a syndicate of other
lenders (the “Lenders™) to provide up to $100.0 million for reinsurance purposes. In the event of such a loss, this
arrangement provides that State Auto Financial would sell redeemable preferred shares to SAF Funding Corporation, a
special purpose company (“SPC”), which would borrow the money necessary for such purchase from the Lenders. State
Auto Financial would then contribute to State Auto P&C the funds received from the sale of its preferred shares, thereby
preserving the statutory surplus of State Auto P&C. State Auto P&C would use the contributed capital to pay its direct
catastrophe losses and losses assumed under the intercompany catastrophe reinsurance agreement. State Auto Financial
is obligated to repay SPC (which would repay the Lenders) by redeeming the preferred shares over a five-year period. In
the event of a default by State Auto Financial, the obligation to repay SPC has been secured by a Put Agreement among
State Auto Financial, Mutual and the Lenders, under which Mutual would be obligated to either purchase the preferred
shares from SPC or repay SPC for the loan(s) outstanding. This funding arrangement, if exercised, would have the
impact of adding up to $100.0 million of additional debt to the Company while providing needed cash to pay claims, while
at the same time preserving the investment portfolio of the Company in the short term.

SA National has a reinsurance agreement with Mutual pursuant to which Mutual assumes up to $4,950,000 of
each liability loss occurrence in excess of SA National's $50,000 of retention; and up to $450,000 of each catastrophe loss
occurrence in excess of SA National’s $50,000 of retention. Mutual further provides SA National with an 8.5% quota
share within the $50,000 retention on liability coverages, and a 20% quota share on physical damage coverages. Mid-
Plains aiso has a reinsurance agreement with Mutual pursuant to which Mutual assumes up to $450,000 of each liability
loss occurrence in excess of Mid-Plains” $50,000 of retention.

For the period October 1, 2001 through December 31, 2003, Mutual entered into a Stop Loss Reinsurance
Arrangement (the "Stop Loss”) with the STFC Pooled Companies. Under the Stop Loss, Mutual agreed to participate in
the Pooling Arrangement’s quarterly underwriting losses and gains, in the manner described. If the Pooling
Arrangement’s loss and LAE ratio (the “Pool loss and LAE ratio”) was between 70.75% and 80.00% (after the application
of all available reinsurance), Mutual reinsured the STFC Pooled Companies 27% of the Pooling Arrangement’s losses in
excess of a Pool loss and LAE ratio of 70.75% up to 80.00%. The STFC Pooled Companies were responsible for their
share of the Pooling Arrangement’s losses over the 80.00% threshold. Also, Mutuai had the right to participate in the
profits of the Pooling Arrangement. Mutual assumed 27% of the Pooling Arrangement’s underwriting profits attributable
to a Pool loss and LAE ratio less than 69.25%, but more than 59.99%. The Stop Loss expired at December 31, 2003.

See discussion regarding the federal Terrorism Risk Insurance Act of 2002 ("Terrorism Act”) at Regulation section
and Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and Analysis” in the Other External Factors section included therein.

Regulation

Most states, including all the domiciliary states of the State Auto Group, have enacted legislation that regulates
insurance holding company systems. Each insurance company in the holding company system is required to regiSter with
the insurance supervisory agency of its state of domicile and furnish information concerning the operations of companies
within the holding company system that may materially affect the operations, management or financial condition of the
insurers within the system. Pursuant to these laws, the respective insurance departments may examine any members of
the State Auto Group, at any time, require disclosure of material transactions involving insurer members of the holding
company system, and require prior notice and an opportunity to disapprove of certain "extraordinary" transactions,
including, but not limited to, extraordinary dividends to shareholders. Pursuant to these laws, all transactions within the
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holding company system affecting any members of the State Auto Group must be fair and equitable. In addition,
approval of the applicable Insurance Commissioner is required prior to the consummation of transactions affecting the
control of an insurer. The insurance laws of all the domiciliary states of the State Auto Group provide that no person may
acquire direct or indirect control of a domestic insurer without obtaining the prior written approval of the state insurance
commissioner for such acquisition.

In addition to being regulated by the insurance department of its state of domicile, each insurance company is
subject to supervision and regulation in the states in which it transacts business. Such supervision and regulation relate
to numerous aspects of an insurance company's business operations and financial condition, The primary purpose of
such supervision and regulation is to ensure financial stability of insurance companies for the protection of policyholders.
The laws of the various states establish insurance departments with broad regulatory powers relative to granting and
revoking licenses to transact business, regulating trade practices, licensing agents, approving policy forms, setting
reserve requirements, determining the form and content of required statutory financial statements, prescribing the types
and amount of investments permitted and requiring minimum levels of statutory capital and surplus. Although premium
rate regulation varies among states and lines of insurance, such regulations generally require approval of the regulatory
authority prior to any changes in rates. In addition, all of the states in which the State Auto Group transacts business
have enacted laws which restrict these companies’ underwriting discretion. Examples of these laws include restrictions
on policy terminations, restrictions on agency terminations and laws requiring companies to accept any applicant for
automobile insurance. These laws may adversely affect the ability of the insurers in the State Auto Group to earn a profit
on their underwriting operations.

Insurance companies are required to file detailed annual reports with the supervisory agencies in each of the
states in which they do business, and their business and accounts are subject to examination by such agencies at any
time.

There can be no assurance that such regulatory requirements will not become more stringent in the future and
have an adverse effect on the operations of the State Auto Group.

Dividends. STFC's insurance subsidiaries generally are restricted by the insurance laws of their respective states
of domicile as to the amount of dividends they may pay to STFC without the prior approval of the respective state
regulatory authorities. Generally, the maximum dividend that may be paid by an insurance subsidiary during any year
without prior regulatory approval is limited to the greater of a stated percentage of that subsidiary’s statutory surplus as
of a certain date, or adjusted net income of the subsidiary, for the preceding year. Pursuant to these rules, a total of
$52.7 million is available for payment to State Auto Financial as a dividend from State Auto P&C, Milbank, Farmers, SA
Ohio and SA National during 2004 without prior approval from their domiciliary state insurance departments, under
current law,

Rate and Related Regulation. In general, the Company is not aware of the adoption of any adverse legislation or
regulation by any state where the Company did business during 2003 which would present material obstacles to the
Company's overall business. However, several states where the Company does business have passed or are considering
more strict regulation of the use of credit scoring in rating and/or risk selection in personal lines of business. Similarly,
several states are considering restricting insurers’ rights to use loss history information maintained in various data bases
by insurance support organizations. These tools help the Company price its products more fairly and enhance its ability
to compete for business that it believes will be profitable. Such regulations would limit the ability of the Company, as
well as the ability of all other insurance carriers operating in any affected jurisdiction, to take advantage of these tools.

In an attempt to make capital and surplus requirements more accurately reflect the underwriting risk of different
lines of insurance as well as investment risks that attend insurers’ operations, the National Association of Insurance
Commissioners ("NAIC") annually tests insurers’ risk-based capital requirements. As of December 31, 2003, each insurer
affiliated with the Company surpassed all standards tested by the formula applying risk-based capital requirements.

The property and casualty insurance industry is also affected by court decisions. Premium rates are actuarially
determined to enable an insurance company to generate an underwriting profit. These rates contemplate a certain level
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of risk. The courts may modify, in a number of ways, the level of risk which insurers had expected to assume including
eliminating exclusions, expanding the terms of the contract, multiplying limits of coverage, creating rights for
policyholders not intended to be included in the contract and interpreting applicable statutes expansively to create
obligations on insurers not originally considered when the statute was passed. Courts have also undone legal reforms
passed by legislatures, which reforms were intended to reduce a litigant’s rights of action or amounts recoverable and so
reduce the costs borne by the insurance mechanism. These court decisions can adversely affect an insurer's profitability.
They also create pressure on rates charged for coverages adversely affected, and this can cause a legislative response
resulting in rate suppression that can adversely affect an insurer.

The Terrorism Act requires the federal government and the insurance industry to share in insured losses up to
$100 billion per year resulting from future terrorist attacks within the United States. Under the Terrorism Act, commercial
property and casualty insurers must offer their commercial policyholders coverage against certified acts of terrorism, but
the policyholders may choose to reject this coverage. If the policyholder rejects coverage for certified acts of terrorism,
the Company intends, subject to the approval of the state regulators, to cover only such acts of terrorism that are not
certified acts under the Terrorism Act and that do not arise out of nuclear, biological or chemical agents.

The impact of Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 on the Company and its corporate governance is continuing to be felt,
as the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC”) implements regulatory changes to meet the obligations imposed
on it by the Congress. Certain deadlines have been extended by the SEC which may mitigate the cost of compliance to a
limited extent. In addition to complying with SEC and Congressional mandates, STFC also has to comply with new listing
standards set forth in the Marketplace Rules of The NASDAQ Stock Market, Inc. ("NASDAQ™) recently approved by SEC,
which will contribute to an increase in expenses.

Investments

The Company's investment portfolio is managed to provide growth of statutory surplus in order to facilitate
increased premium writings over the long term while maintaining the ability to service current insurance operations. The
primary objectives are to generate income, preserve capital and maintain liquidity. The Company's investment portfolio is
managed separately from that of Mutual and its subsidiaries, and investment results are not shared by each of the Pooled
Companies through the Pooling Arrangement. Stateco performs investment management services for the Company and
Mutual and its subsidiaries, although investment policies implemented by Stateco continue to be set for each company
through the Investment Committee of its Board of Directors.

The Company's decision to make a specific investment is influenced primarily by the following factors: (a)
investment risks; (b) general market conditions; (c) relative valuations of investment vehicles; (d) general market interest
rates; (e) the Company's liquidity requirements at any given time; and (f) the Company's current federal income tax
position and relative spread between after tax yields on tax-exempt and taxable fixed income investments. The Company
has investment policy guidelines with respect to purchasing fixed income investments which preclude investments in
bonds that are rated below investment grade by a recognized rating service. The maximum investment in any single
note or bond is limited to 5.0% of assets, other than obligations of the U.S. government or government agencies, for
which there is no limit. Investments in equity securities are selected based on their potential for appreciation as well as
ability to continue paying dividends. See discussion regarding Market Risk included in Part II - Item 7 “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

Strategies as to specific investments can change depending on the Company’s current federal tax position,
market interest rates and general market conditions. The Company’s fixed maturity investments are classified as
available for sale and carried at fair market value, according to the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS)
No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities.” Fixed maturities classified as available for
sale, totaled $1,421.4 million and $1,216.7 million at December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002, respectively.

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, the Company’s equity portfolio is classified as available for sale and
carried at fair market value that totaled $139.3 million and $53.7 million, respectively. '
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The table below provides information about the quality and the scope of the Company's fixed maturity portfolio
as of December 31, 2003:

Fair Market Value

(/n thousands) % _of Portfolio Quality* Amortized Cost Fair Market Value
Investment Grade —

Corporates and Municipals 58.2% AA+ $ 775,105 $ 827,715
U.S. Governments 2.2% AAA $ 29,156 $ 30,848
U.S. Government Agencies 39.6% AAA $ 555,316 $ 562,849

100.0% $1,359,577 $1,421,412

*As rated by Moody’s Investors Service

The following table sets forth the Company's investment results for the periods indicated:

Year ended December 31

(in thousands) 2003 2002 2001

Average Invested Assets (V' $1,391,884 $1,210,641 $870,864
Net Investment Income $64,625 $59,691 $47,375
Average Yield 4.6% 4.9% 5.4%

M Average of the aggregate invested assets at the beginning and end of each period, including interim quarter

ends. Invested assets include fixed maturities at amortized cost, equity securities at cost, other invested assets
at cost and cash equivalents.

Net investment income is net of investment expenses and does not include realized or unrealized investment
gains or losses or provision for income taxes.

@

For additional discussion regarding the Company’s investments, see Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

Competition

The property and casualty insurance industry is highly competitive. The Company competes with numerous
insurance companies, many of which are substantialiy larger and have considerably greater financial resources. In
addition, because the Company's products are marketed exclusively through independent insurance agencies, most of
which represent more than one company, the Company faces competition within each agency. See "Marketing" in the
“Narrative Description of Business.” The Company competes through underwriting criteria, appropriate pricing, quality
service to the policyholder and the agent, and a fully developed agency relations program.

Employees
As of March 5, 2004, the Company had 2,060 employees. Employees of the Company are not covered by any

collective bargaining agreement. Management of the Company considers its relationship with its employees to be
excellent.
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Available Information

STFC's internet website address is www.stfc.com. Through this internet website (found under the “SEC Filings”
link), STFC makes available, free of charge, its Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current
Reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”), as soon as reasonably practicable after STFC electronically files
such material with the SEC. Also available on its website is information pertaining to the Company’s corporate
governance, including amended and restated charters of each board of directors standing committee, amended and
restated corporate governance guidelines and the Company’s Amended and Restated Code of Business Conduct. For a
free copy of the Form 10-K, write to Terrence L. Bowshier, Vice President, State Auto Financial Corporation, 518 East
Broad Street, Columbus, Ohio 43215.

Any of the materials the Company files with the SEC may also be read and copied at the SEC's Public Reference
Room at 450 Fifth Street, NW, Washington, DC 20549. Information on the operation of the SEC's Public Reference Room
may be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maintains a website that contains reports, proxy and
information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at
http://www.sec.gov.

Tender Offer by Minority Shareholder

On August 20, 2003, Gregory M. Shepard, who owns approximately 5.1% of STFC's outstanding common shares,
and his wholly owned corporation filed a Schedule TO with the SEC relating to a proposed tender offer to purchase 8.0
million of STFC's outstanding common shares at a price of $32.00 per share, subject to certain conditions (the “Shepard
tender offer”). The Shepard tender offer was commenced on September 11, 2003, has been extended three times and
currently is scheduled to expire at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on April 9, 2004, unless further extended by Mr.
Shepard. On September 1, 2003, STFC's Board of Directors and a special committee of its independent directors were
informed that State Auto Mutual’s Board of Directors, based on the unanimous recommendation of a special committee of
its independent directors, had unanimously determined to: (1) oppose and reject the Shepard tender offer because it is
not in the best interests of State Auto Mutual, its policyholders and its other constituencies; (2) decline and refuse to turn
over control of State Auto Mutual and its affiliates, including STFC, to Mr. Shepard because the transfer of such control
would not be in the best interests of State Auto Mutual, its policyholders, and its other constituencies; (3) decline and
refuse to provide financing to Mr. Shepard or his company (Mr. Shepard and his company intend to have State Auto
Mutual borrow at least $256 million through the issuance of surplus notes to finance the Shepard tender offer); and
(4) vote State Auto Mutual's common shares of STFC against approval of the Shepard tender offer if submitted to a vote
of STFC's shareholders. On September 1, 2003, STFC's Board of Directors and a special committee of its independent
directors met and each unanimously determined that the Shepard tender offer was impossible to complete because
certain essential conditions of the tender offer could not be met and that the Shepard tender offer is illusory. STFC's
Board of Directors has unanimously recommended to STFC’s shareholders that they reject the Shepard tender offer and
not tender their shares to Mr. Shepard or his company pursuant to the Shepard tender offer. The foregoing discussion of
the Shepard tender offer is not intended to be complete. For complete information concerning the Shepard tender offer
and its terms and conditions, persons should read the Schedule TO, as amended, filed by Mr. Shepard and his company
with the SEC, which is available at no charge on the SEC’s website at http://www.sec.gov. Persons may also obtain at no
charge the STFC Board's recommendation statement on Schedule 14D-9, as amended, at the SEC's website described
above. The information contained in the Schedule TO and the information contained in the Schedule 14D-9 are not a part of this
Form 10-K.
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Executive Officers of the Registrant

Name of Executive Officer and  Age! Principal Occupation(s) An Executive Officer
Position(s) with Company During the Past Five Years of the Company Since @
Robert H. Moone, 60 Chairman of the Board of STFC and Mutual, 1/1/01 1991
Chairman, President and to present; Chief Executive Officer of STFC and
Chief Executive Officer Mutual, 5/99 to present; President of STFC and
Mutual, 5/96 to present; Executive Vice President, i
11/93 to 5/96 and prior thereto Vice President of
STFC and Mutual
Mark A. Blackburn, 52  Senior Vice President of STFC and Mutual, 3/01 to 1999
Senior Vice President present; Vice President of STFC and Mutual, 8/99 to
3/01; Executive Vice President of Grange Mutual
Casualty Insurance Company, 4/96 to 4/99; and for
more than five years prior thereto, Vice President of
General Reinsurance Corporation
Steven J. Johnston, 44  Senior Vice President of STFC and Mutual, 8/99 to 1994
Senior Vice President, present; Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer of
Treasurer and Chief STFC and Mutual, 4/97 to present; Vice President of
Financial Officer STFC and Mutual, 5/95 to 8/99
John R. Lowther, 53  Senior Vice President of STFC and Mutual, 3/01 to 1991
Senior Vice President, present; Secretary and General Counsel of STFC,
Secretary and 5/91 to present and of Mutual 8/89 to present; Vice
General Counsel President of STFC, 5/91 to 3/01 and of Mutual 8/89
to 3/01
Terrence L. Bowshier, 51  Vice President of STFC and Mutual, 5/91 to present 1991
Vice President
James E. Duemey, 57  Vice President and Investment Officer of STFC and 1991
Vice President Mutual, 5/91 to present
and Investment Officer
William D. Hansen, 37 Vice President of Mutual, 3/00 to present; Vice 2000
Vice President President of STFC, 5/00 to present; Assistant Vice
President of Mutual, 5/95 to 3/00
Steven R. Hazelbaker, 48 Vice President of Mutual, 6/01 to present; Vice 2001
Vice President President of STFC, 6/01 to present; CFO and
Treasurer of MIGI and Meridian Mutual, 1994 to
6/01; Vice President of MIGI and Meridian Mutual,
1995 to 6/01
Noreen W. Johnson, 55  Vice President of STFC and Mutual, 3/98 to present; 1998

Vice President

Assistant Vice President of Mutual, 3/97 to 3/98;
employee of Mutual since 9/92
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Name of Executive Officer and  Age™ Principai Occupation(s) An Executive Officer
Position(s) with Company During the Past Five Years of the Company Since @
Robert A. Lett, 64 Vice President of STFC, 3/98 to present; Vice 1994
Vice President President of Mutual, 2/88 to present
John B. Melvin, 54 Vice President of STFC, 3/98 to present; Vice 1994
Vice President President of Mutual, 11/93 to present; and prior
thereto an officer of Mutual
Cathy B. Miley, ® 54 Vice President of STFC, 3/98 to present; Vice 1995
Vice President President of Mutual,” 3/95 to present; Assistant
Secretary of Mutual, 8/92 to 3/95
Richard L. Miley, 49 Vice President of STFC, 3/98 to present; Vice 1995
Vice President President of Mutual, 5/95 to present; Assistant Vice
President of Mutual, 8/87 to 5/95
Paul E. Nordman 46 Vice President of Mutual, 3/04 to present; Vice 2004
Vice President President of STFC, 3/04 to present; Assistant Vice
President of Mutual 7/95 to 3/04
John M. Petrucci, 45 Vice President of Mutual, 3/00 to present; Vice 2000
Vice President President of STFC, 5/00 to present; employee of
Mutual since 9/96
Cynthia A. Powell, 43  Vice President of Mutual, 3/00 to present; Assistant 2000
Vice President Vice President, 8/96 to 3/00; Vice President of STFC, -
5/00 to present; Assistant Vice President of STFC,
4/97 to 5/00; employee of Mutual since 6/90
O Age is as of March 15, 2004,
@ Each of the foregoing officers has been designated by the Company's Board of Directors as an executive officer

for purposes of Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

3 Richard L. Miley and Cathy B. Miley are husband and wife.

Item 2.

Properties

The Company shares its operating facilities with Mutual pursuant to the terms of the 2000 Management
Agreement. The Company’s corporate headquarters are located in Columbus, Ohio, in buildings owned by Mutual that
contain approximately 280,000 square feet of office space. The Company and Mutual also own or lease other office
facilities in numerous locations throughout the State Auto Group’s geographical areas of operation.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings
INSURANCE BUSINESS

The Company is a party to a number of lawsuits arising in the ordinary course of its insurance business.
Management of the Company believes that the ultimate resolution of these lawsuits will not, individually or in the
aggregate, have a material, adverse effect on the financial condition of the Company.

MINORITY SHAREHOLDER LITIGATION--OHIO

On June 30, 2003, STFC and Mutual filed a complaint against Gregory M. Shepard, who owns approximately 5.1%
of STFC’s outstanding common shares, in the United States District Court, Southern District of Ohio, Eastern Division,
seeking injunctive relief on a variety of claims, including enjoining Mr. Shepard from making material misrepresentations
and omissions in his Schedule 13D filings with the SEC and from violating federa! securities laws. The factual basis for this
suit related to a series of press releases and Schedule 13D filings made by Mr. Shepard regarding proposals or purported
offers to purchase certain amounts of STFC’s common shares and to take control of STFC and Mutual. On August 25,
2003, STFC and Mutual amended their original complaint against Mr. Shepard to seek injunctive relief on additional
claims, including enjoining Mr. Shepard from making material misrepresentations and omissions in connection with the
Shepard tender offer and from iliegally tipping persons with material, nonpublic information concerning the Shepard
tender offer. On October 16, 2003, STFC and Mutual dismissed, without prejudice, this action against Mr. Shepard in light
of the United States District Court's dismissal of Mr. Shepard's lawsuit against STFC, Mutual, and their respective
directors, discussed in the following paragraph.

On August 21, 2003, one day after Mr. Shepard and his company filed a Schedule TO with the SEC (see "Tender
Offer by Minority Shareholder" in Item 1 “Business”), they filed a complaint against STFC, Mutual, and their respective
directors in the United States District Court, Southern District of Ohio, Eastern Division, seeking (1) declaratory relief that
STFC's directors and Mutual and its directors violated their respective fiduciary duties to Mr. Shepard, his company, and
STFC's minority shareholders in their consideration of Mr. Shepard's prior proposals and were likely to engage in breaches
of their respective fiduciary duties in their consideration of the proposed Shepard tender offer (which tender offer was not
commenced until September 11, 2003) and (2) injunctive relief to enjoin STFC, Mutual, and their respective directors and
employees from taking actions which would have the effect of impeding or interfering with the Shepard tender offer. On
October 15, 2003, the United States District Court dismissed this action against STFC, Mutual, and their respective
directors based on a finding that the District Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction.

On October 16, 2003, STFC, Mutual, and their respective directors filed a complaint against Mr. Shepard and his
company in the Common Pleas Court of Franklin County, Ohio, seeking (1) declaratory relief that neither STFC, Mutual,
nor their respective directors and officers owed or violated any fiduciary duties to Mr. Shepard, his company, or STFC's
minority shareholders in responding to the Shepard tender offer; (2) declaratory relief that neither STFC nor its directors
and officers have an obligation to call a meeting of shareholders under Ohio's Control Share Acquisition statute with
respect to the Shepard tender offer; and (3) compensatory damages in favor of STFC and Mutual from Mr. Shepard and
his company for knowingly making misrepresentations in connection with their control bid in violation of Ohio's control bid
statute. On December 19, 2003, Mr. Shepard and his company filed an answer and counterclaim against STFC, Mutual,
and their respective directors. Their counterclaim seeks (1) a declaratory judgment requiring STFC to call a meeting of
shareholders under Ohio's Control Share Acquisition statue with respect to the Shepard tender offer; and (2) injunctive
relief to enjoin STFC, Mutual, and their respective directors and employees from taking actions that would have the effect
of impeding or interfering with the Shepard tender offer. On December 22, 2003, STFC and Mutual filed a motion to
expedite the trial on the declaratory judgment action. That motion was granted and the trial court has entered an order
fixing a trial date in this action for early June of 2004. As of March 5, 2004, the case is currently in its discovery phase.

MINORITY SHAREHOLDER LITIGATION--INDIANA

On July 27, 2001, Mr. Shepard and American Union Insurance Company("AUIC"), an Illinois insurance company
owned by Mr. Shepard and his brother, Tracy Shepard, filed a complaint against STFC, Mutual, MIGI, and MIGI's former
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directors in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Indiana. The factual basis for this suit arises from
the circumstances surrounding the merger of MIGI with and into a wholly owned subsidiary of Mutual (the "Merger"),
which was effective June 1, 2001. In their complaint, Mr. Shepard and AUIC allege claims of (1) breach of fiduciary duty
against the former MIGI directors for entering into the Merger; (2) breach of contract against STFC and Mutual with
respect to a confidentiality agreement, dated September 29, 2000, between STFC and AUIC; and (3) tortious interference
against MIGI and one of its former directors with respect to such confidentiality agreement. On December 3, 2003, the
Court granted the request of Mr. Shepard and AUIC to voluntarily dismiss the claims of breach of fiduciary duty and
tortious interference. Thus, the only remaining claim in this suit is for breach of the confidentiality agreement against
STFC and Mutual. Mr. Shepard and AUIC are seeking yet-to-be-disclosed compensatory damages in this suit. As of March
5, 2004, the suit continues in its discovery phase.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

Not applicable.

PART I1

Item 5. Market for the Registrant's Common Equity and Related Shareholder Matters
Stack Trading

Common shares are traded in the Nasdaq National Market System under the symbol STFC. As of March 5, 2004,
there were 902 shareholders of record of the Company’s common shares.

Market Price Range, Common Stock"

Initial Public Offering -- June 28, 1991, $2.25%, The high and low sale prices for each quarterly period for the
past two years as reported by Nasdaq are:

2003 High Low Dividend
First Quarter $17.75 $14.96 $0.035
Second Quatrter $24.24 $16.59 $0.035
Third Quarter $26.60 $21.45 $0.040
Fourth Quarter $26.90 $22.50 $0.040

2002
First Quarter $17.25 $13.70 $0.0325
Second Quarter $17.02 $14.33 $0.0325
Third Quarter $16.82 $14.50 $0.0350
Fourth Quarter $16.78 $12.67 $0.0350

) Adjusted for stock splits.

Additionally, see Liquidity and Capital Resources section of “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” included in Item 7 of this Form 10-K Annual Report for a discussion of regulatory
restrictions on the payment of dividends by the Company’s insurance subsidiaries.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The Selected Consolidated Financial Data is as follows:
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Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data

Year ended December 31

2003 2002 2001%* 2000* 1999* 1998* 1997 1996 1995* 1994

Statement of Income Data -~

GAAP Basis: (doflars and shares in milfions, except per share data)
Earned premiums $960.6 896.6 555.2 398.0 392.0 356.2 320.1 304.5 296.4 225.3
Net investment income $64.6 59.7 47.4 38.9 34.3 32.5 31.1 29.9 28.5 22.2
Total revenues $1,041.7 967.5 623.3 462.8 440.9 402.1 363.0 345.1 333.5 254.4
Net income $63.6 37.0- 20.6 47.7 42.8 37.5 41.0 26.4 29.9 15.8
Earned premium growth 7.1% 61.5 39.5 1.5 101 11.3 51 2.7 31.6 16.4
Return on average invested assets ‘¥ 4.6% 4.9 5.4 5.5 5.4 5.7 6.2 6.4 6.4 6.4
Balance Sheet Data —

GAAP Basis!
Total investments $1,570.3 1,272.3 1,138.7 750.9 627.3 580.0 526.4 499.3 479.9 350.6
Total assets $1,836.7 1,593.0 1,367.5 898.1 759.9 717.5 664.4  605.4 579.2 487.3
Total notes payable $161.2 75.5 45.5 45.5 45.5 - - - - -
Total stockholders’ equity $542.3 463.8 400.2 386.1 317.7 340.8 297.3 247.6 225.8 175.9
Common shares outstanding 39.6 39.0 38.9 38.6 38.3 42.0 41.8 41.4 41.2 40.9
Return on average equity 12.6% 8.6 5.2 13.6 13.0 11.8 15.0 11.0 14.9 9.0
Debt to stockholders’ equity 29.7% 16.3 11.4 11.8 14.3 - - - - -
Per Common Share Data —

GAAP Basis:
Basic EPS©X®) $1.62 0.95 0.53 1.24 1.05 0.89 0.99 0.64 0.73 0.39
Diluted EPS * $1.58 0.93 0.52 1.21 1.03 0.87 0.97 0.63 0.72 0.39
Cash dividends per share® $0.15 0.14 0.13 0.12 0.11 0.10 0.09 0.08 0.07 0.06
Book value per share(3) $1371 11.89 10.28 10.01 8.29 8.11 7.11 5.98 5.48 4.29
Common Share Price

High $26.90 17.25 17.80 18.00 13.88 20.00 16.25 9.25 8.75 5.00

Low $14.96 12.67 12.30 7.13 8.88 11.44 8.13 6.50 4.58 4.17

Close at December 31 $23.34 15.50 16.24 17.88 9.13 12.38 16.13 9.00 8.67 4,75
Close price to basic EPS 14.41x 16.32 30.64 14.41 8.70 13.91 16.29 14.06 11.88 12.18
Close price to book 1.70x 1.30 1.58 1.79 1.10 1.53 2.27 1.51 1.58 1.11
GAAP Ratios: ©*
Loss and LAE ratio 67.8 72.9 76.9 68.4 67.5 68.0 65.1 72.3 68.3 74.9
Expense ratio 30.4 29.5 30.1 30.0 28.5 29.3 29.5 28.2 29.5 28.4
Combined ratio 98.2 102.4 107.0 98.4 96.0 97.3 94.6 100.5 97.8 103.3
Statutory Ratios: ©
‘Loss and LAE ratio 67.9 73.1 77.4 68.5 67.4 68.4 65.2 72.7 68.6 74.5
Expense ratio 30.7 29.2 27.8 27.0 29.5 25.4 28.9 27.3 31.0 28.2
Combined ratio 98.6 102.3 105.2 95.5 96.9 97.8 94.1 100.0 99.6 102.7
Industry combined ratio® 101.1 107.4 1159 1104 108.1 106.0 101.6 105.8 106.4 108.4
Net premiums written to surplus®™ 1.9x 2.6 1.8 1.3 1.5 1.6 1.7 1.9 2.1 1.8

® Invested assets include investments and cash equivalents.

@ Net income less preferred share dividends, if any, divided by average common stockholders’ equity.

© Earnings per share (EPS) adjusted for 1998 2-for-1 and 1996 3-for-2 common stock split effected in the form of a stock dividend.

“ The earnings per share amounts prior to 1998 have been restated as required to comply with SFAS No, 128.

) GAAP ratios are computed using earned premiums for both the loss and LAE ratio and the expense ratio, and include the effect of
eliminations in consolidation. The statutory expense ratio is computed using net written premiums. The Company uses the statutory
combined ratio to compare its results to the industry statutory combined ratio as there is no industry GAAP combined ratio available.

© The industry combined ratios are from A.M. Best. The 2003 industry combined ratio is preliminary.

) The Company uses the statutory net premiums written to surplus ratio as there is no comparable GAAP measure. This ratio, also
called the leverage ratio, measures the Company’s statutory surplus available to absorb losses.

*  Reflects change in Pooling Arrangement, effective Qctober 1, 2001, January 1, 2000, 1999, 1998 and 1995.
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Oberations

Overview

State Auto Financial Corporation (“State Auto Financial” or “STFC”) and its wholly owned subsidiaries are
collectively referred to herein as the “Company.” The Company is a member of the State Auto Group, (defined below),
that writes personal and commercial insurance through approximately 22,400 independent insurance agents associated
with approximately 3,400 agencies in 26 states and the District of Columbia. The State Auto Group operates primarily in
the central and eastern United States, excluding New York, New Jersey, and the New England states. State Auto
Financial is a majority-owned subsidiary of State Automobile Mutual Insurance Company (“Mutual”), an Ohio domiciled
property and casualty insurer and member of the State Auto Group. Mutual is one of only 15 companies in the United
States that has received A.M, Best’s A+ or higher rating every year since 1954.

State Auto Financial provides personal and commercial insurance to the standard insurance market through the
following principal wholly owned insurance subsidiaries, collectively referred to as the "STFC Pooled Companies™

State Auto Property and Casualty Insurance Company (“State Auto P&C")
Milbank Insurance Company (“"Milbank™)

Farmers Casualty Insurance Company (“Farmers”) and

State Auto Insurance Company of Chio (“"SA Ohio”).

The STFC Pooled Companies’ principal lines of business include:

o Personal and commercial automobile . Workers’ compensation
. Homeowners , . General liability
) Commercial multi-peril . Fire

State Auto Financial also provides personal automobile insurance to the nonstandard insurance market through
the following principal wholly owned insurance subsidiaries:

o State Auto National Insurance Company (“SA National™} and
¢ Mid-Plains Insurance Company (“Mid-Plains™).

The companies below are collectively referred to as the “Affiliates.” Collectively, the Company and the Affiliates make up
the “State Auto Group.”

Mutual and its wholly owned subsidiaries:
e State Auto Insurance Company of Wisconsin ("SA Wisconsin™),
e State Auto Florida Insurance Company ("SA Florida™)
e Meridian Insurance Group, Inc. ("MIGI") and its wholly owned subsidiaries:
o Meridian Security Insurance Company (“Meridian Security”)
o Meridian Citizens Security Insurance Company (“Meridian Citizens”)
o Through an affiliation agreement with MIGI:
o Meridian Citizens Mutual Insurance Company (“Meridian Citizens Mutual”).

Meridian Security, Meridian Citizens and Meridian Citizens Mutual are collectively referred to herein as the
“Meridian Insurers.”

The STFC Pooled Companies participate in a quota share reinsurance pooling arrangement (the “Pooling
Arrangement”) with Mutual, SA Wisconsin and SA Florida (collectively the “Mutual Pooled Companies”). The Pooling
Arrangement provides that the STFC Pooled Companies and the Mutual Pooled Companies cede to Mutual all of their
insurance business and assume from Mutual an amount equal to their respective participation percentages as outlined in
the Pooling Arrangement.
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The following table sets forth a chronology of the participant and participant percentage changes that have
occurred in the Pooling Arrangement since January 1, 2001:

Pooled Companies

STFC Pooled Companies Mutual Pooled Companies
State SA Sub SA SA Sub

Year * Auto P&C  Milbank Farmers Ohio Total Mutual  Wisconsin Florida Total
1/1/2001-
9/30/2001 39 10 3 1 53 46 1 N/A 47
10/1/2001- 59 17 3 1 80 19 1 N/A 20
2002 ’
1/1/2003-2003 59 17 3 1 80 18.3 1 0.7 20

* Time period is for the year ended December 31, uniess otherwise noted.

On January 1, 2003, the Pooling Arrangement was amended to add SA Florida as a participant, but the
Company’s aggregate pooling participation percentage remained at 80%. Since SA Florida did not commence insurance
operations until after January 1, 2003, there was no impact on the Company’s books at January 1, 2003 relating to the
foregoing Pooling Arrangement amendment.

State Auto P&C provides employees to the Company and the Affiliates. This is contractually provided for under
the following management and/or cost sharing agreements: 1) the “2000 Management Agreement” effective January 1,
2000, to which State Auto P&C, Mutual, SA National, Milbank, and SA Ohio are parties. After October 1, 2001, the 2000
Management Agreement became a pure cost sharing agreement, but prior thereto, this agreement provided for a
management fee based on surplus which was paid by each managed company to State Auto P&C; 2) the “Midwest
Management Agreement” effective January 1, 2000 to which State Auto P&C, Mutual and SA Wisconsin are parties. This
agreement provides for a management fee based on a percentage of direct written premiums collected by the Company
for the services State Auto P&C provides; 3) the “"MIGI Management Agreement,” effective July 1, 2002, to which State
Auto P&C, Meridian Security, Meridian Citizens, and Meridian Citizens Mutual are parties. This agreement provides for a
management fee equal to a percentage of the allocable employee expenses attributable to the operations of these
companies paid to the Company for the services State Auto P&C provides. Each of the foregoing management or cost
sharing agreements also apportions among the parties the actual costs of the services provided. Effective January 1,
2002, all employees of MIGI became employees of State Auto P&C. In conjunction with this transaction, approximately
$3.6 million in net plan benefit liabilities were transferred from MIGI to State Auto P&C.

Wholly owned non-insurance subsidiaries (direct and indirect) of State Auto Financial include:

. St@teco Financial Services, Inc. ("Stateco”)
e Strategic Insurance Software, Inc. ("S.1.5.”)
¢ 518 Property Management and Leasing, LLC ("518 PML")

Stateco provides investment management services to the Company and Affiliates, which comprises the
Company’s investment management services segment. S.I.S. develops and sells software for the processing of insurance
transactions, database management systems for insurance agents and electronic interfacing of information between
insurance companies and agents. S.LS. sells its services and products to the Affiliates and their agents, and-S.1.S. also
markets similar services and products to nonaffiliated insurers and their agencies. 518 PML is engaged in the business of
owning and leasing real and personal property to the Affiliates. The members of 518 PML are State Auto P&C and
Stateco. The results of operations of S.1.S. and 518 PML are not material to the total operations of the Company.
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Significant Transactions Summary

The following is a summary of significant transactions that occurred during 2001 through 2003 that will assist in
the discussion of the Company’s current period financial results:

Effective June 1, 2001, Mutual merged with Meridian Mutual Insurance Company ("Meridian Mutual”), with Mutual
continuing as the surviving corporation, and acquired MIGL. Effective July 1, 2001, the insurance business of the former
Meridian Mutual became part of the Pooling Arrangement and the STFC Pooled Companies assumed 53% of the Meridian
Mutual business on this same date. Concurrent with this transaction, the STFC Pooled Companies received cash of $6.4
million and fixed maturities totaling $109.7 million, which related to the additional net insurance liabilities assumed by the
STFC Pooled Companies on July 1, 2001. The business of the former Meridian Mutual includes both standard and
nonstandard personal lines and standard commercial lines. The principal lines of business include standard personal and
commercial automobile, nonstandard personal automobile, homeowners, commercial multi-peril, workers” compensation,
general liability and fire insurance.

As the former Meridian Mutual standard and nonstandard business was written and processed through the
Meridian underwriting and claims system platform, management monitored this business as a separate segment from the
State Auto standard and nonstandard business. Monitoring of these segments separately was necessary in order to
facilitate the integration of the business as these new policies and renewals were converted to the State Auto systems
platform through which State Auto contract forms, pricing, underwriting, and claims philosophies were fully implemented.
With the addition of the former Meridian Mutual business to the Pooling Arrangement in 2001, the Company renamed the
two insurance segments that existed prior to 2001 to be the “State Auto standard segment” and the “State Auto
nonstandard segment” and the former Meridian Mutual business to be the “Meridian standard segment” and the
“Meridian nonstandard segment.” Due to the integration efforts by management, along with the Meridian nonstandard
segment no longer meeting the quantitative threshoids for segment reporting, beginning with the first quarter of 2003,
this segment’s business was included in the State Auto nonstandard segment. The 2002 and 2001 disclosures have been
revised to reflect this change. Likewise, the Meridian standard business, beginning with the first quarter of 2004, will be
included in the State Auto standard segment.

Effective October 1, 2001, the 2000 Management Agreement was amended to eliminate the management and
operations services fee charged by State Auto P&C to participants to the agreement, including Mutual. As a result of the
loss of this income, substantially all of State Auto P&C's management services income was eliminated at that time.
Consequently, beginning with the first quarter 2002, the "management and operations services” segment is included in
the “all other” category for segment reporting, as the results of this segment no longer meet the quantitative thresholds
for separate presentation as a reportable segment. See "Reportable Segments” included herein and footnote 15
regarding the Company’s operating segments in the consolidated financial statements of the Company.

The Pooling Arrangement was amended, effective October 1, 2001, such that the STFC Pooled Companies’
aggregate participation was increased from 53% to 80%. In conjunction with this change in pool participation, the STFC
Pooled Companies received cash of $2.2 million and fixed maturities totaling $236.3 million from Mutual, which related to
the additional net insurance liabilities assumed by the STFC Pooled Companies on October 1, 2001.

For the period October 1, 2001 through December 31, 2003, Mutual entered into a stop loss reinsurance
arrangement (the “Stop Loss”) with the STFC Pooled Companies. Under the Stop Loss, Mutuai agreed to participate in
the Pooling Arrangement’s quarterly underwriting losses and gains in the manner described. If the Pooling
Arrangement’s quarterly statutory loss and loss adjustment expense ratio (the “Pool loss and LAE ratio”) was between
70.75% and 80.00% (after the application of all available reinsurance), Mutual reinsured the STFC Pooled Companies
27% of the Pooling Arrangement’s losses in excess of a Pool loss and LAE ratio of 70.75% up to 80.00%. The STFC
Pooled Companies were responsible for their share of the Pooling Arrangement’s losses over the 80.00% threshold. Also,
Mutual had the right to participate in the profits of the Pooling Arrangement. Mutual assumed 27% of the Pooling
Arrangement’s underwriting profits attributable to Pool loss and LAE ratios less than 69.25%, but more than 59.99%.
The Stop Loss arrangement expired at December 31, 2003.
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On May 22, 2003, STFC Capital Trust I, State Auto Financial's Delaware business trust subsidiary (“Capital
Trust”), issued $15.0 million liquidation amount of its capital securities to a third party. In connection with the Capital
Trust's issuance of the capital securities and the related purchase by State Auto Financial of all of the Capital Trust's
common securities (liquidation amount of $464,000), State Auto Financial issued to the Capital Trust $15.5 million
aggregate principal amount of Floating Rate Junior Subordinated Debt Securities due 2033. On November 13, 2003 State
Auto Financial issued $100.0 million unsecured 6.25% senior notes. State Auto Financial used the proceeds from these
debt instruments to contribute additional paid in capital to its insurance subsidiaries as follows: $39.0 million to State
Auto P&C, $30.0 million to SA National and $15.0 million to Milbank. Milbank used the $15.0 million additional paid in
capital contribution to repay its $15.0 million surplus note with Meridian Security. State Auto Financial also used these
proceeds to repay $15.0 million of its bank debt and invested the remaining amount in fixed maturity and equity
securities.

Critical Accounting Policies

The Company’s significant accounting policies are more fully described in note 1 to the Company’s consolidated
financial statements. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the balance sheet, revenues and
expenses for the period then ended and the financial entries in the accompanying notes to the financial statements. Such
estimates and assumptions could change in the future, as more information becomes known which could impact the
amounts reported and disclosed therein.

Losses and loss expenses payable are management’s best estimates at a given point in time of what the
Company expects to pay claimants, based on known facts, circumstances and historical trends. Reserves for reported
losses are established on either a case-by-case or formula basis depending on the type and circumstances of the loss.
The case-by-case reserve amounts are determined based on the Company’s reserving practices, which take into account
the type of risk, the circumstances surrounding each claim and policy provisions relating to types of loss. The formula
reserves are based on historical data for similar claims with provision for trend changes caused by inflation. Loss and loss
expense reserves for incurred claims that have not yet been reported are estimated based on many variables including
historical and statistical information, inflation, legal developments, storm loss estimates, and economic conditions. Case
and formula basis loss reserves are reviewed on a regular basis and as new data becomes available, estimates are
updated resulting in adjustments to loss reserves. Generally, reported losses initially reserved on a formula basis and not
settled after six months, are case reserved at that time. Although management uses many resources to calculate
reserves, there is no method for determining the exact ultimate liability.

Acquisition costs, consisting of commissions, premium taxes, and certain underwriting expenses relating to the
production of property and casualty business, are deferred and amortized ratably over the contract period. The method
followed for computing the acquisition costs limits the amount of such deferred costs to their estimated realizable value.
In determining estimated realizable value, the computation gives effect to the premium to be earned, losses and loss
expenses to be incurred, and certain other costs expected to be incurred as premium is earned. These amounts are
based on estimates, and accordingly, the actual realizable value may vary from the estimated realizable value.

Pension and postretirement benefit obligations are long term in nature and require significant management
judgment in estimating the factors used to determine these amounts. Management, along with its defined benefit
consulting actuary, reviews these factors, including the discount rate and expected long term rate of return on plan assets
among other factors. Because these obligations are based upon significant management estimates which could change
given available information, the ultimate benefit obligation could be different than the amount estimated.
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Fixed maturity and equity security investments are classified as available for sale and carried at fair value. The
net unrealized holding gains or losses, net of applicable deferred taxes, are shown as a separate component of
stockholders’ equity as “accumulated other comprehensive income,” and as such are not included in the determination of
net income. Investment income is recognized when earned, and capital gains and losses are recognized when
investments are sold.

The Company regularly monitors its investment portfolio for declines in value that are other than temporary, an
assessment that requires significant management judgment. Among the factors management considers are the nature of
the investment, severity and length of decline in fair value, events impacting the issuer, and overall market conditions.
When a security in the Company’s investment portfolio has been determined to have a decline in fair value that is other
than temporary, the Company adjusts the cost basis of the security to fair value. This results in a charge to earnings as a
realized loss, which is not changed for subsequent recoveries in fair value. Future increases or decreases in fair value, if
not other than temporary, are included in other comprehensive income,

As part of the Company’s management of its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates, the Company entered into
interest rate swap agreements in connection with the issuance of its $100.0 million 6.25% senior notes. The interest rate
swap agreements are the only derivative contracts to which the Company is party and are accounted for in accordance
with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,
as amended. This Statement requires all derivatives to be recorded at fair value on the consolidated balance sheet.

At the time a derivative contract is entered into, the Company formally documents and designates the derivative
as either a hedge of the fair value of a recognized asset or liability (fair value hedge) or a hedge of a forecasted
transaction or the variability of cash flows to be received or paid related to a recognized asset or liability (cash flow
hedge). The Company does not have any derivative contracts hedging foreign currencies or derivative contracts held for
speculative purposes. The Company formally assesses, both at the hedge’s inception and on an ongoing basis, whether
the derivatives used for hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of
hedged items. When it is determined that a derivative is not highly effective as a hedge or that it has ceased to be a
highly effective hedge, the Company discontinues hedge accounting prospectively.

Changes in fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges, to the extent effective, are recorded in net
unrealized gains/losses on derivatives, a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income. Amounts are
reclassified to earnings from accumulated other comprehensive income when the underlying hedged item impacts
earnings. Changes in fair value of derivatives designated as fair value hedges are recorded currently in earnings which
are offset to the extent the derivative was affected by changes in fair value of the hedged item.

See a discussion of other factors that may have an impact on management’s best estimates at “Impact of
Significant External Factors” included herein.

Results of Operations

Summary

The following table summarizes for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 certain key performance
indicators used to manage the operations of the Company:
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December 31

(dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2001
GAAP Basis:

Total revenue $1,041,696 967,479 623,272
Net income $63,622 36,995 20,615
Stockholders’ equity $542,291 463,769 400,193
Loss and LAE ratio * 67.8 72.9 76.9
Expense ratio * 30.4 29.5 30.1
Combined ratio 98.2 102.4 107.0
Catastrophe loss and LAE points* 6.8 5.6 4.4
Premium earned growth 7.1% 61.5 39.5
Investment yield 4.6% 49 5.4
Statutory Basis:

Net premiums written to surplus** 1.9x 2.6 1.8

* defined below

** The Company uses the statutory net premiums written to surplus ratio because there is no
comparable GAAP measure. This ratio, also called the leverage ratio, measures the company’s
statutory surplus available to absorb losses.

During 2003, the Company attained record level net income while also incurring record level catastrophe losses.
The combined ratio improvements are the direct result of management’s obtaining adequate cost based rates across all
lines of business, re-underwriting the former Meridian Mutual business applying State Auto underwriting guidelines along
with terminating unprofitable Meridian programs. Management of the Company continues to focus on growing premiums
without compromising profitability. The Company’s investment yield has declined consistent with the decrease in long
term interest rates. The Company invests for yield while maintaining a conservative approach for principal preservation.
During 2003, the Company debt issuance, net of debt repayments, was $85.5 million. The net proceeds of debt were
used by State Auto Financial to contribute additional paid in capital to certain of its insurance subsidiaries to strengthen
the statutory surplus position for support of continued premium growth and for general corporate purposes. See below
for additional discussion of the Company’s operations.

2003 compared to 2002

Net income before federal income taxes for the Company increased $45.5 million (120.0%) to $83.3 million in
2003 from 2002. The most significant factors contributing to this increase were an improvement in the Company’s loss
experience from 2002 along with growth in earned premium. The Company’s GAAP loss and LAE ratio (defined below)
reflected a 5.1 point improvement in 2003 from 2002, despite the largest catastrophe loss event in Company history
occurring in May 2003. While all insurance segments reflected an improvement in underwriting results from 2002, the
most significant improvement was within the Meridian standard segment.

Consolidated earned premiums increased $64.0 million (7.1%) to $960.6 million in 2003 from 2002. This
increase was primarily the result of premium rate increases across all lines of business (see earned premium table below).
The State Auto standard segment contributed a 14.0% increase to consolidated earned premiums in 2003 from 2002,
while the State Auto non-standard segment contributed a 1.0% increase to consolidated earned premiums in the same
period. Contributing also to the State Auto standard segment’s increase was the migration of the Meridian standard
segment’s policies to the State Auto systems platform. These increases in earned premiums were partly offset by two
factors: declines in the Meridian standard segment and an increase in premiums ceded to Mutual under the Stop Loss.
The Meridian standard segment declined 6.7 points in 2003 from 2002. Contributing to this segment’s decrease are the
following: re-underwriting the policies migrating on renewal to the State Auto systems platform, as well as the non-
renewal of policies due to significant rate increases and underwriting action taken that management believed were
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necessary to improve the underwriting performance of the Meridian book of business. The integration also includes the
migration of Indiana business to affiliate companies outside the Pooled Companies. During the years 2003 and 2002, the
STFC Pooled Companies ceded a total of $12.8 million and $1.4 million, respectively, in earned premiums to Mutual in
accordance with the Stop Loss arrangement. The effect of the increased premiums ceded reduced consolidated earned
premium by 1.2% in 2003 from 2002 (premiums ceded were 1.4% and 0.2% of consolidated earned premium for the
years 2003 and 2002, respectively). The Stop Loss arrangement ended on December 31, 2003 and was not renewed.
See the Stop Loss discussion below regarding loss and loss adjustment expense cession.

The following table summarizes the consolidated earned premiums by segment and by line of business for the
years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002:

December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
State % of State % of
(dollars in thousands) Auto ™  Meridian®  Total  Total Auto  Meridian®”  Total  Total
Standard
Auto - personal © $337,548 28,374 365,922 38 281,373 56,908 338,281 38
Auto — commercial 84,541 15,130 99,671 10 74,764 22,304 97,068 11
Homeowners 134,001 14,593 148,594 16 112,351 21,159 133,510 15
Commercial multi-peril 60,819 18,405 79,224 8 50,306 25,942 76,248 8
Workers’ compensation 24,141 8,458 32,599 -3 23,236 _ 16,081 39,317 4
Fire and allied lines 65,850 806 66,656 7 57,310 1,095 58,405 7
Other & products liability 54,882 1,326 56,208 6 49,233 1,834 51,067 6
Miscellaneous personal
& commercial 26,571 2,856 29,427 3 24,602 4,542 29,144 3
Total Standard 788,353 89,048 878,301 91 673,175 149,865 823,040 92
Nonstandard Auto ¥ $82,267 - 82,267 9 73,555 - 73555 _ 8
Grand Total - - 960,568 100 - - ©896,595 100

& State Auto standard segment and Meridian standard segment, respectively
@  State Auto nonstandard segment

As reflected in the table above, earned premiums increased from year to year across almost all lines of business,
with the exception of workers’ compensation. Overall the composition of the Company’s book of business did not change
significantly from year to year, with the standard auto — personal line continuing to be the Company’s most significant line
of business.

In the past 18-24 months, the Company took necessary and in some cases significant rate increases, particularly
within the Meridian book, in almost all lines of business. The Company expects to be able to implement smaller rate
increases in 2004 than it had implemented during 2001 and 2003. This is expected to affect earned premium growth in
the years following the implementation of these increases. In fact, within the last year, the industry has been
experiencing a leveling of rate increases and in some cases certain lines have experienced modest rate decreases.
Management continues to emphasize that it will not compromise profitability for top line growth and will continue to focus
on maintaining its underwriting consistency through all industry cycles.

Net investment income increased $4.9 million (8.3%) to $64.6 million in 2003 from 2002. This increase was the

result of an increase in invested assets generated by cash flow provided from operations and financing, partly offset by a

decline in the investment yield. Total cost of invested assets at December 31, 2003 and 2002 was $1,529.7 million and

$1,302.0 million, respectively. Invested assets are comprised of total investments and cash equivalents. Reflecting a

decline in the interest rate environment, the annualized investment yields based on average invested assets at cost

decreased to 4.6% in 2003 from 4.9% in 2002. The Company manages its investment portfolio to maximize after tax
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profits. With the Company’s improving loss experience throughout 2003, management began allocating a higher
proportion of new monies to tax exempt securities in the fourth quarter of 2003. This reallocation of new monies is
expected to result in lower pre-tax investment yields but higher after tax investment income than if the Company
continued with the portfolio allocation of 2003. See further discussion regarding investments at the “Liquidity and
Capital Resources,” “Investments” and “Market Risk” sections, included herein.

Consolidated losses and loss adjustment expenses, as a percentage of earned premiums (the “"GAAP loss and LAE
ratio”), were 67.8% and 72.9% for the years 2003 and 2002, respectively. See the Stop Loss discussion above regarding
earned premiums cessions. For the years 2003 and 2002, the STFC Pooled Companies ceded a total of $5.6 million and
$8.8 million, respectively, in losses and loss adjustment expenses to Mutual in accordance with the Stop Loss
arrangement. The net effect of the earned premium and losses and loss adjustment expenses cessions under the Stop
Loss increased the GAAP loss and LAE ratio by 0.3 points in 2003 and decreased the GAAP loss and LAE ratio by 0.9
points in 2002.

For the years 2003 and 2002, catastrophe claims contributed 6.8 and 5.6 points, respectively, to the consolidated
GAAP loss and LAE ratio. Catastrophe losses discussed herein are as designated by Insurance Services Office’s Property
Claim Services (“PCS") unit, a nationally recognized industry service. PCS defines catastrophes as events resulting in
$25.0 million or more in insured losses industry wide and affecting significant numbers of insureds and insurers. High
winds, tornadoes, hail, lightning and resulting fires caused damage in 17 of the Company’s 26 operating states between
May 2 and May 11, 2003 ("CAT 88"). Claims resulting from CAT 88 totaled $39.6 million or 4.1 GAAP loss and LAE points
for the year 2003. In terms of dollars, Cat 88 is the largest catastrophe loss event in State Auto history. The second
most costly catastrophe loss event occurred in the second quarter of 2002, from a widespread series of storms that
included a tornado in the community of La Plata, Maryland ("CAT 61”). Claims resulting from CAT 61 totaled $27.5
million or 3.1 GAAP loss and LAE points for the year 2002. As discussed below, each of the Company’s insurance
operating segments was impacted by these catastrophe losses.

The following table summarizes the consolidated GAAP loss and LAE ratio by line of business for the years ended
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The Standard results reflect the combined State Auto and Meridian standard
segments:

(improve)

Consolidated 2003 2002 deteriorate

Standard
Auto - personal 66.6 68.8 (2.2)
Auto — commercial 53.3 66.5 (13.2)
Homeowners 75.0 85.1 (10.1)
Commercial multi-peril 80.6 89.9 (9.3)
Workers’ compensation 93.0 83.7 9.3
Fire and allied lines 60.8 58.9 1.9
Other & products liability 67.6 77.7 (10.1)
Miscellaneous personal
& commercial 28.3 35.5 (7.2)

Total Standard 67.1 72.5 (5.4)
Nonstandard Auto 75.6 77.8 (2.2)

Consolidated 67.8 72.9 (5.1)

As noted in the above table, all lines of business contributed to the 5.1 GAAP loss and LAE improvement in 2003
from 2002, except for workers’ compensation and fire and allied lines which combined represent 10% of total earned
premiums in 2003. Company management monitors all lines of business paying particular attention to auto - personal,
homeowners and workers” compensation due to the significance these lines have on the profitability of the Company.
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The auto - personal line continues to be the most significant line of business and therefore has the greatest influence on
net income. The homeowners line of business is the Company’s second largest (see earned premium table above). The
loss experience in this line was adversely affected in the last two years by the increased severity of storms; however, due
to management’s efforts, its GAAP loss and LAE ratio improved by 10.1 points in 2003 from 2002. Workers’
compensation continues to be the Company’s most volatile line of business due to the risks insured. Workers’
compensation resuits have been volatile both for the Company and the industry and can have a significant adverse impact
on earnings. The Company manages this exposure with conservative underwriting and rate levels that are based on
National Council of Compensation Insurance loss costs. As a result of management’s conservative approach, workers’
compensation represents 3% of total earned premium. Management continually monitors these lines in an effort to
obtain adequate cost based rates and write the risks that it believes are more likely to produce an underwriting profit for
the Company.

The following table summarizes the State Auto standard segment GAAP loss and LAE ratio by line of business for
the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively:

(improve)

State Auto Standard 2003 2002  deteriorate
Auto — personal 66.2 67.5 (1.3)
Auto — commercial 54.0 63.5 (9.5)
Homeowners 76.5 81.1 (4.6)
Commercial multi-peril 69.7 80.9 (11.2)
Workers’ compensation 100.9 84.4 16.5
Fire and allied lines 60.7  58.8 1.9
Other & products liability 64.4 78.8 (14.4)
Miscellaneous personal
& commercial 26.5 30.0 (3.5)

Total State Auto Standard 66.1 69.4 (3.3)

The State Auto standard segment’s GAAP loss and LAE ratio improved 3.3 points in 2003 from 2002, despite
being impacted by the record level catastrophe losses described above. For the years 2003 and 2002, catastrophe losses
represent 7.3 and 5.7 points, respectively, of which Cat 88 accounted for 4.4 points of the 2003 total catastrophe points
and Cat 61 accounted for 3.1 points of the 2002 total catastrophe points. Absent the impact of catastrophe losses, this
segment’s GAAP loss and LAE ratio improved 4.9 points in 2003 from 2002. This improvement reflects the Company’s
continual emphasis on strict underwriting, which includes taking necessary and appropriate rate increases across most
lines of business.

The State Auto nonstandard segment’s GAAP loss and LAE ratio improved 2.2 points in 2003 to 75.6 from 77.8 in
2002 (see the Consolidated GAAP loss and LAE ratio table above, nonstandard auto line). The 2003 and 2002
catastrophe losses represent 1.4 points and 0.8 point, respectively, of the foregoing GAAP loss and LAE ratio. Absent the
impact of catastrophe iosses, this segment’s GAAP loss and LAE ratio improved 2.8 points in 2003 from 2002. This
improvement was primarily driven by significant underwriting action and rate level improvement on the former Meridian
nonstandard segment private passenger auto book of business. Management implemented corrective rate increases on
the business that continued to renew on the Meridian systems platform. In addition, all new nonstandard private
passenger auto business produced by the former Meridian Mutual agents is now written through the SA National system
platform utilizing a more appropriate rating structure as well as credit scoring (as permitted by local law) and “point-of-
sale” underwriting tools. Management continually monitors this segment’s underwriting performance, as it is typically a
more volatile line of business than the standard segment, paying particular attention to rate adequacy and risk selection
in states and agencies with unusually high premium written growth. Kentucky, this segment’s largest state of operation,
had experienced significant written premium growth over the last year, but with unacceptable underwriting results. The
Company has terminated or suspended eleven fast growing, but extremely unprofitable, nonstandard auto oriented
agencies in Kentucky. While this action adversely affected this segment’s premium growth, it is expected to improve long
term underwriting results.
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The following table summarizes the Meridian standard segment GAAP loss and LAE ratio by line of business for
the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively:

(improve)

Meridian Standard 2003 2002  deteriorate
Auto - personal 71.9 75.1 (3.2)
Auto — commercial 49.3 76.5 (27.2)
Homeowners 61.2 106.5 (45.3)
Commercial multi-peril 116.6 107.5 9.1
Workers’ compensation 70.5 82.7 (12.2)
Fire and allied lines 74.3 60.8 13.5
Other & products liability 199.3 50.0 149.3
Miscellaneous personal
& commercial 44.6 65.4 (20.8)

Total Meridian Standard 76.4 85.9 (9.5)

The Meridian standard segment’s GAAP loss and LAE ratio improved 9.5 points in 2003 from 2002, despite also
being impacted by the catastrophe losses described above. For 2003 and 2002, catastrophe losses represent 7.6 and 7.0
points, respectively, of which Cat 88 accounted for 4.5 points and Cat 61 4.0 points of the 2003 and 2002 total
catastrophe points, respectively. Absent the impact of catastrophe losses, this segment’s GAAP loss and LAE ratio
improved 10.1 points in 2003 from 2002.

During the year 2003 this segment continued to improve from 2002 despite experiencing several large
commercial multi-peril and other liability losses. Note that the “other and products liability” line is approximately 1.5% of
this segment’s 2003 book of business — see earned premium table above. These continued improvements are a direct
result of management’s efforts that began in 2001 to obtain adequate cost based rates, re-underwrite the business
applying the State Auto underwriting guidelines and terminate unprofitable programs. The Meridian integration is
proceeding according to plan. The business written on the historic Meridian platform is being systematically renewed on
the State Auto platform. Management is striving to retain the risks that it believes have the greatest profit potential for
the Company. Due to the integration efforts by management, along with this segment no longer meeting the
quantitative thresholds for separate segment reporting, beginning with the first quarter of 2004, the Meridian standard
business will be included in the State Auto standard segment.

Acquisition and operating expenses, as a percentage of earned premiums (the “GAAP expense ratio”), were
30.4% and 29.5% for the years 2003 and 2002, respectively. One factor contributing to the 0.9 point increase is the
Company cession of earned premium under the Stop Loss, which was $12.8 million and $1.4 million in 2003 and 2002,
respectively. These earned premium cessions under the Stop Loss increased the Company’s GAAP expense ratio by 0.4
point and less than 0.1 point for the years 2003 and 2002, respectively. The Stop Loss agreement terminated December
31, 2003 and was not renewed. Certain significant variable expenses that are tied directly to the Company’s insurance
operation’s profitability also contributed to the increased GAAP expense ratio. These are the Company’s profit sharing
plans, the Quality Performance Bonus ("QPB") that covers substantially all employees and the Quality Performance
Agreement or contingent commission agreement ("QPA") which is available to substantially all the Company’s agents.
QPA was 1.6 points and 1.2 points within the GAAP expense ratio in 2003 and 2002, respectively. QPB was 0.8 point and
0.2 point within the GAAP expense ratio in 2003 and 2002, respectively. Excluding the Stop Loss, QPA and QPB effects,
the GAAP expense ratio would have been 27.6% and 28.0% for the years 2003 and 2002, respectively. Management
reviews the QPB plan and the QPA annually to determine the appropriateness of each bonus’ formula. Any increase in
the expense ratio is difficult to accept, but the fact is, that the increase seen this year is largely the result of the
Company’s profitable underwriting operations, as discussed above. Notwithstanding these directly profit driven expense
increases, expense contral has been and remains one of the critical elements of the Company’s success, and the
importance of this is regularly communicated to all employees.
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Interest expense increased $1.3 million (55.9%) to $3.6 million in 2003 from 2002, This increase was the result
of the additional net $85.5 million of debt obtained as of December 31, 2003 from December 31, 2002 (see discussion
included in Liquidity and Capital Resources), partly offset by a decline in the interest rate on the $45.5 million line of
credit with Mutual.

Other expense, as a percentage of earned premiums, was 1.2% and 1.1% for the years 2003 and 2002,
respectively. The increase in 2003 other expense is primarily attributable to the legal and other related costs incurred by
the Company related to the tender offer initiated by Gregory M. Shepard and his wholly owned company, and other
proposals from Mr. Shepard that preceded the tender offer. See Part I, Item 3. Legal Proceedings included within this
Form 10-K.

The effective tax expense rate for the years 2003 and 2002 were 23.8% and 2.1%, respectively. Improvement in
the Company’s 2003 underwriting results along with an increase in net realized gains on investments and the gradual shift
in increasing the fixed maturity portfolio from tax-exempt to taxable securities from 2002 contributed to the tax expense
rate increase. Management believes the existing level of pre-tax earnings is sufficient to generate future taxable income
to realize the deferred tax assets.

2002 compared to 2001

Net income for the Company increased by $16.4 million (79.5%) in 2002. Contributing to this increase was a 4.6
point improvement in the Company’s GAAP combined ratio and, as more fully described above, changes made to the
Company’s participation in the Pooling Arrangement in the second half of 2001. Additionally, net investment income
increased due to the Pooling Arrangement changes in 2001, which was offset by a decrease in the Company's
management and operations service income.

Consolidated earned premiums increased by $341.4 million (61.5%) in 2002. This increase was the result of the
addition of the former Meridian Mutual business to the Pooling Arrangement, effective July 1, 2001, a change in the
Pooled Subsidiaries’ aggregate pooling participation. percentage from 53% to 80%, effective October 1, 2001 and total
net internal growth of 16.3%. The addition of the former Meridian Mutual business and the pooling change increased
consolidated earned premiums 45.2%. The internal growth of the State Auto standard segment’s earned premiums
increased consolidated earned premiums 15.1%. This increase was driven by growth in commercial lines of business due
to a combination of rate changes as well as increased policy counts. Personal lines of business continued to experience
sales increases over prior year due to changes in the marketplace that permitted rate increases, as well as the expansion
of the new personal lines sales specialist position that contributed to increased policy counts. The internal growth of the
State Auto nonstandard segment earned premiums increased consolidated earned premiums 5.4% due to a combination
of rate changes and increased policy counts.

The internal decline of the Meridian standard and nonstandard segments decreased consolidated earned
premiums 4.2%. This decrease was expected, given the corrective actions taken by management in both these
segments, which actions included appropriate and necessary rate increases in almost every line of business. Additionally,
one of the more significant actions taken within the Meridian standard segment was the discontinuance in fate 2000 of
the Group Advantage® Program which had generated substantial underwriting losses for Meridian Mutual. The last Group
Advantage® policy on the books terminated January 2003. Regarding the Meridian nonstandard segment, in addition to
taking significant corrective rate action, beginning in late 2001, the Company implemented an integration plan to write ali
new nonstandard auto business produced by the former Meridian Mutua! agents through the State Auto nonstandard
segment, specifically through National on the National system platform utilizing a more appropriate rating structure as
well as credit scoring (as permitted by local law) and “point-of-sale” underwriting tools. The order of integration had
been prioritized such that the states with the most need for profit improvement migrated to National first. All Meridian
nonstandard auto new business is now being written through the State Auto nonstandard segment. The business that
remains within the Meridian nonstandard segment is expected to decrease given this segment’s historically low retention
rate as well as the Company’s continuing to take appropriate rate increases. Fourth quarter 2002 earned premiums for
the Meridian nonstandard segment comprised 0.5% of total consolidated earned premiums versus 1.8% in the same
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2001 period. Consequently, beginning with the first quarter 2003, the Meridian nonstandard auto business was included
in the State Auto nonstandard segment category.

Net investment income increased by $12.3 million (26.0%) in 2002. Contributing to the increase over the
previous year was an increase in invested assets due to a transfer of $354.6 million in cash and fixed maturity securities
from Mutual to the Pooled Subsidiaries in the second half of 2001. This transfer was made in conjunction with the
changes made to the Pooled Subsidiaries participation in the Pooling Arrangement, as more fully described above. Total
cost of invested assets at December 31, 2002 and 2001, was $1,303.0 million and $1,150.3 million, respectively.
Reflecting a decline in the interest rate environment, the investment vields, based on cash equivalents, fixed and equity
securities at cost were 4.9% and 5.4% for the annual periods ending 2002 and 2001, respectively. See further discussion
regarding investments at the “Liquidity and Capital Resources,” “Investments” and “Market Risk” sections, included
herein.

Management services income, including investment management fees, decreased by $12.9 million (83.1%) in
2002. This decrease was attributable to the termination of the fee element of the 2000 Management Agreement. The
service fee under the 2000 Management Agreement paid by Mutual in 2001 was $12.5 million.

Consolidated losses and loss adjustment expenses, as a percentage of earned premiums (the “"GAAP loss and LAE
ratio”), were 72.9% and 76.9% for the years 2002 and 2001, respectively. Comparison of the overall results of 2002 with
those of 2001 was affected by the addition of the former Meridian Mutual business to the Pooling Arrangement. Since the
former Meridian Mutual business was added to the Pooling Arrangement effective July 1, 2001, it negatively impacted the
loss results of the Company only in the second half of 2001. However, in 2002 the results of the former Meridian Mutual
business were included in and negatively impacted the results of the Pooling Arrangement for the entire vear.
Comparison of the overall results of 2002 with those of 2001 is also affected by the reserve strengthening that occurred
during the second half of 2001 with respect to the Meridian segments. While the Meridian standard business continues to
produce loss results poorer than the State Auto book of business (see table of GAAP loss and LAE ratios operating
segments below), management believes there has been improvement in the performance of the Meridian segments due
to the continuing efforts to improve pricing and risk selection applicable to these segments during 2002.

During the guarters ended September 30, 2002 and June 30, 2002, the Pooled Companies produced a Pool loss
and LAE ratio under the Stop Loss (described above) that exceeded the 70.75% threshold, thereby recovering from
Mutual $2.4 million and $6.4 million in losses, respectively (total of $8.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2002).
In the quarters ended December 31, 2002 and March 31, 2002, the Pooled Companies’ Pool loss and LAE ratio was less
than 69.25%, but more than 59.99%, thereby ceding to Mutual, under the Stop Loss $1.0 million and $0.4 million in
earned premiums, respectively (total of $1.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2002). The cession activity through
the Stop Loss had the effect of lowering the GAAP loss and LAE ratio by 0.9 and 1.1 points in 2002 and 2001,
respectively.

The year 2002 was the worst catastrophe year in the history of the Company on a dollar loss basis and third
worst in terms of GAAP loss and LAE ratio points. During the second quarter of 2002, a series of tornadoes and
hailstorms went through several of the Company’s operating states, including an F4 tornado in La Plata, Maryland. This
storm was the largest single catastrophe event for the Company in 2002, accounting for 3.1 GAAP loss and LAE ratio
points. Overall, catastrophe losses in 2002 were 1.2 GAAP loss and LAE ratio points higher than in 2001.

For discussion purposes, the following table provides comparative GAAP loss and LAE ratios for the Company’s

insurance operating segments for the 2002 and 2001 periods, respectively, except for the Meridian segments for 2001,
which is for the six month period ended December 31, 2001:
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GAAP Loss and LAE Ratio 2002 2001
State Auto standard segment 69.4 65.9
State Auto nonstandard segment  77.8 914
Meridian standard segment 85.9 139.3

Total GAAP Loss and LAE Ratio 729 76.9

The State Auto standard segment GAAP loss and LAE ratio increased in 2002 to 69.4 from 65.9 in 2001.
Catastrophe losses represented 5.7 points of this segment’s loss results for 2002 compared to 4.4 points for 2001, With
the significant increase in new business policy count came an increase in claim submissions. While general inflation has
been relatively modest for the past several years, price inflation on goods and services for which insurance pays, such as
medical care and repairs to automobiles and buildings, exceeded the rate of overall inflation and adversely impacted the
GAAP loss and LAE ratio. The Company has reacted to this inflationary trend by filing more aggressive, cost-based, rate
increases. Also contributing to the current year deterioration in the GAAP loss and LAE ratio were restrictions on the use
of credit scoring in some states where the Company does business. To the extent these limitations result in higher loss
ratios, the actuarial rate indications will increase resuiting in larger rate increases being sought. The Company is also
reviewing its credit scoring models to ensure that the premium rate derived from the model continues to accurately
reflect the loss experience associated with each particular credit score range.

Representing approximately 42% of this segment’s business, personal automobile has over the last five years
yielded loss results better than industry average, and in fact, has produced combined ratios of less than 100.0%. While
the current year results aré expected -again to better industry average, this line of business did experience deterioration in
its current year loss ratio, specifically within the auto liability and no fault lines, which management believes is due at
least in part to increasing rates of inflation applicable to the health care sector of the U.S. economy and an increased
volume of new business, as noted above. Adverse loss results on workers’ compensation, commercial muiti peril and
other liability lines of business, which collectively represents approximately 18.2% of this segment’s business, also
contributed to the current year loss result increase. The Company is taking substantial and necessary rate increases in
rate per exposure across these lines of business. Workers’ compensation continues to be one of the most volatile lines
that the Company provides, and for this reason the Company has always maintained a particularly conservative posture
on pricing in this line. .

The State Auto nonstandard segment, which now includes the former Meridian nonstandard segment, GAAP loss
and LAE ratio improved in 2002 to 77.8 from 91.4 in 2001. This segment was significantly impacted by the former
Meridian nonstandard segment case reserve strengthening that occurred during the second half of 2001, Also largely
contributing to the current year loss results improvement were the substantial policy rate increases the Company
implemented in 2001 and 2002 in the former Meridian nonstandard segment. This segment experienced more volatility in
2002, especially in those states experiencing substantial premium growth due to policy count increases. As described
above, contributing to this growth has been the addition of National’s product to agents who wrote the former Meridian
Mutual’s nonstandard auto business. While nonstandard automobile tends to be a more volatile line of business than
standard automobile, management continually monitors this segment’s premium rate adequacy. Management has been
paying particular attention to the adequacy of these rates in these growth states, as well as risks written in certain
agencies, and is reacting accordingly by increasing rates and working with those agencies regarding risk selection.

The Meridian standard segment GAAP loss and LAE ratio for 2002 was 85.9 compared to 139.3 for the six month
period ended December 31, 2001. Comparison of the overall results of 2002 with those of 2001 is affected by the reserve
strengthening that occurred during the second half of 2001 within this segment. Catastrophe losses represent
approximately 7.0 points of this segment’s loss results for both the 2002 and 2001 periods. While the Meridian standard
business continues to produce loss results worse than the State Auto book of business, management believes there has
been improvement in this segment due to the necessary and continued efforts that began in 2001, e.g. seeking adequate
cost-based rates, re-underwriting commercial renewals to be certain that risks written are within the State Auto
underwriting guidelines and discontinuing the Group Advantage® Program.
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Acquisition and operating expenses, as a percentage of earned premiums (the "GAAP expense ratio”), were
29.5% and 30.1% for the years 2002 and 2001, respectively. Management continually focuses its attention on improving
its GAAP expense ratio, which is especially critical during a period of substantial top line growth.

Interest expense relates to the $45.5 million line of credit agreement the Company entered into with Mutual in
1999 and the $15.0 million surplus note agreement entered into with an affiliate on September 30, 2002. See additional
discussion in the “Liquidity and Capital Resources” section included herein.

The 2002 underwriting improvement, coupled with net investment income being largely comprised of tax-exempt
income, produced an effective tax expense rate in 2002 of 2.1% versus an effective tax benefit of 15% in 2001. For
additional clarification, see the reconciliation between actual federal income taxes and the amount computed at the
statutory rate as detailed in footnote 8 in the notes to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Reportable Segments

At December 31, 2003, the Company’s reportable segments are: State Auto standard insurance, State Auto
nonstandard insurance, Meridian standard insurance, and investment management services. Due to the integration
efforts by management, along with this segment no longer meeting the guantitative thresholds for segment reporting
within the Meridian nonstandard business, beginning with the first quarter of 2003, the Meridian nonstandard business
was included in the State Auto nonstandard segment. The 2002 and 2001 disclosures have been revised to reflect this
change. Likewise, the Meridian standard business, beginning with the first quarter of 2004, will be included in the State
Auto standard segment.

The profits (losses) of these segments are monitored by management on an unconsolidated basis, as reflected in
footnote 15, Reportable Segments, in the Company’s consolidated financial statements and therefore do not reflect
adjustments for transactions with other segments or realized gains or losses on sales of investments.

The following table reflects segment profit (loss) for the years ended 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively:

(in thousands) 2003 2002 2001
State Auto standard insurance $57,323 37,537 45,664
State Auto nonstandard insurance 6,632 4,075 (4,555)
Meridian standard insurance 3,489 (15,376) (44,397)
Investment management services 7,424 6,402 5,965
All other 2,224 1,916 16,326
Total segment profit $77,092 34,554 19,003

The increase in the Company’s 2003 profits within the State Auto standard and nonstandard insurance segments
is primarily due to an improvement in these segments’ current year loss experience as discussed at “2003 Compared to
2002" in “Results of Operations.” The improved loss experience in 2003 in these segments reflects the Company’s
continual emphasis on strict underwriting, which includes taking necessary and appropriate rate increases. The decrease
in the Company’s 2002 profit within the State Auto standard insurance segment is primarily due to an increase in this
segment’s loss experience as discussed at “2002 Compared to 2001” in “Results of Operations.” For the State Auto
nonstandard insurance segment.in 2002, increased earned premium growth, as well as an increase in the net investment
income, despite deterioration in its loss results, contributed positively to this segment’s profit. As discussed above,
management continually monitors these segments’ premium rate adequacy and seeks adequate cost-based rates.

The Company’s 2003 profit within the Meridian standard insurance segment is due to an improvement in this
segment’s current year loss experience as discussed at “2003 Compared to 2002” in “Results of Operations.” The
improved loss experience in 2003 in this segment is evidence of the Company’s successful integration efforts that began
in 2001 to obtain adequate cost based rates, re-underwrite the business within State Auto underwriting guidelines and
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terminate unprofitable programs. Comparison of the Meridian standard segment profit (loss) results of 2002 with that of
2001 was affected by the reserve strengthening that occurred during the second half of 2001.

The increase in segment profit of the investment management segment in 2003, 2002 and 2001 was the result of
this segment providing its services to the Meridian Insurers beginning June 1, 2001 and the continued investment
portfolio fair value growth of the State Auto Group. This segment’s revenue is based on the average fair value of the
portfolio of the companies managed. During these years, the investment management segment profit increased as
managed invested assets increased.

The increase in segment profit of the 2003 all other category is due to an increase in the State Auto P&C
management fee earned from -management agreements that are described at "Overview.” The management fee
increased because of the increase in direct written premiums collected under the Midwest Management Agreement and
the increase of allocable employee expenses under the MIGI Management Agreement. Beginning with the first quarter of
2002, the former management and operations services segment is now included in the all other category for segment
reporting as the results of this segment no longer meet the quantitative thresholds for separate presentation as a
reportable segment.  All other segment profits, including management and operations services, decreased in 2002 and
"2001. The termination of the service fee under the 2000 Management Agreement was due to the resolution of the
disagreement between the Company and Ohio Department of Insurance regarding the service fee paid by Mutual to the
Company in 2001. See discussion at “significant transactions” and "2002 Compared to 2001” in "Results of Operations.”
For additional information on the Company’s reportable segments, see footnote 15 on “Reportable Segments” in the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity refers to the ability of the Company to generate adequate amounts of cash to meet its needs for both
long and short-term cash obligations as they come due. The Company’s significant sources of cash are premiums,
investment income, sales of investments and the maturity of fixed maturity investments. The Company continually
monitors its investment and reinsurance programs to ensure they are appropriately structured to enable the insurance
subsidiaries to meet anticipated short and long-term cash requirements without the need to sell investments to meet
fluctuations in claim payments. ‘

Overall net cash provided by operating activities was $138.0 million in 2003, $126.6 million in 2002 and $63.5
miliion in 2001. The increase in 2003 is attributable to improved underwriting cash flow, partly offset by an increase in
cash paid on estimated federal income taxes and a cash contribution to the Companies defined benefit pension plan (the
“Plan”) (see discussion below). The increase in 2002 is largely attributable to the prior year changes to the Pooled
Subsidiaries participation in the Pooling Arrangement. In the second half of 2001, the Pooled Subsidiaries received cash
of $8.6 million and fixed maturities of $346 million from Mutual as a result of adding the Meridian Mutual business to the
Pooling Arrangement and changing the pooling participation percentage of the Pooled Subsidiaries from 53% to 80%.
Over the last three years, operating cash flows have been sufficient to meet the operating needs of the Company while
providing increased opportunities for investment.

During 2003, as permitted by IRS Regulations, the Company contributed $4.6 million in cash to the Company’s
Plan on behalf of its employees. This is the first year since 1997 that management has been permitted under applicable
rules to make a tax deductible contribution to the Plan. During the years when the Company was permitted to make plan
contributions, it was the practice of management to contribute the maximum possible as permitted under IRS
Regulations. This historic practice faired well for the Company in the past several years, as many companies with defined
benefit plans experienced additional minimum liability recognition. In 2004 it is expected the Company will be impacted
for the first time in years by a net periodic cost within the Plan of approximately $1.5 million. While management
acknowledges that the net periodic benefit the Company recognized in recent years has not been at the levels it
experienced in the late 1990s through 2002, it has not impacted the profitability of the Company. As the Company
continues to be permitted to make contributions, it is management’s intent to make the maximum contribution to the Plan
for the benefit of its employees. For 2004, it is estimated that the maximum Plan contribution will again be
approximately $4.0 million.
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Total net cash used in investing activities was $280.2 million during 2003, $85.6 million during 2002 and $55.3
million in 2001. The 2003 cash used in investing activities reflects the increase in cash flow provided by improved
operating activities and the increase in cash flow provided by financing activities discussed below. The 2002 and 2001
years' investing activity was reflective of the cash flow generated from operations discussed above. During 2002 the
Company expetienced fluctuating activity within its fixed maturity portfolio. Call activity in 2002 continued in response to
the declines in the interest rate environment. While the Company continued to focus its attention on improving the loss
results of the Meridian book of business, which has put upward pressure on the Company’s overall loss experience in
recent years, the Company increased its sale activity of its fixed maturities in an effort to increase its taxable position in
its investment portfolio. Monies generated from the call and sale activity have been reinvested at lower yielding rates.

Overall net cash provided by financing activities was $86.2 million in 2003, $25.0 million in 2002 and $0.5 million
in 2001. Net cash provided by financing activities increased during 2003 and 2002 primarily due to net proceeds from
issuance of debt (see discussion below), partly offset by payments of dividends and to re-purchase Company common
shares.

Mutual, whose ownership in State Auto Financial is approximately 66%, has waived its right to receipt of the
dividends declared by State Auto Financial since 1994 in an effort to enhance the statutory surplus of the insurance
subsidiaries of State Auto Financial for use in support of underwriting operations which in turn is expected to increase the
statutory surplus of Mutual. In years before 2002, prior to the declaration of each dividend by State Auto Financial,
Mutual’s directors reviewed the facts and circumstances then present in deciding whether to waive such dividend.
Beginning in 2002, the issue of the waiver of Mutual’s dividend on its shares of State Auto Financial was referred to the
standing Independent Committee of the Board of Directors of Mutual (the “Standing Independent Committee™). It met
and determined that it would review dividend waiver decisions on an annual basis. For the years 2002 and 2003, the
Standing Independent Committee decided to waive Mutual’s dividends that might be declared by the Board of Directors of
State Auto Financial in order to take better advantage of the investment opportunity State Auto Financial represents for
Mutual. At March 8, 2004, the Standing Independent Committee had not made a determination regarding whether or not
it will waive Mutual’s right to receipt of State Auto Financial dividends for 2004. The timing for this determination has
been moved from March to August to coincide with the timing of the historical dividend increase date. At a board
meeting on March 5, 2004, the Board of Directors of Mutual extended the dividend waiver decision made by the Standing
Independent Committee in March of 2003 to apply to dividends that may be declared in March and May of 2004. The
Standing Independent Committee intends to complete its analysis of the dividend waiver for the period of August 2004 to
August 2005 prior to the board meeting in August of 2004.

Impacting cash provided by financing activities during 2003, 2002 and 2001 was State Auto Financial's Board of
Directors’ approving plans to repurchase shares of its common stock from the public. In March 2002, the Board of
Directors of State Auto Financial approved a plan to repurchase up to 1.0 million shares of its common stock from the
public over a period extending to December 31, 2003. During 2003 and 2002, the Company repurchased 45,000 and
393,000 shares from the public for a total of $729,000 and $6.3 million, respectively. Impacting cash used in financing
activities during 2001 was a 2000 stock repurchase plan approved to purchase up to 1.0 million of State Auto Financial’s
common stock from the public ending December 31, 2001 (the “2000 Repurchase Plan”). In 2001, the Company
repurchased approximately 25,000 shares from the public for a total of $388,000.

In conjunction with a 1999 Repurchase Plan, State Auto Financial entered into a line of credit agreement with
Mutual for $45.5 million. The interest rate is adjustable annually on each January 1 to reflect adjustments in the then
current prime lending rate less 1.75 points, as well as State Auto Financial’s current financial position. The interest rate
was 2.5%, 3.0% and 7.75% for 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Beginning January 1, 2004, the interest rate on this
credit agreement is 2.25%. Principal is due upon demand, with final payment to be received on or prior to December 31,
2005.

On May 22, 2003, STFC Capital Trust I, State Auto Financial’s Delaware business trust subsidiary, issued $15.0
million liquidation amount of its capital securities to a third party. In connection with the Capital Trust’s issuance of the
capital securities and the related purchase by State Auto Financial of all of the Capital Trust's common securities
(liquidation amount of $464,000) (the Capital Trust's capital and common securities are hereafter referred to as the
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“Trust Securities”), State Auto Financial issued to the Capital Trust $15.5 million aggregate principal amount of Floating
Rate Junior Subordinated Debt Securities due 2033 (the “Subordinated Debentures”). The sole assets of the Capital Trust
are the Subordinated Debentures and any interest accrued thereon. Interest on the Trust Securities is payable quarterly
at a rate equal to the three-month LIBOR rate plus 4.20%, adjusted quarterly (5.34% for the period August 24, 2003
through November 23, 2003, adjusted to 4.63% for the period November 24, 2003 through February 23, 2004). Prior to
May 2008, the interest rate may not exceed 12.5% per annum. The interest rate and interest payment dates on the
Subordinated Debentures are the same as the interest rate and interest payment dates on the Trust Securities. In
January 2003, the FASB issued FIN 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, effective for reporting periods
beginning after June 15, 2003. As a result of the Company’s adopting FIN 46 effective July 1, 2003, the financial
statements of the Capital Trust are no longer consolidated within the accompanying financial statements of the Company.
See additional discussion below included in New Accounting Standards.

The Trust Securities are mandatorily redeemable on May 23, 2033, and may be redeemed at any time on and
after May 23, 2008, at 100% of the principal amount thereof plus unpaid interest. The Trust Securities may be redeemed
in whole, but not in part, at any time within 90 days following the occurrence of a "Tax Event” or “Investment Company
Event” (as defined in the declaration of trust) (a) if such Tax Event or Investment Company Event occurs on or after May
23, 2008, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof plus unpaid interest, and (b) if such Tax
Event or Investment Company Event occurs prior to May 23, 2008, at a redemption price equal to the greater of 100% of
the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest and a "make-whole” amount. The Subordinated Debentures are
subject to these same redemption terms. The obligations under the Subordinated Debentures and related agreements,
taken together, constitute a full and unconditional guarantee of payments due on the Trust Securities.

State Auto Financial has the right, at any time, to defer payments of interest on the Subordinated Debentures for
up to 20 consecutive quarterly payment periods. Consequently, distributions on the Trust Securities would be deferred
(though such distributions would continue to accrue with interest since interest would accrue on the Subordinated
Debentures during any such extended interest payment period). In no case may the deferral of payments and
distributions extend beyond the stated maturity dates of the respective securities. During such deferments, State Auto
Financial may not declare or pay any dividends on, or purchase any of, its capital stock, make any principal or interest
payments on debt securities that rank in all respects equally with or subordinated to the Subordinated Debentures, or
make any payment under guarantees that rank in all respects equally with or subordinated to State Auto Financial’s
guaranty of the Trust Securities.

The Subordinated Debentures are unsecured and subordinated to all of the Company’s existing and future senior
indebtedness. As sponsor of the Capital Trust, State Auto Financial incurred security issuance cost related to the Trust
Preferred Capital Securities and Subordinated Debentures of $535,000. In July 2003, State Auto Financial used the
proceeds from the Subordinated Debentures to make a $15.0 million cash capital contribution to SA Nationa! (see
discussion below).

On November 13, 2003, State Auto Financial issued $100.0 million unsecured senior notes bearing interest fixed
at 6.25% due November 15, 2013. Interest on the notes is payable May 15 and November 15 of each year beginning
May 15, 2004. The notes are general unsecured obligations ranking senior to all existing and future subordinated
indebtedness and equal with all existing and future senior indebtedness. The notes are not guaranteed by any of the
State Auto Financial subsidiaries and thereby are effectively subordinated to all State Auto Financial subsidiaries’ existing
and future indebtedness. State Auto Financial may redeem the notes in whole at anytime or in part from time to time at
State Auto Financial’s option, on at least 30 but not more than 6Q days’ prior written notice, at a redemption price equal
to the greater of the principal amount of such notes being redeemed on the redemption date or the make whole amount,
based on U.S. Treasury rates as defined by the note, plus in each case, accrued and unpaid interest, if any, on the notes
to the redemption date. The notes issued contain certain covenants as defined in the notes, which among other things,
limit State Auto Financial and its subsidiaries’ ability to issue indebtedness secured by the capital stock of certain State
Auto Financial subsidiaries and sell the capital stock of certain State Auto Financial subsidiaries. The notes also contain a
covenant that requires State Auto Financial to take certain actions in the event it engages in mergers, consolidations or
sales of all or substantially all of the assets and prohibits it from engaging in such transaction if State Auto Financial is in
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default under the notes. State Auto Financial incurred approximately $1.5 million in issuance cost related to the senior
notes.

On October 1, 2003 State Auto Financial entered into an interest rate swap contract for a notional amount of
$25.0 million as a hedge on the ten year treasury rate in connection with the forecasted issuance of the senior notes.
The swap contract was designated as a cash flow hedge and settled on November 6, 2003, the pricing date of the senior
notes, with the Company receiving $811,000. The gain has been recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income
and is being accreted into interest expense as the underlying interest expense is recognized for the senior notes.

On November 6, 2003 State Auto Financial entered into an interest rate swap contract for a notional amount of
$50.0 million, receiving semiannual payments at a fixed rate of 6.25% and making semiannual payments at a variable
rate equal to six month LIBOR plus 1.25 percent with LIBOR to be determined the last day of each interest reset period
(total 2.47% at December 31, 2003). The swap contract was designated as a fair value hedge to protect against changes
in fair value of the senior notes. At December 31, 2003 the fair market value of the fixed to floating interest rate swap
was $485,000 of which $229,000 related to net accrued interest to be received and reduced reported interest expense in
the period.

State Auto Financial used the senior notes proceeds to contribute additional paid in capital to its subsidiaries as
follows: $39.0 million to State Auto P&C, $15.0 million to National (in addition to the $15.0 million contributed from the
Trust Securities mentioned above) and $15.0 million to Milbank. See further discussion below regarding the leverage
ratio. State Auto Financial also used the senior notes proceeds to repay $15.0 million of bank debt. See further
discussion below regarding bank debt. State Auto Financial retained the balance for general corporate purposes and has
since invested these funds in fixed maturities and common stocks.

Milbank used the $15.0 million additional paid in capital contribution from State Auto Financial to repay its surplus
note. On September 30, 2002, Milbank had entered into a $15.0 million surplus contribution note with Meridian Security.
Subject to the condition described below and other terms of the note, the maturity date was September 30, 2012. The
interest rate was equal to the U.S. Treasury ten-year note yield at September 30, 2002 plus 100 basis points (4.59%) and
was adjustable October 1, 2007, to the then current U.S. Treasury ten-year note yield plus 100 basis points for the
remaining term of the note. Interest was accrued, but all payments of principal or interest may be made only with the
prior written approval of the South Dakota Director of Insurance, Milbank’s domiciliary state. Upon receipt of written
approval by the South Dakota Director of Insurance, Milbank repaid its surplus note, including interest, in December
2003.

As discussed above, State Auto Financial used proceeds from the senior notes to repay its $15.0 million bank debt
in December 2003. On December 23, 2002, State Auto Financial entered into a 364 day $15.0 million term loan note
agreement with a bank. Interest adjusted quarterly and accrued based on LIBOR plus 75 basis points (2.15% at
December 31, 2002).

The Company has generated substantial earned premium growth which has required capital resources. Earned
premiums through the State Auto Pool increased significantly beginning in July 2001 with the addition of the former
Meridian Mutual business. Also increasing earned premiums significantly was the October 1, 2001 pooling change from
53% to 80%. During the years 2003, 2002 and 2001 earned premiums increased, 7.1%, 61.5% and 39.5%, respectively,
from the preceding year. At December 31, 2003 and 2002, all of the Company’s insurance subsidiaries were in
compliance with statutory requirements relating to capital adequacy.

The National Association of Insurance Commissioners ("NAIC") utilizes a collection of analytical tools designed to
assist state insurance departments with an integrated approach to screening and analyzing the financial condition of
insurance companies operating in their respective states. One such set of analytical tools is 12 key financial ratios that
have come to be known in the insurance industry as the “IRIS” ratios. IRIS ratios are derived from financial statements
prepared on a statutory accounting basis, which are accounting practices prescribed or permitted by the insurance
department with regulatory authority over the Company’s insurance subsidiaries. A “defined range” of resuits for each
ratio has been established by the NAIC for solvency monitoring. While management utilizes each of these IRIS ratios in
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monitoring its operating performance on a statutory accounting basis, the net written premium to statutory surplus ratio
(the “leverage ratio”) is monitored to ensure that each of the Company’s insurance subsidiaries continues to operate
within the “defined range” of 3.0 to 1.0. The higher the leverage ratio, the more risk a company bears in relation to
statutory surplus available to absorb losses. In considering this range, management also considers the distribution of net
premiums between property and liability lines of business. A company with a larger portion of net premiums from liability
lines should generally maintain a lower leverage ratio.

In the case of SA National and Mid-Plains, both nonstandard auto insurers that write lines of business that are
generally short tail in nature and with generally lower amounts of coverage applicable, there is relatively less loss
exposure to the premium than is generally the case with other lines of business that are written for higher limits and for
which losses develop over long periods of time, such as workers’ compensation or other liability. In sum, a higher
premium to surplus ratio with a non standard auto insurer is not necessarily indicative of dangerous financial conditions
as might be the case with another type insurer.

The statutory leverage ratios for the Company at December 31, 2003 and 2002 are as follows:

Dece'mber 31

Statutory Leverage Ratios™™ 2003 2002
' (to 1)

State Auto P&C 1.9 2.6
Milbank 2.0 . 2.4
Farmers and subsidiary Mid-Plains 1.8 2.3
SA Ohio 1.7 1.8
SA National 1.5 4.4
Weighted Average 1.9 2.6

M) The Company uses the statutory leverage ratio as there is no comparable GAAP measure. This ratio measures
the company’s statutory surplus availabie to absorb losses.

These improvements are due to a combination of the capital contributions made by State Auto Financial (State
Auto P&C $39.0 million and SA National $30.0 million) from proceeds of the debt securities issued in 2003, improvement
in the underwriting operations for the year 2003 of each company, as well as effective January 1, 2003, the reserving
process for statutory reporting began anticipating salvage and subrogation recoverable for each company. Under
generally accepted accounting principles, the reserving process has historically anticipated salvage and subrogation
recoverable. Management believes these leverage ratios at December 31, 2003 indicate the financial strength of the
Company and its position to support future premium growth.

On March 5, 2004, the Board of Directors of State Auto Financial declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.04 per
common share, payable on March 31, 2004, to shareholders of record on March 19, 2004. This is the 51st consecutive
cash dividend declared by State Auto Financial’s Board since State Auto Financial had its initial publiic offering of common
stock on June 28, 1991. State Auto Financial has increased cash dividends to shareholders for twelve consecutive years.

The maximum amount of dividends that may be paid to State Auto Financial during 2004 by its insurance
subsidiaries without prior approval under current law is limited to $52.7 million. The Company is required to notify the
insurance subsidiaries’ respective State Insurance Commissioner within five business days after declaration of all such
dividends and at least ten days prior to payment. Additionally, the domiciliary Commissioner of each insurer subsidiary
has the authority to limit a dividend when the Commissioner determines, based on factors set forth in the law, that an
insurer's surplus is not reasonable in relation to the insurer’s outstanding liabilities and adequate to its financial needs.
Such restrictions are not expected to limit the capacity of State Auto Financial to meet its cash obligations.
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Other Disclosures
Reinsurance Arrangements

The State Auto Group companies are participants in a catastrophe reinsurance program. The amount retained by
the State Auto Group is $40.0 million for each occurrence. For up to $80.0 million in losses, excess of $40.0 million,
traditional reinsurance coverage is provided.

State Auto P&C assumes catastrophe reinsurance from the State Auto Group, in exchange for a premium paid by
each reinsured company, in the amount of $100.0 million excess of $120.0 million to reduce their loss exposure per
catastrophe. This layer of $100.0 million in excess of $120.0 million has been excluded from the Pooling Arrangement.
There have been no losses assumed under this agreement.

To provide funding if the State Auto Group was to incur catastrophe losses in excess of $120.0 million, State Auto
Financial has continued a structured contingent financing transaction with a financial institution and a syndicate of other
lenders (the “Lenders”) to provide up to $100.0 million for reinsurance purposes. In the event of such a loss, this
arrangement provides that State Auto Financial would sell redeemable preferred shares to SAF Funding Corporation, a
special purpose company ("SPC"), which would borrow the money necessary for such purchase from the Lenders. State
Auto Financial would then contribute to State Auto P&C the funds received from the sale of its preferred shares, thereby
preserving the statutory surplus of State Auto P&C. State Auto P&C would use the contributed capital to pay its direct
catastrophe losses and losses assumed under the catastrophe reinsurance agreement. State Auto Financial is obligated
to repay SPC (which would repay the Lenders) by redeeming the preferred shares over a five-year period. In the event of
a default by State Auto Financial, the obligation to repay SPC has been secured by a Put Agreement among State Auto
Financial, Mutual and the Lenders, under which Mutual would be obligated to either purchase the preferred shares from
the SPC or repay the SPC for the loan(s) outstanding. This funding arrangement, if exercised, would have the impact of
adding up to $100.0 million in additional debt to the Company while providing needed cash to pay claims, while at the
same time preserving the investment portfolio of the Company in the short term.

State Auto P&C’'s December 31, 1990 liability for losses and loss expenses of $65.5 million has been guaranteed
by Mutual. Pursuant to the guaranty agreement, all ultimate adverse development of the December 31, 1990 liability, if
any, is to be reimbursed by Mutual to State Auto P&C in conformance with pooling percentages in place at that time. As
of December 31, 2003, there has been no adverse development of the liability.

Investments

Stateco performs investment management services, which comprises the investment management services
segment, on behalf of the Company and Mutual and its subsidiaries. The Investment Committee of each insurer’s Board
of Directors sets investment policies to be followed by Stateco.

The primary investment objectives of the Company are to generate income, preserve capital and maintain
adequate liquidity for the payment of claims. Fixed maturity securities are categorized as available for sale and are
carried at fair value. At December 31, 2003, the Company had no fixed maturity investments rated below investment
grade, nor any mortgage loans.

The following table provides information regarding the gquality distribution of the Company’s fixed maturity
portfolio at December 31, 2003:

61



STATE AUTO FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
(a majority-owned subsidiary of State Automobile Mutual Insurance Company)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, Continued

Percentage Quality®

Corporate and Municipal Bonds 58.2 AA+

U.S. Governments 2.2 AAA

U.S. Government Agencies 39.6 AAA
Total 4100.0

() As rated by Moody’s Investors Service

Despite the volatility in the equity market during 2003, the Company continued its direction of moderately
increasing its equity portfolio investments to enhance growth of statutory surplus over the long term. Gains and losses
on the sale of equity securities are computed using the first-in, first-out method. The Company’s current investment
strategy does not rely on the use of derivative financial instruments.

At December 31, 2003 all investments in fixed maturity and equity securities were held as available for sale and
therefore are carried at fair value. Other invested assets are comprised of limited liability partnership and other
investments that are carried at fair value. The unrealized holding gains or losses, net of applicable deferred taxes, are
shown as a separate component of stockholders’ equity as “accumulated other comprehensive income” and as such are
not included in the determination of net income. Effective December 31, 2002, the Company transferred all of its
investments previously classified as held to maturity to the available for sale category to align the investment portfolio
with management’s investment policy. For fixed maturities classified as held to maturity, unrealized holding gains or
losses were not reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements; rather they were carried at amortized
cost. Upon transfer of the held to maturity investments to available for sale at December 31, 2002, the held to maturity
investments’ amortized cost, fair value and net unrealized gain were $19.1 miilion, $20.4 million and $1.3 million,
respectively. Other comprehensive income of $0.8 million, net of $0.5 million deferred taxes, was recognized upon
transfer.

The following table provides the composition of the Company’s investment portfolio at December 31, 2003 and
2002, respectively:

(dollars in thousands) 2003 2002
Fair value
Fixed maturities $1,421,412 90.5% 1,216,698  95.6%
Equity securities 139,257 8.9% 53,710 4.2%
Other invested assets 9,643 0.6% 1,908 0.2%
Total investments $1,570,312 100.0% 1,272,316 100.0%

The Company regularly monitors its investment portfolio for declines in value that are other than temporary, an
assessment which requires significant management judgment regarding the evidence known. Such judgments could
change in the future as more information becomes known which could negatively impact the amounts reported herein.
Among the factors that management considers are the nature of the investment, severity and length of decline in fair
value, events impacting the issuer, and overall market conditions. When a security in the Company’s investment portfolio
has been determined to have a decline in fair value that is other than temporary, the Company adjusts the cost basis of
the security to fair value. This results in a charge to earnings as a realized loss, which is not changed for subsequent
recoveries in fair value. Future increases or decreases in fair value, if not other than temporary, are included in other
comprehensive income.

During 2003 the Company recognized realized losses of $289,000 related to other than temporary impairments.

The Company reviewed its investments at December 31, 2003, and determined no additional other than temporary

impairment exists in the gross unrealized holding losses, as provided in the table below, due to the evidence that exists

indicating temporary impairment. At December 31, 2003, there were no investments reflected in the table below with an
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unrealized holding loss that had a fair value significantly below cost continually for more than one year. There are no
individually material securities with an unrealized holding loss at December 31, 2003.

The following table provides detailed information on the Company’s investment portfolio for its gross unrealized
gains and losses, adjusted for investments with other than temporary impairment at December 31, 2003:

(dolfars in thousands) Gross Gain Gross Loss

Cost or unrealized number unrealized number
December 31, 2003 amortized holding of holding of Fair
Investment Category cost gains positions losses positions Value

Fixed Maturities
U.S. Treasury securities &

obligations $ 366,513 7,984 98 1,801 24 372,696
States & political subdivisions 676,468 46,485 333 596 17 722,357
Corporate securities 98,637 6,807 44 86 2 105,358
Mortgage-backed securities of

U.S. Government Agencies 217,959 4,726 _58 1,684 24 221,001

Total fixed maturities 1,359,577 66,002 533 4,167 67 1421,412
Equity Securities
Technologies 10,270 2,346 7 - - 12,616
Pharmaceuticals 17,692 2,095 7 661 3 19,126
Financial services 36,086 5,166 18 323 5 40,929
Manufacturing & other 56,977 10,176 36 567 _8 66,586

Total equity securities 121,025 19,783 68 1,551 16 139,257
Other invested assets 9,485 164 1 6 i\ 9,643

Total $1,490,087 85,949 002 2,724 84 1,570,312

The amortized cost and fair value of fixed maturities at December 31, 2003, by contractual maturity, are
summarized as follows:

Amortized Fair

(in thousands) Cost Value
Due in 1 year or less $3,796 3,966
Due after 1 year through 5 years 44,395 47,213
Due after 5 years through 10 years 326,563 341,483
Due after 10 years 771,941 812,961

Subtotal 1,146,695 1,205,623
Mortgage-backed securities 212,882 215,789

Total $ 1,359,577 1,421,412

Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities as the issuers may have the right to call or prepay the
obligations with or without cali or prepayment penalties.

Included in the 2003 realized losses of equity securities below, was $289,000 recognized related to other than
temporary impairment on four equity positions, of which all four equity positions were held at December 31, 2003.
Included in the 2002 realized losses of equity securities below, was $2.2 million ($329,000 on equity securities soid and
$1.9 million on equity securities held at December 31, 2002) recognized related to other than temporary impairment on
five equity positions. The decline in the amount of other than temporary impairments from 2002 reflects the stock
market recovery in 2003 and the Company’s conservative investment strategy to invest for return while managing its
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principal loss risk. There were no individually material equity securities for which the Company recognized other than
temporary impairments in 2003 and 2002. There was no other than temporary impairment of fixed maturities for 2003
and 2002. The individual circumstances impacting the other than temporary impairments recognized in 2003 and 2002
did not impact other investments.

The securities sold during 2003 and 2002, were sold to either recognize the gain available, to dispose of the
security because of the Company’s opportunity to invest in securities with greater potential return considering capital
- preservation, or to reposition the taxable/tax-exempt fixed maturity position of the Company.

Realized gains and losses are summarized as follows:

(in thousands) Realized Fair Value
For the year ended December 31, 2003 Gains/Losses at Sale
Realized gains:
Fixed maturities $12,147 261,079
Equity securities 723 2,758
‘Total realized gains 12,870 263,837
Realized losses:
Fixed maturities 278 14,267
Equity securities 1,969 3,375
Total realized losses 2,247 17,642
Net realized gains on investments ' $10,623 281,479
Market Risk
Investments

At December 31, 2003 total investments at fair value comprise approximately 86% of the Company’s total assets.
Of the total investments, 90% are invested in fixed maturities, 9% in equity securities, 1% in other invested assets, Cash
and cash equivalents represent approximately 2% of the Company’s total assets at December 31, 2003.

The Company’s decision to make a specific investment is influenced primarily by the following factors: (a)
investment risks; (b) general market conditions; (c) relative valuations of investment vehicles; (d) general market interest
rates; (e) the Company’s liquidity requirements at any given time; and (f) the Company’s current federal income tax
position and relative spread between after tax yields on tax-exempt and taxable fixed income investments.

The fixed maturity portfolio is managed in a laddered-maturity style and considers business mix and liability
payout patterns to ensure adequate cash flow to meet claims as they are presented. At December 31, 2003, the
Company’s fixed maturity portfolio had an average maturity of 9.5 years. For the insurance subsidiaries, the maximum
investment in any single note or bond is limited to 5.0% of statutory assets, other than obligations of the U.S.
government or government agencies, for which there is no limit. As indicated in the table above, the fixed maturity
portfolio is of high quality with all holdings in either Government obligations, municipal, or corporate obligations. The
Company does not intend to change its investment policy on the quality of its fixed maturity investments. Investments in
equity securities are selected based on their potential for appreciation as well as ability to continue paying dividends.
Additional information regarding the composition of investments, along with maturity schedules regarding investments in
fixed maturities at December 31, 2003, is presented in tabular form above.

The Company’s primary market risk exposures are to changes in market prices for equity securities and changes
in interest rates and credit ratings for fixed maturity securities. Related to the Company’s investment portfolio, the
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Company has no exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk nor does it rely on the use of derivative financial
instruments. To provide the Company greater flexibility in order to manage its market risk exposures, the Company
categorizes its fixed maturities as available for sale. Also, the Company does not maintain a trading portfolio.

The Company’s total investments at fair value grew approximately 23% during 2003 to $1,570.3 million at
December 31, 2003 from $1,272.3 million at December 31, 2002. This growth was generated primarily from cash flow
provided by operations and financing, and an increase in the unrealized gains on equity securities partly offset by a
decrease in the unrealized gain on fixed maturity securities.

The equity markets increased in 2003 after declining during 2002 and 2001, the first two year decline since the
1973 and 1974 bear markets. The Company’s equity portfolio net unrealized gain increased $20.3 million to $18.2 million
net unrealized gain at December 31, 2003 from a net unrealized loss position of $2.1 million at December 31, 2002.

During 2003 the fixed maturity fair values decreased as the interest rate environment fluctuated. The Company’s
fixed maturity portfolio net unrealized gain decreased $5.6 million to $61.8 million net unrealized gain at December 31,
2003 from $67.4 million net unrealized gain at December 31, 2002.

The following table provides information about the Company’s fixed maturity investments used for purposes other
than trading that are sensitive to changes in interest rates. The table presents principal cash flows from maturities,
anticipated calls and estimated prepayments, or pay downs from holdings in asset backed securities. The table also
presents the average interest rate for each period presented.

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT MATURING IN:
(dollars in thousands)
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 Thereafter Total Fair Value

Fixed interest
rate securities $9,409 5155 12,528 6,360 19,953 1,284,620 1,338,025 $1,421,412

Average
Interest rate 7.22% 8.51 6.95 6.75 5.43 5.72%

Notes Payable and Hedge
At December 31, 2003, the Company’s notes payable and hedge are summarized as follows:
December 31, 2003

(dollars in thousands) Carrying Fair Interest
Value Value Rate

Senior notes due 2013: issued $100,000, November

2003 with fixed interest $100,256 100,512 6.25%
Subordinated debentures due 2033: issued
$15,464, May 2003 with variable interest adjusting
quarterly 15,464 15,464 5.37%
Affiliate note payable due on demand prior to
December 31, 2005: issued $45,500, June 1999

with variable interest adjusting annually 45,500 45,500 I 2.50%
Total Notes Payable $161,220 161,476 -

Hedge due 2013: notional amount issued $50,000,
November 2003, swaps fixed interest for variable
interest adjusting quarterly (asset) $ 485 485 2.47%
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Related to the Company’s notes payable and fair value hedge, the Company’s primary market risk exposure is to
the change in interest rates and its credit rating. Based upon the notes payable cost at December 31, 2003, including the
effect of the hedge, the Company has $110.9 million notes payable with variable interest and $560.0 million notes payable
with interest fixed at 6.25%, which equates to approximately 69% variable interest debt and 31% fixed interest debt.
The Company’s decision to obtain fixed versus variable interest rate debt is influenced primarily by the following factors:
(a) current market interest rates (b) anticipated future market interest rates (c) availability of fixed versus variable
interest instruments and (d) its currently existing notes payable fixed and variable interest rate position. As noted above,
the Company’s notes payable mature staggered over the next 30 years due $45.5 million in 2005, $100.0 mitlion in 2013
and $15.5 million in 2033.

Losses and Loss Expenses Payable

The Company's management conducts periodic reviews of loss development reports and makes judgments in
determining the reserves for ultimate losses and loss expenses payable. Several factors are considered by management
in estimating ultimate liabilities including consistency in relative case reserve adequacy, consistency in claims settiement
practices, recent legal developments, historical data, actuarial projections, accounting projections, exposure growth,
current business conditions, catastrophe developments, late reported claims, entry errors, and other reasonableness
tests.

Management’s best estimate ("MBE") for SA National, Mid-Plains and the STFC Pooled Companies share of the
Pooled Companies loss and allocated loss adjustment expense teserve (“Loss and ALAE Reserve”) at December 31,
2003, is $654 million compared with an actuarial point estimate of $647 million that is within a projected range of $617
million to $678 million. The actuarial point estimate and MBE are not materially different. These values presented are on
a direct basis, gross of salvage and subrogation recoverable, and before reinsurance, except for the STFC Pooled
Companies participation in the inter-company Pooling Arrangement. Therefore these values cannot be compared to other
loss and loss expenses payable tables included elsewhere within the Company’s Form 10-K. Ranges provide a
quantification of the variability in the reserve projections, while the point estimates establish a mean, or expected value
for the ultimate reserve. The MBE of loss reserves considers the actuary’s point estimate, or expected value, to be a
reasonable and appropriate position within the range. The following table provides a reconciliation of MBE of the
Company’s direct Loss and ALAE Reserve to the Company’s net loss and loss expenses payable at December 31, 2003.
The STFC Pooled Companies net additional share of transactions assumed from Mutual through the Pooling Arrangement
for the year 2003 has been reflected in the table below as Assumed by STFC Pooled Companies:

For the year 2003 and at December 31, 2003

Direct Loss and ALAE Reserve ¢ (in thousands)
STFC Pooled Companies, Nationa! and Mid-Plains $332,903
Assumed by STFC Pooled Companies 321,378

Total direct loss and ALAE reserve 654,281

Direct unallocated loss adjustment expense ("ULAE™) (V;

STFC Pooled Companies, National and Mid-Plains 19,435
Assumed by STFC Pooled Companies 18,224

Total direct ULAE 37,659

Direct salvage and subrogation recoverable:

STFC Pooled Companies, National and Mid-Plains (16,671)
Assumed by STFC Pocled Companies (10,115)

Total direct salvage and subrogation recoverable (26,786)

Reinsurance recoverable (14,236)

Assumed reinsurance 3,457

Reinsurance assumed by STFC Pooled Companies (25,592)

Total losses and loss expenses payable, net of reinsurance
recoverable on losses and loss expenses payable of $14,236 $628,783
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() ALAE are those costs that can be related to a specific claim, which may include attorney fees, external claims
adjusters, and investigation costs, among others. ULAE are those costs incurred in settling claims, such as in-house
processing costs, for which no identification can be made to specific claims. ALAE and ULAE comprise the loss expense
portion of the total loss and loss expenses payable.

The risks and uncertainties inherent in the estimates include, but are not limited to, actual settlement experience
being different from historical data and trends, changes in business and economic conditions, court decisions creating
unanticipated liabilities, ongoing interpretation of policy provisions by the courts, inconsistent decisions in lawsuits
regarding coverage and additional information discovered before settlement of claims. The Company's results of
operations and financial condition could be impacted, perhaps significantly, in the future if the ultimate payments required
to settle claims vary from the liability currently recorded.

In the preceding paragraphs the Company has offered a description of certain factors management considers in
estimating the ultimate liability for losses and loss expenses. With respect to the auto line of business, which represents
almost half of the Company’s total reserves, perhaps the most significant external variabie is legal developments. As
discussed in “Impact of Significant External Factors” below, court decisions have a significant impact on the property and
casualty insurance industry. Some of these decisions have a more prospective effect as, for example, when contract
provisions relating to third party coverages are construed in ways not anticipated by the Company. Other court decisions
may have more of a retroactive effect which may be seen more clearly in the auto insurance line. Auto insurance tends
to be a line of business more regulated by statutes; consequently, the courts tend to have more of an opportunity to
construe and apply those statutes to existing contracts. Uninsured motorists and underinsured motorists (collectively
“UM") are statutory coverages in almost every state where the Company does business. When courts of appeal construe
UM statutes adversely to the Company and the industry, the effect of that decision is typically retroactive, because,
legally speaking, when the court interprets a statute it is as though the statute was always construed in the manner that
the court determined. This retroactive effect is exacerbated in UM cases (and other first party coverage cases) because
the statute of limitations applicable to UM claims and other first party coverages can be as long as 15 years. Claims that
had been closed or not even presented, going back as long as fifteen years, can be re-born by an adverse court decision.
The Company considers the impact of adverse court decisions of which it has become aware when it sets ultimate loss
and LAE reserves for auto insurance as well as other lines to the extent those lines may be retroactively affected by such
matters.

The effect of court decisions is also apparent in the commercial lines of coverages such as commercial multi-peril
and other liability and products liability. Courts can expand coverage or void exclusions which can increase the
Company’s exposure to claims. Some of these third party claims may still be brought within the statute of limitations
applicable to such third party claims and expose the Company to some retroactive liabilities. These liabilities are sought
to be addressed by the ultimate loss and LAE reserve that is the Company’s estimate of loss and loss expenses payable.

It is not feasible to quantify the impact of judicial decisions by the courts that may have retroactive effect
because the Company cannot foresee, among the range of issues that are litigated every day in courts in each state in
which the Company does business, which cases will be decided adversely and how such decisions will actually apply to
the Company.
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The following table presents the loss and loss expenses payable by major line of business at December 31, 2003
and 2002, respectively:

%
(dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 Change
Automobile — personal standard $185,441 181,778 2.0%
Automobile - personal nonstandard 37,818 35,270 7.2
Automobile — commercial 80,739 72,800 10.9
Homeowners and farmowners 39,463 45,850 (13.9)
Commercial multi-peril . 89,209 77,018 15.8
Workers compensation 81,696 77,801 5.0
Fire and allied lines 14,338 14416  (0.5)
Other liability and products liability 95,720 80,539  18.8
Miscellaneous personal & commercial lines ' 4,359 6,661 (34.6)
Total losses and loss expenses payable, net of reinsurance recoverable on
losses and loss expenses payable of $14,236 and $8,825, respectively $628,783 592,133 6.2%

Total net losses and loss expenses payable increased 6.2% at December 31, 2003 from 2002 which is consistent
with the total earned premium increase of 7.1% during 2003 from 2002. Specifically, 2002 was a growth year for both
written premium, along with exposure count, within the commercial lines of business. With this increased growth, the
Company experienced more loss activity in 2003 which resulted in commensurate reserve growth throughout 2003. The
current year development of the prior years’ ultimate liability does not refiect any changes in the Company's fundamental
claims reserving practices.

A tabular presentation of the current year $1.8 million development broken down by accident year is shown
below derived from the Company's 2002 and 2003, 10 year loss development tables, as presented in the Reserves section
of the Company's Form 10-K, “Narrative Description of Business” section. The development is measured in dollars and as
a percentage of the total December 31, 2003 net loss and loss expense payable:

Current year Percentage of
development 12/31/2003
of ultimate liability  total net loss and
Accident redundancy loss expenses
year (deficiency) payable
(aollars in thousands)

1993 and prior $(4,978) {0.84)%
1994 (1,189) (0.20)
1995 8,547 1.44
1996 (8,873) (1.50)
1997 (2,502) (0.42)
1998 621 0.10
1999 1,986 0.34
2000 (2,979) (0.50)
2001 (4,086) (0.69)
2002 15,240 2.57
Total $1,787 0.30%

In management’s opinion, the 0.30% current year development, given the breakdown by accident year, is well
within normal expectations for reserve development and claim settlement uncertainty.
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Contractual Obligations

At December 31, 2003, the Company had the following contractual obligations:

Less More
than 1 1-3 3-5 than 5
At December 31, 2003 Total year years years  years
{in thousands)
Senior notes due 2013: issued $100,000,
November 2003 with fixed interest $100,000 - - - 100,000
Subordinated debentures due 2033: issued
$15,464, May 2003 with variable interest
adjusting quarterly 15,464 - - - 15,464
Affiliate note payable due on demand prior to
December 31, 2005: issued $45,500, June 1999
with variable interest adjusting annually 45,500 - 45,500 - -
Total Notes Payable $161,220 - 45,500 - 115,464

Lease and other purchase obligations are allocated to the Company through the Pooling Arrangement.
New Accounting Standards

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition and
Disclosure, an amendment of SFAS Statement No. 123 Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. This Statement
provides alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-
based compensation. In addition, this Statement requires more prominent disclosures in both the annual and interim
financial statements about the method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the
method used on reported results. The Company has adopted the disclosure provisions of this Statement and will adopt a
transition method at the time when the FASB issues final guidance that is required to be adopted.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities ("FIN 46"),
which requires the consolidation of certain entities considered to be variable interest entities ("VIES"). An entity is
considered to be a VIE when it has equity investors who lack the characteristics of having a controlling financial interest,
or its capital is insufficient to permit it to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support.
Consolidation of a VIE by an investor is required when it is determined that the investor will absorb a majority of the
VIE's expected losses if they occur, receive a majority of the entity’s expected residual returns if they occur, or both. As a
result of the Company adopting FIN 46, effective July 1, 2003, the financial operations of STFC Capital Trust 1, the
Company's Delaware business trust subsidiary (see “Liquidity and Capital Resource” above), are no longer consolidated
within the accompanying financial statements of the Company. The net impact of the adoption of FIN 46, effective July
1, 2003, was a reclassification adjustment to eliminate the Capital Trust’s capital securities of $15.0 million from notes
payable and include State Auto Financial’s investment of $464,000 in the common securities of Capital Trust in other
invested assets and include $15.5 million principal amount of Floating Rate Junior Subordinated Debt Securities issued to
the Capital Trust in notes payable.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with the Characteristics
of Both Liabilities and Equity, effective for reporting periods after July 1, 2003. This Statement establishes standards for
classifying and measuring as liabilities certain financial instruments that embody obligations of the issuer and have
characteristics of both liabilities and equity. The Company adopted this statement effective July 1, 2003 with no
significant impact to the consolidated financial statements.
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Impact of Significant External Factors

Inflation can have a significant impact on property and casualty insurers because premium rates are established
before the amount of losses and loss expenses are known. When establishing rates, the Company attempts to anticipate
increases from inflation subject to the limitations of modeling economic variables. General inflation, as measured by the
CPI, has been relatively modest over the iast several years; however, price inflation on the goods and services purchased
by insurance companies in settling claims has been steadily increasing. In particular, repair costs for homes, autos, and
commercial buildings, and medical care costs, have risen disproportionately over the last few years. The Company
continues to adjust its pricing projections as loss cost trends change in order to ensure premiums keep pace with inflation
in all lines of business.

The Company considers inflation when estimating liabilities for losses and loss expenses, particularly for claims
having a long period between occurrence and settlement. The liabilities for losses and loss expenses are management’s
best estimates of the ultimate net cost of underlying claims and expenses and are not discounted for the time value of
money. In times of high inflation, the normally higher yields on investment income may partially offset potentially higher
claims and expenses.

The Company is also affected by court decisions. Premium rates are actuarially determined to enable an
insurance company to generate an underwriting profit. These rates contemplate a certain level of risk. The courts may
modify, in @ number of ways, the level of risk which insurers had expected to assume including eliminating exclusions,
multiplying limits of coverage, creating rights for policyholders not intended to be included in the contract and interpreting
applicable statutes expansively to create obligations on insurers not originally considered when the statute was passed.
Courts have also undone legal reforms passed by legislatures, which reforms were intended to reduce a litigant’s rights of
action or amounts recoverable and so reduce the costs borne by the insurance mechanism. These court decisions can
adversely affect an insurer’s profitability. They also create pressure on rates charged for coverages adversely affected
and this can cause a legislative response resulting in rate suppression that can adversely affect an insurer. The Company
may also be adversely affected by regulatory actions on matters within the jurisdiction of the various insurance
departments where the Company does business or has entities domiciled.

After credit scoring, the industry’s use of which has been limited to varying extents by certain states’ laws, the
next most predictive underwriting report available to insurers is previous loss information. Third party vendors obtain loss
information. from insurers based on the insured, the vehicle and/or the property location. As insurers write new business
the database is accessed to analyze any loss.experience of the insured, vehicle and/or property location. Many times
insurer’s premium rates will be adjusted to reflect the loss experience accessed from these databases. In some cases the
overall acceptability of the insured’s application in the standard market may be determined by these reports. During 2002
and 2003, use of this loss information database product by the insurance industry as a predictive underwriting tool has
been challenged by several west coast states and most recently in a few of the Company’s states of operation. While it is
too soon to determine states’ reaction to the utilization of these database systems, any restrictive regulation of the full
use of these underwriting reports could have an adverse impact on the Company as it has utilized these database
systems for several years as an underwriting tool. Since such regulation is applicable to all companies writing business
which utilize these reports, the Company does not expect to suffer a competitive disadvantage.

The impact of Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 is continuing to be felt, as the Securities and Exchange Commission
("SEC™) implements regulatory changes to meet the obligations imposed on it by Congress. Certain deadlines have been
extended by the SEC which may mitigate the cost of compliance to a limited extent. In addition to complying with the
SEC and Congressional mandates, State Auto Financial also has to comply with new listing standards of the National
Association of Securities Dealers ("NASD") recently approved by the SEC, which will contribute to an increase in expenses.

The Terrorism Risk Insurance Act of 2002 (the "Terrorism Act") established a temporary federal program that
provides for a system of shared public and private compensation for insured losses resulting from acts of terrorism
committed by or on behalf of a foreign interest. In order for a loss to be covered under the Terrorism Act, it must be the
result of an event that is certified as an act of terrorism by the U.S. Secretary of Treasury (“subject losses™). In the case
of a war declared by Congress, only workers' compensation losses are covered by the Terrorism Act. The Terrorism
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Insurance Program (the "Program") generally requires that all commercial property casualty insurers licensed in the U.S.
participate in the Program. The amount of compensation paid to participating insurers under the Program is 90% of
subject losses, after an insurer deductible, subject to an annual cap that limits the amount of subject losses to $100
billion aggregate per program year. The Company's deductible under this federal Program is approximately $22.3 million
for 2004, subject to final rules to be established by the U.S. Treasury. Under the Terrorism Act, commercial property and
casualty insurers must offer their commercial policyholders coverage against certified acts of terrorism, but the
policyholders may choose to reject this coverage. If the policyholder rejects coverage for certified acts of terrorism, the
Company intends, subject to the approval of the state regulators, to cover only such acts of terrorism that are not
certified acts under the Terrorism Act and that do not arise out of nuclear, biological or chemical agents.

Trends and Uncertainties

Company management has identified certain trends and uncertainties that have the potential to significantly
affect the Company and the property and casualty insurance industry:

Increasing price competition

Declining investment rate of return

Volatile investment market

Increasing frequency and severity of storm losses, including catastrophes

Increasing health care cost

Increasing consolidation of the property and casualty insurance industry

Changing product distribution channels

New and changing insurance risks such as asbestos, mold, silica and acts of terrorism
Business continuity planning

Company management considers these trends and uncertainties, and others, in the management of the
Company operations. Increasing price competition can have the effect of decreasing the rate of growth of earned
premiums, if not decreasing earned premiums, as the Company’s underwriting philosophy does not permit risk selection
at a price below which management believes is adequate. The declining investment rate of return can decrease the rate
of growth of, investment income as well as decrease, investment income and net income, as the Company invests for an
adequate return with a focus on principal preservation risk. The volatile investment market and related investment
valuation can affect the insurers’ statutory surplus as the fair value of investments fluctuate. The increasing frequency
and severity of storm losses and increasing health care costs can have the effect of increasing losses and decreasing
operating profits. Management considers these trends and uncertainties in the writing and pricing of policies. Because
of the Company’s growth and planned greater geographic dispersion of risk, the loss ratio point impact of recent
catastrophes has not been as severe as catastrophe losses several years ago that had fewer loss dollars associated with
them. There continues to be consolidation within the property and casualty insurance industry which can increase
competition by creating insurance companies with more resources and capital. As demonstrated over the years, the
Company has acquired and successfully integrated insurance companies in the past and considers acquisition
opportunities as they arise. The Company believes acquisitions will be an important part of its growth strategies.
Company management also monitors the changing product distribution channels, along with its changing relationships
with agencies and consolidation occurring within the agency distribution system itself. The Company remains committed
to cultivating strong relationships with its agencies and to selling insurance products through the independent agency
system. The Company considers the expanding scope of insurance risks, such as asbestos, mold, silica and acts of
terrorism, in its pricing, writing of policies and drafting policy forms. The Company established a business continuity plan
to ensure the continuation of core business operations in the event that normal business operations could not be
performed. Management will continue to assess the business continuity plan to ensure it meets the Company’s changing
core business operations needs. Overall, the Company considers one of its key strengths o be its core values which are
to (i) fairly price and ethically sell useful insurance products; (ii) treat every transaction with absolute honesty and
integrity; (iii) extend dignity and respect to everyone; (iv) encourage innovation; and (v) fully utilize every person’s
talents. These core values, which reflect the “tone at the top,” serve the interests of all the Company’s constituencies.
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As discussed above, there was particular emphasis throughout 2003, 2002 and 2001 on improving the former
Meridian Mutual book of business. The Company believes its underwriting and pricing discipline, as well as its
commitment to delivering its products as effectively and efficiently as possible, have been key factors in the Company’s
underwriting results over the last several years. The Company remains active in the personal and commercial markets,
developing new products to enhance its product portfolio; appointing new agents in its operating territories; and refining
its pricing levels for the markets and lines of business. the Company believes offer the most profit potential.

Forward-Looking Statements; Certain Factors affecting Future Results

Statements contained in this Form 10-K or any other reports or documents prepared by the Company or made by
management may be “forward-looking” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such
forward-looking statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause the Company’s actual results to
differ materially from those projected. Forward-looking statements may be identified, preceded by, followed by, or
otherwise include, without limitation, words such as “plans,” “believes,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “estimates,” or
similar expressions. The following factors, among others, in some cases have affected and in the future could affect the
Company’s actual financial performance.

® The Company maintains loss reserves to cover its estimated ultimate unpaid liability for losses and loss
expenses with respect to reported and unreported claims incurred as of the end of each accounting period.
Reserves do not represent an exact calculation of liability, but instead represent estimates, generally using
actuarial projection techniques at a given accounting date. The Company refines reserve estimates in a
regular ongoing process as historical loss experience develops and additional claims are reported and settled.
The Company records adjustments to reserves in the resuits of operations for the periods in which the
estimates are changed. Because establishing reserves is an inherently uncertain process involving estimates,
currently established reserves may not be adequate. If the Company concludes that estimates are incorrect
and reserves are inadequate, the Company is obligated to increase its reserves. An increase in reserves
results in an increase in losses and a reduction in the Company’s net income for the period in which the
deficiency in reserves is identified. Accordingly, an increase in reserves could have a material adverse effect
on the Company’s results of operations, liquidity, and financial condition.

® The Company’s insurance operations expose it to claims arising out of catastrophic events. The Company has
experienced, and will in the future experience, catastrophe losses that may cause substantial volatility in the
Company’s financial results for any fiscal quarter or year and could materially reduce the Company’s
profitability or harm the Company’s financial condition. Catastrophes can be caused by various natural
events, including hurricanes, hailstorms, windstorms, earthquakes, explosions, severe winter weather, and
fires, none of which are within the Company’s control. The extent of losses from a catastrophe is a function
of both the total amount of insured exposture in the area affected by the event and the severity of the event.
The geographic distribution of the Company’s business subjects it to catastrophe exposure from hailstorms
and earthquakes in the Midwest as well as catastrophe exposure from hurricanes in Florida and the Gulf
Coast, southern coastal states, and Mid-Atlantic regions. Catastrophe losses can vary widely and could
significantly exceed the Company’s recent historic results. The frequency and severity of catastrophes are
inherently unpredictable.

® The Company uses reinsurance to help manage its exposure to insurance risks. The availability and cost of
reinsurance are subject to prevailing market conditions, both in terms of price and available capacity, which
can affect the Company’s business volume and profitability. Although the reinsurer is liable to the Company
to the extent of the ceded reinsurance, the Company remains liable as the direct insurer on all risks
reinsured. As a result, ceded reinsurance arrangements do not eliminate the Company’s obligation to pay
claims. The Company is subject to credit risk with respect to the Company’s ability to recover amounts due
from reinsurers. Reinsurance may not be adequate to protect the Company against losses and may not be
available to the Company in the future at commercially reasonable rates. In addition, the magnitude of
losses in the reinsurance industry resulting from catastrophes may adversely affect the financial strength of
certain reinsurers, which may result in the Company’s inability to collect or recover reinsurance.

72

\




STATE AUTO FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
(a majority-owned subsidiary of State Automobile Mutual Insurance Company)

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, Continued

® Insurance companies are subject to financial strength ratings produced by external rating agencies. Higher
ratings generally indicate financial stability and a strong ability to pay claims. Ratings are assigned by rating
agencies to insurers based upon factors that they believe are relevant to policyholders. Ratings are important
to maintaining public confidence in the Company and in its ability to market its products. A downgrade in the
Company’s financial stréngth ratings could, among other things, negatively affect the Company’s ability to sell
certain insurance products, the Company’s relationships with agents, new sales, and the Company’s ability to
compete.

® The Company markets its insurance products through independent, non-exclusive insurance agents, whereas
some of the Company’s competitors sell their insurance products through insurance agents who sell products
exclusively for one insurance company. If the Company is unsuccessful in attracting and retaining productive
agents to sell the Company’s insurance products, the Company’s sales and results of operations could be
adversely affected. The agents that market and sell the Company’s products also sell the Company’s
competitors' products. These agents may recommend the Company’s competitors’ products over the
Company’s products or may stop selling the Company’s products altogether. Additionally, the Company
competes with the Company’s competitors for productive agents, primarily on the basis of the Company’s
financial position, support services and compensation and product features.

® Mutual and the Company have acquired other insurance companies and it is anticipated that Mutual and the
Company will continue to pursue acquisitions of other insurance companies in the future. Acquisitions involve
numerous risks and uncertainties, including the following: obtaining necessary regulatory approvals of the
- acquisition may prove to be more difficult than anticipated; integrating the acquired business may prove to
be more costly or difficult than anticipated; integrating the acquired business without material disruption to
existing operations may prove to be more difficult than anticipated; anticipated cost savings may not be fully
realized (or not realized within the anticipated time frame) or additional or unexpected costs may be incurred;
loss results of the Company acquired may be worse than expected; and retaining key employees of the
acquired business may prove to be more difficult than anticipated. In addition, other companies in the
insurance industry have similar acquisition strategies. There can be no assurance that any future acquisitions
will be successfully integrated into the Company’s operations, that competition for acquisitions will not
intensify or that the Company will be able to complete such acquisitions on acceptable terms and conditions.
In addition, the costs of unsuccessful acquisition efforts may adversely affect the Company’s financial
performance.

® The Company's operations are subject to changes occurring in the legislative, regulatory and judicial
environment. Risks and uncertainties related to the legislative, regulatory, and judicial environment include,
but are not limited to, legislative changes at both the state and federal level; state and federal regulatory
rulemaking promulgations and adjudications that may affect the Company specifically, its affiliates or the
industry generally; class action and other litigation involving the Company, its affiliates, or the insurance
industry generally; and judicial decisions affecting claims, policy coverages and the general costs of doing
business. Many of these changes are beyond the Company’s control.

® The laws of the various states establish insurance departments with broad regulatory powers relative to
approving intercompany arrangements, such as management, pooling, and investment management
agreements, granting and revoking licenses to transact business, regulating trade practices, licensing agents,
approving policy forms, setting reserve requirements, determining the form and content of required statutory
financial statements, prescribing the types and amount of investments permitted and requiring minimum
levels of statutory capital and surplus.  In addition, although premium rate regulation varies among states
and lines of insurance, such regulations generally require approval of the regulatory authority prior to any
changes in rates. Furthermore, all of the states in which the State Auto Group transacts business have
enacted laws which restrict these companies’ underwriting discretion. Examples of these laws include
restrictions on agency terminations and laws requiring companies to accept any applicant for automobile
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insurance and laws regulating underwriting “tools.” These laws may adversely affect the ability of the
insurers in the State Auto Group to earn a profit on their underwriting operations.

® The property and casualty insurance industry is highly competitive. While prices have generally increased in
some lines, the rate of increase has moderated and competition continues to be intense. The Company
competes with numerous insurance companies, many of which are substantially larger and have considerably
greater financial resources. The Company competes through underwriting criteria, appropriate pricing, and
quality service to the policyholder and the agent and through a fully developed agency relations program.
See "Marketing” in the "Narrative Description of Business” in Item 1 of the Company’s Form 10-K.

® The Company is subject to numerous other factors which affects its operations, including, without limitation,
the development of new insurance products, geographic spread of risk, fluctuations of securities markets,
economic conditions, technological difficulties and advancements, availability of labor and materials.in storm
hit areas, late reported claims, previously undisclosed damage, utilities and financial institution disruptions,
and shortages of technical and professional employees and unexpected challenges to the control of the
Company by Mutual.

Item 7(a). Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosures about Market Risk

“Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosures About Market Risk” is included in Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” under Market Risk.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The Consolidated Financial Statements, including the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and the Report
of Independent Auditors are as follows:
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Report of Independent Auditors

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
State Auto Financial Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of State Auto Financial
Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related
consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2003. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of State Auto Financial Corporation and
subsidiaries at December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the consolidated results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2003, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States.

/s/Ernst & Young LLP

Columbus, Ohio
February 20, 2004
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STATE AUTO FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

(a majority-owned subsidiary of State Automobile Mutual Insurance Company)

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except per share amount)

Assets
Fixed maturities, available for sale, at fair value (amortized cost $1,359,577

and $1,149,334, respecliVEIY) ... cirer e e e e e
Equity securities, available for sale, at fair value (cost $121,025 and $55,837, respectively)

Other invested assets, at fair value (amortized cost $9,485 and $1,857, respectively)

TOLA, IV ESETICIIES vt ttsiiisstessrestset s isasssantsestanstensesssnessesnsentstsisessstssstnssrnssenssssssvessiasss

Cash and Cash eqQUIVAIENTS .......evuvirrsriserirrers v eris s seisr e s sssss s s s s s s s s s s s s s e sses s s aessassasass
Deferred policy acqUISIEION COSES ..o e
Accrued investment income and Other @SSeLS......ccuvrivrriieriicviriie e e
DUE from affliate ..o ieviiicii e e e e
Net prepaid PeNSION EXPEMASE «.ivvuiier i reries i tieseretairter b s s trriars e s e rresasseasesarsas

Reinsurance recoverable on losses and loss expenses payable (affiliate $5,706

and $4,286, reSPECHIVEIY ) ..cuu i e e e
Prepaid reinsurance premiums (affiliate $3,906 and $3,997, respectively) ....ccoccveeiveiiniinnns
Current federal iINCOME TaXES. .. ucii it et e e st r st s a e e rnn s
Deferred federal INCOME L8XES. ..ttt e s e s e s er b s eneees

Property and equipment, at cost, net of accumulated depreciation of $4,448

aNd $3,915, reSPECHIVEIY ..uun i e e e e
T O A, BSSOLS cesvvtsstssstestrssirsesssssrsssisssissssssssssessassssesssesestssssistoersssscssssssssssssssnosssssirssnoss

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Losses and loss expenses payable (affiliate $303,894 and $303,960, respectively)............
Unearned premiums (affiliate $121,335 and $133,130, respectively)....ccccorverricnniiernienenne.
Notes payable (affiliates $60,964 and $60,500, respectively)....ccciieicieriiviiiieriennnnreenneens
Postretirement benefit liabilities......cooo i, e a et
CUrrent federal INCOME LaXES. . it i e iriii e errini et s s e s s s e e et v e e se et e s et e e e eerbn s e aes s erasnnnes
Deferred federal INCOME LAXES. . .iviiiriisieiiieriiersrtreeirerieesiersieesieasreas rrsrrasrrrerresarestenrrsnnse
L0 a1 1Yo 1= PP
DT o T 1 11 L 1< U SPP PP SS PP
TOUG JIADI S st sivtviirsisiseissesssssseses s asistsrststasesssessstsssrnsseesyessnmsusressinsnessnussransesssrnsssns

Stockholders’ equity:
Class A Preferred stock (nonvoting), without par value. Authorized 2,500 shares;

O ISSUET 1eutuitierensentie st esssensessesresstnsenstaessssntenstsssssssssssenressentenstssetsentonssorsirsnsens

Class B Preferred stock, without par value. Authorized 2,500 shares;

[ T0] TS ST 1o [P PP

Common stock, without par value. Authorized 100,000 shares; 44,164

and 43,525 shares issued, respectively, at stated value of $2.50 per share .........ccoouuee
Less 4,605 and 4,524 treasury shares, respectively, at Cost ......o.vvininiiiniininn,
Additional paid-in capital.................... PP UPR
Accumulated other comprenenSIVE INCOME ....viiiriiiiiiiiiccir v ecvctceriesesarereaiiveeseanieans
RetaiNed @arNINGS ....cvvreiiieeiireaie et st r e st
TOLa! SEOCKAOIIOIS EQUILY veevvemeeveeie ittt cetrcatctir s e e e st vsin s sssesesancnbsasacsenasesrssrnsen

Total iabilities and StOCKAOIGEI S CQUILY vuvvuveeiiieereeissessssssessessissssertiisssnsssssssnartosseasesirs

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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December 31

2003 2002
$1,421,412 1,216,698
139,257 53,710
9,643 1,908
1,570,312 1,272,316
40,005 96,048
87,099 77,886
52,436 50,788
- 14,210
51,415 46,690
14,236 8,825
8,434 7,695
238 -
- 5,796
12,492 12,741
$1,836,667 1,592,995
$643,019 600,958
404,341 377,990
161,220 75,500
74,250 66,763
- 745
2,008 -
8,619 7,270
919 -
1,294,376 1,129,226
110,410 108,815
(55,762) (54,249)
56,653 50,354
52,992 42,512
377,998 316,337
542,291 463,769
$1,836,667 1,592,995




STATE AUTO FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

(a majority-owned subsidiary of State Automobile Mutual Insurance Company)

Consolidated Statements of Income

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Earned premiums (ceded to affiliate $603,820, $506,777 and $432,168,
FESPECHIVEIY) 1eittii i e e e e e e
Net INVestmMEnt INCOME. . v e
Net realized gains on iNVESTMENTS ..o s
Other income (affiliates $3,733, $3,240 and $17,036, respectively)...........
TOLG FOVEINUES .vsesevesseseteisisaseessivsssesisssessasssnsssessinessessssssnssssiinsnsssionens

Losses and loss expenses (ceded to affiliate $387,643, $368,819 and
$303,931, respectively) .....cciv i
Acquisition and operating EXPENSES ........cuviririieriieriierrirerirc e seearesianaaes
Interest expense (affiliates $2,756, $2,333 and $2,275, respectively)........
Other BXPENSES .. iiiiiiiii it eee et s e e sea s st a s ae s s e s asnsnsasnses
TOUA] @XDEIISES c.eesivesieesseisiisssissiisssesssiessessinensriisnisasanssnisssenssonsnerininsnens

Income before federal iINCOME taXES.. . viviiriiiiiii e

Federal income tax expense (benefit):
LU /=] o | P PP
D= T A 1= o TR e ———
TOLa] 1ederal INCOME AXES......veieriieeesetieesesiesirssstesirassessivieserssisssssssinss

NEL INCOMIE 1ottt e s e r e s e bt r s et s e s s aer b e esbanssratnas
Earnings per common share:
BaSIC 1t e
[0 = O PP PP P OTRTPPPPPRPPN

Dividends paid per common share.......... [N

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

77

Year ended December 31

2003 2002 2001
$960,568 896,595 555,2(
64,625 59,691 47,37
10,623 5,909 1,9€
5,880 5,284 18,72
1,041,696 967,479 623,27
651,223 653,474 427,07
291,823 264,348 167,20
3,637 2,333 2,27
11,736 9,534 8,74
958,419 929,689 605,29
83,277 37,790 17,974
17,061 8,155 7,69¢
2,594 (7,360) (10,33¢
19,655 795 (2,636
$63,622 36,995 20,61F
$1.62 0.95 0.53
$1.58 0.93 0.52
1 $0.15 0.14 0.13




STATE AUTO FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
(a majority-owned subsidiary of State Automobile Mutual Insurance Company)

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

(in thousands)

Balance-Dacember 31, 2000

Net income

Unrealized gains on
investments, net of tax and
reclassification adjustment

Comprehensive income

Issuance of common stock

Tax benefit from stock options
exercised

Treasury shares acquired on
stock option exercises

Treasury shares acquired under
repurchase program

Stock options granted

Cash dividends paid

Balance-December 31, 2001

Net income

Unrealized gains on
investments, net of tax and
reclassification adjustment

Comprehensive income

Issuance of common stock

Tax benefit from stock options
exercised

Treasury shares acquired on
stock option exercises

Treasury shares acquired under
repurchase program

Stock options granted

Cash dividends paid

Balance-December 31, 2002

Net income

Unrealized gains on
investments, net of tax and
reclassification adjustment

Unrealized gain on derivative
used in cash flow hedge

Comprehensive income

Issuance of common stock

Tax benefit from stock options
exercised

Treasury shares acquired on
stock option exercises

Treasury shares acquired under
repurchase program

Stock options granted

Cash dividends paid

Balance-December 31, 2003

Common
Shares

42,626

Common
Stock

$106,564

Treasury
Shares

4,071

Treasury
Stock

($47,038)

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

 $44,208

Comprehensive

Accumulated
Other
Retained

Earnings
$262,008

Income

$20,317

Total

$386,059

419

1,049

12

25

(187)

(388)

1,604

1,140

154

20,615

(8,287)

(1,566)

20,615

(8,287)
12,328
2,653
1,140

(187)

(388)
154
(1,566)

43,045

$107,613

4,108

($47,613)

$47,106

$12,030 $281,057

$400,193

480

1,202

23

393

(375)

(6,261)

2,173

910

165

36,995

30,482

(1,715)

36,995

30,482
67,477

3,375
910
(375)
(6,261)

165
(1,715)

43,525

$108,815

4,524

($54,249)

$50,354

$42,512 $316,337

$463,769

639

’

1,595

36

45

(784)

(729)

3,863

2,130

306

63,622

9,676

804

(1,961)

63,622

9,676

804

74,102
5,458

2,130
(784)
(729)

306
(1,961)

44,164

$110,410

4,605

($55,762)

$56,653

$52,992 $377,998

$542,291

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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STATE AUTO FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
(a majority-owned subsidiary of State Automobile Mutual Insurance Company)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
N [ A oo 2T TR

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
Operating activities: '

Depreciation and amortization, net......ccoive i,
Net realized gains on INVESEMENES .....vvevviveiiieini e
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Deferred policy acquisition COStS......iiviiinivrrireiin i e
Accrued investment income and other assets ........cocciinieiniien
Net prepaid pension EXPENSE .....cciceiivrrieiiieie e reesans
Postretirement benefit liabilities.......cccceev e,
Reinsurance recoverable on losses and loss expenses
payable and prepaid reinsurance premiums..........ccoceveevneirennnnn.
Other liabilities and due to/from affiliates, net ........cccceeeiivevenninns
Losses and loss expenses payable .....ccocvvvveviicvieerinennneninineeena
Unearned premilmsS .. i i senrerns st sesinnsens
Federal iNnCoME taXS........vviriirii it a e
Cash provided from adding the former Meridian Mutual Insurance Company
business to the reinsurance pool, effective 7/1/01 ......ccvvvvieiiiiviiiiininenen.
Cash provided from the change in the reinsurance pool participation
percentage 10/1/01 .curviiiiiiiiiiiiriii e e e rea
Net cash provided by Operating aCtiVities ........ccovveriivrivisssimniisisimsinvissensnornens
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of fixed maturities — available for sale .........cccoeeerinnl,
Purchase of equity securities — available forsale ............ccceceeniin .
Purchase of other invested @ssetS........ceciiiiin i e

Maturities, calls and pay downs of fixed maturities — held to maturity ....
Maturities, calls and pay downs of fixed maturities — available for sale ...
Sale of fixed maturities — available for sale ........ccoooievrvicccinnniiennnan,
Sale of equity securities — available for sale ...........cooivcciiiicciiiicinnn,
Net additions of property and equipment.........ccoccccceviiiiinmrin i e,

Net cash used in INVESEING GCHVIEIES .......occceeveeriveeasierireresieessisscssicisisns
Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from issuance of COmMmON SLOCK .......cviviviivirisirreiiminenenrenens
Payments to acquire treasury SharesS.....cccovcviivivie e aen
Payment of dividends.......cieiiviiiiniiiniiniiii s s e s s s s aanns
Proceeds from issuance of debt .....vviicviiiirieiiiiriiiiie e
Dbt ISSUBNCE COSES vt
Payment of debt ......ccoviiiiiiiiii e
Cash flow hedge derivative settlement........cccccoeeiviiinniiiin e,

Year ended December 31

Net cash provided by financing 8CHVIIES ...........ccccevvereeerceeecsvvirrecaiirrieaarean e
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ...........ccoieeeeviinnecniinnnn.
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year........cccoeevvviiiriecniineeaens

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ..........cccciiiivivinnicci e,

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2003 2002 2001
$63,622 36,995 20,615
8,836 5,616 3,036
(10,623) (5,909) (1,962)
(9,213) (10,798) (4,735)
92 (10,054) (16,671)
(4,725) (3,346) (5,606)
7,487 9,526 1,396
(6,150) 2,353 (7,943)
16,478 (18,149) 11,273
42,061 77,097 47,693
26,351 48,494 21,919
3,743 (5,205) (14,139)

- - 6,380

- - 2,197
137,959 126,620 63,453
(566,067)  (507,626)  (246,269)
(72,568) (22,130) (16,437)
(7,618) (1,857) -

- 8,238 11,612

84,895 61,509 38,552
275,346 363,594 149,043
6,133 12,716 9,301
(311) (56) (1,056)
(280,190) (85,612)  (55,254)
4,674 3,000 2,466
(729) (6,261) (388)
(1,961) (1,715) (1,566)
115,464 30,000 -
(2,071) - -
(30,000) - -
811 - -
86,188 25,024 512
 (56,043) 66,032 8,711
96,048 30,016 21,305
$40,005 96,048 30,016




STATE AUTO FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
(a majority-owned subsidiary of State Automobile Mutual Insurance Company)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include State Auto Financial Corporation (State Auto Financial) and its wholly-
owned subsidiaries:

eState Auto Property and Casualty Insurance Company (State Auto P&C), a South Carolina corporation
«Milbank Insurance Company (Milbank), a South Dakota corporation

sFarmers Casualty Insurance Company (Farmers), an Iowa corporation

«State Auto Insurance Company of Ohio (SA Ohio), an Ohio corporation

«State Auto National Insurance Company (SA Naticnal), an Ohio corporation

«Stateco Financial Services, Inc. (Stateco), an Ohio corporation

oStrategic Insurance Software, Inc. (S.1.S.), an Ohio corporation.

Mid-Plains Insurance Company (Mid-Plains), an Iowa corporation, is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Farmers. The
financial statements also include the operations and financial position of 518 Property Management and Leasing, LLC (518
PML), whose members are State Auto P&C and Stateco.

State Auto Financial, an Ohio corporation, is a majority-owned subsidiary of State Automobile Mutual Insurance
Company (Mutual), an Ohio corporation. State Auto.Financial and subsidiaries are referred to herein as the "Companies”
or the “Company.” All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

(b) Description of Business

The Company, through State Auto P&C, Milbank, Farmers and SA Ohio, provides standard personal and commercial
insurance to its policyholders. The Company’s principal lines of business include personal and commercial automobile,
homeowners, commercial multi-peril, workers’ compensation, general liability and fire insurance. SA National and Mid-
Plains provide nonstandard automobile insurance. State Auto P&C, Milbank, Farmers, SA Ohio, SA National, and Mid-
Plains operate primarily in the central and eastern United States, excluding New York, New Jersey, and the New England
states, through an independent insurance agency system. State Auto P&C, Milbank, Farmers, SA Ohio, SA National and
Mid-Plains are chartered and licensed as property and casualty insurers in the states of South Carolina, South Dakota,
Iowa, Ohioc (SA Ohio and SA National) and Iowa, respectively, and are licensed in various other states. As such, they are
subject to the regulations of the applicable Departments of Insurance of their respective states of domicile (the
Departments) and the regulations of each state in which they operate. These property and casualty insurance companies
undergo periodic financial examination by the Departments and insurance regulatory agencies of the states that choose
“to participate.

Through State Auto P&C, the Company provides management and operation services under management agreements
for all insurance and non-insurance affiliates.

Through Stateco, the Company provides investment management services to affiliated companies.

The Company, through S.1.S., develops and sells software for the processing of insurance transactions, database
management for insurance agents and electronic interfacing of information between insurance companies and agencies.
S.I.S. sells services and products to affiliated companies and their agents and markets similar services and products to
nonaffiliated insurers and their agencies.

518 PML, an Ohio limited liability company, was formed to engage in the business of owning and leasing real and
personal property to the Company’s affiliates.

(c) Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States, which vary in certain respects from statutory accounting practices followed. by State Auto P&C,
Milbank, Farmers, SA Ohio, SA National and Mid-Plains that are prescribed or permitted by the Departments.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the balance sheet, revenues and expenses for the
period then ended and the accompanying notes to the financial statements. Such estimates and assumptions could
change in the future as more information becomes known which could impact the amounts reported and disclosed herein.
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G IATE AU TUY FLHNANCUIAL CURFURATLIUN AND ODUDJIUILIARICO
(a majority-owned subsidiary of State Automobile Mutual Insurance Company)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Continued

Material estimates that are particularly susceptible to significant change in the near term relate to the determination
of losses and loss expenses payable. In connection with the determination of this estimate, management uses historical
data and current business conditions to formulate estimates including assumptions related to the ultimate cost to settle
claims.

These estimates by their nature are subject to uncertainties for various reasons. The Company's results of operations
and financial condition could be impacted in the future should the ultimate payments required to settle claims vary from
the amount of the liability currently provided.

(d) Investments

At December 31, 2003 and 2002 all investments in fixed maturity and equity securities are held as available for sale
and therefore are carried at fair value. Other invested assets are comprised of limited liability partnership and other
investments that are carried at fair value. The unrealized holding gains or losses, net of applicable deferred taxes, are
shown as a separate component of stockholders’ equity as “accumulated other comprehensive income” and as such are
not included in the determination of net income. Effective December 31, 2002, the Company transferred all of its
investments previously classified as held to maturity to the available for sale category to align the investment portfolio
with management’s investment policy. For fixed maturities classified as held to maturity, unrealized holding gains or
losses were not reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements, rather they were carried at amortized
cost. Upon transfer of the held to maturity investments to available for sale at December 31, 2002, the held to maturity
investments’ amortized cost, fair value and net unrealized gain were $19.1 million, $20.4 million and $1.3 million,
respectively. Other comprehensive income of $828,000 net of deferred taxes of $446,000 was recoghized upon transfer.
Gains and losses on the sale of investments are computed using the first-in, first-out method. The Company regularly
monitors its investments that have fair value less than the carrying amount for signs of other than temporary impairment.
Among the factors that management considers are market conditions, the amount, timing and length of decline in fair
value, and events impacting the issuer. When other than temporary impairment is recognized, the investment cost is
written down to fair value and a realized loss is recorded. The cost is not adjusted for any subsequent recovery in fair
value. For 2003 and 2002, included in net realized gain on investments was $289,000 and $2.2 million, respectively, of
realized losses recognized due to other than temporary impairments.

(e) Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments with a maturity of three months or less to be cash
equivalents.

(f) Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs

Acquisition costs, consisting of commissions, premium taxes, and certain underwriting expenses related to the
production of property and casualty business, are deferred and amortized ratably over the contract period. The method
followed in computing deferred policy acquisition costs limits the amount of such deferred costs to their estimated
realizable value. In determining estimated realizable value, the computation gives effect to the premium to be earned,
losses and loss expenses to be incurred, and certain other costs expected to be incurred as premium is earned, without
credit for anticipated investment income. These amounts are based on estimates and accordingly, the actual realizable
value may vary from the estimated realizable value. Net deferred policy acquisition costs were:

Year ended December 31

2003 2002 2001
(in thousands)
Balance, beginning of year............. $77,886 67,087 32,458
Acquisition costs deferred.............. 253,455 235,139 143,651
Amortized to expense................... 244,242 224,340 109,022
Balance, end of year........cccccoe.u. $87,099 . 77,886 67,087
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(g) Federal Income Taxes

The Company files a consolidated federal income tax return, and pursuant to an agreement, each entity within the
consolidated group pays its share of federal income taxes based on separate return calculations.

Income taxes are accounted for using the liability method. Using this method, deferred tax assets and Ilabllltres are
determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured
using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse.

(h) Losses and Loss Expenses Payable

Losses and loss expenses payable are based on formula and case-basis estimates for reported claims, and on
estimates, based on experience and perceived trends, for unreported claims and loss expenses. The liability for unpaid
losses and loss expenses, net of estimated salvage and subrogation recoverable of $26.8 million and $27.1 million at
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, has been established to cover the estimated ultimate cost of insured losses.
The amounts are necessarily based on estimates of future rates of inflation and other factors, and accordingly there can
be no assurance that the ultimate liability will not vary from such estimates. The estimates are continually reviewed and
adjusted as necessary; such adjustments are included in current operations (see note 4). Salvage and subrogation
recoverables are estimated using historical experience. As such, losses and loss expenses payable represent
management’s best estimate of the ultimate liability related to reported and unreported claims.

(i) Other Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income is defined as all changes in an enterprise’s equity during a period other than those resultmg
from investments by owners and distributions to owners. Comprehensive income includes net income and other
comprehensive income.  Other comprehensive income includes all other non-owner related changes to equity and
represents net unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale fixed maturities, equity securities, other invested assets,
and derivative instruments.

Separate presentation of the accumulated balance of other comprehensive income within the equity section of the
statement of financial position is also required. The Company has presented the required displays of total comprehensive
income and its components, within the “Consoclidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity.” See additional disclosures at
note 14.

(j) Derivatives

As part of the Company’s management of its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates, during 2003 the Company
entered into interest rate swap agreements in connection with the issuance of its $100 million 6.25% senior notes. The
interest rate swap agreements are the only derivative contracts to which the Company is party and are accounted for in
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities, as amended. This Statement requires all derivatives to be recorded at fair value on the consolidated balance
sheet.

At the time a derivative contract is entered into, the Company formally documents and designates the derivative as
either a hedge of the fair value of a recognized asset or liability (fair value hedge) or a hedge of a forecasted transaction
or the variability of cash flows to be received or paid related to a recognized asset or liability (cash flow hedge). The
Company does not have any derivative contracts hedging foreign currencies or derivative contracts held for speculative
purposes. The Company formally assesses, both at the hedge's inception and on an ongoing basis, whether the
derivatives used for hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged
items. When it is determined that a derivative is not highly effective as a hedge or that it has ceased to be a highly
effective hedge, the Company discontinues hedge accounting prospectively,

Changes in fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges, to the extent effective, are recorded in net
unrealized gains/losses on derivatives, a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income. Amounts are
reclassified to earnings from accumulated other comprehensive income when the underlying hedged item impacts
earnings. Changes in fair value of derivatives designated as fair value hedges are recorded currently in earnings to the
extent the derivative was effective in offsetting changes in fair value of the hedged item.
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(k) Premium Revenues
Premiums are recognized as earned using the monthly pro rata method over the contract period.

(1) New Accounting Standards

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS Statement No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition
and Disclosure, an amendment of SFAS Statement No. 123 Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. This Statement
provides alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-
based compensation. In addition, this Statement requires more prominent disclosures in both the annual and interim
financial statements about the method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the
method used on reported results. The Company has adopted the disclosure provisions of this Statement and will adopt a
transition method at the time when a consistent fair value measurement and recognition provision is determined by the
FASB and is required to be adopted.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities ("FIN 46"), which
requires the consolidation of certain entities considered to be variable interest entities ("VIES"). An entity is considered to
be a VIE when it has equity investors who lack the characteristics of having a controlling financial interest, or its capital is
insufficient to permit it to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support. Consolidation of a VIE by
an investor is required when it is determined that the investor will absorb a majority of the VIE's expected losses if they
occur, receive a majority of the entity’s expected residual returns if they occur, or both. As a result of the Company
adopting FIN 46, effective July 1, 2003, the financial operations of STFC Capital Trust I, (the “Capital Trust”) the
Company’s Delaware business trust subsidiary (described in Note 7 below), are no longer consolidated within the
accompanying financial statements of the Company. The net impact of the adoption of FIN 46, effective July 1, 2003,
was a reclassification adjustment to eliminate the Capital Trust’s capital securities of $15.0 million from notes payable and
include State Auto Financial’s investment of $464,000 in the common securities of Capital Trust in other invested assets
and $15.5 million principal amount of Floating Rate Junior Subordinated Debt Securities issued to the Capital Trust in
notes payable.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with the Characteristics of
Both Liabilities and Equity, effective for reporting periods after July 1, 2003. This Statement establishes standards for
classifying and measuring as liabilities certain financial instruments that embody obligations of the issuer and have
characteristics of both liabilities and equity. The Company adopted this statement effective July 1, 2003 with no
significant impact to the consolidated financial statements.

(m) Reclassifications ‘

Certain items in the 2002 and 2001 consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the 2003

presentation.
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(2) Investments
Realized and unrealized gains and losses are summarized as follows:

Year ended December 31

2003 2002 2001
(in thousands)
Realized gains:
Fixed maturities available for sale ....c.ccovieviiie i $12,147 12,661 3,072
EQUItY SECUTHIES ..vvive e e e e e e 723 2,047 2,258
TOLA] FEA/IZEG GINS..evvvseeesesesssirevsaseistieesesisuessssassessesssisesssssssssessssissesssnissseres 12,870 14,708 5,330
Realized losses:
Fixed maturities available for sale ........covcvviin i e, 278 2,814 114
EQUILY SECUNTIES cuvviiii i e e e e enns 1,969 5,985 3,254
TOUG! 1@ ZOG J0SSCS. ... ceieivisvsisiisivistsesiiiisissisisivssessivsssisssessssssivsasisssesssssasins 2,247 8,799 3,368
Net realized gains On INVESEMENES .........occovevieiiiriseiiieisrs vttt eirrir v $10,623 5,909 1,962
Increase (decrease) in unrealized holding gains — Equity securities ...........c...... $20,359 (11,611) (4,608)
Increase (decrease) in unrealized holding gains — Fixed
maturities available for sale at fair value.........cc..ccooiiiiiii (5,529) 58,491 (8,134)
Increase in unrealized holding gains — Other invested assets........c.ovieieeeinn, 107 51 -
Change in deferred unrealized gain «.....covviricinrieii e (53) (35) (7)
Deferred federal income faxes thereon ......cccev i, (5,208) (16,414) 4,462
Unrealized gains on investments, net of tax reclassification adjustment............ 9,676 30,482 (8,287)
Derivative used in cash flow hedge 804 - -
Increase (decrease) in net unrealized holding gains or 10SS€S ..........cvvvvveviinnnn, $10,480 30,482 (8,287)
See footnote 1(e) regarding investments. The Company’s investments are summarized as follows:
Gross Gross
Cost or unrealized unrealized
amortized holding holding Fair
Available for sale at December 31, 2003: Cost gains losses value
(in thousands)
U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S.
government agenCi€S.....ovuvvurueererrirerieerensairernarseennns $366,513 7,984 1,801 372,696
Obligations of states and political subdivisions .......... 676,468 46,485 596 722,357
Corporate SeCUNteS.....cvivevivr i e 98,637 6,807 86 105,358
U.S. government agencies mortgage-backed securities 217,959 4,726 1,684 221,001
Total fixed maturities......cooevveieei e, 1,359,577 66,002 4,167 1,421,412
Equity securitieS........ccovii e, 121,025 19,783 1,551 139,257
Other invested assets .......ccivvviiiviiinivnn e 9,485 164 6 9,643
[ = OOy $1,490,087 85,949 5,724 1,570,312
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Gross Gross
Cost or unrealized unrealized
amortized holding holding Fair

Available for sale at December 31, 2002: Cost gains losses value
U.S Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. ,
government agenCies.........vivcuiererrerierarinrierninanereanes $ 214,809 11,016 132 225,693
Obligations of states and political subdivisions .......... 696,191 41,574 444 737,321
Corporate SeCUNLIES......vvviiiicr e, 128,631 10,453 72 139,012
U.S. government agencies mortgage backed securities 109,703 4,969 - 114,672

Total fixed Maturities........ccoivvievriiniieineenineennes 1,149,334 68,012 648 1,216,698
EQUity SECUNIES ...ivvvi i e 55,837 6,148 8,275 53,710
Other invested asselS ....ciiiviiiiireri e 1,857 51 - 1,908
TOLA! ovsvseieiitirsivrisissscasiessivissisasssssessisnsissssnesssisnnes $1,207,028 74,211 8,923 1,272,316

Deferred federal income taxes on the net unrealized holding gain for available for sale investments was $28.1 million

and $22.9 million at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

The following table shows the Company’s investments gross unrealized losses and fair value, aggregated by
investment category and length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position, at

December 31, 2003:

Description of
Securities

U.S. Treasury
securities and
obligations of U.S.

government agencies
Obligations of states

and political
subdivisions
Corporate securities
U.S. government
agencies mortgage
backed securities ..

Total fixed maturities

Equity securities ...
Total temporarily
impaired securities

Less than 12 months 12 months or more Total
Unrealized Number of Fair Unrealized Number of Fair Unrealized
Fair Value Losses Positions Value Losses Positions Value Losses
(in thousands, except number of positions)

$83,359 1,801 24 - - - 83,359 1,801
33,940 596 17 - - - 33,940 596
6,466 86 2 - - - 6,466 86
111,663 1,684 24 - - - 111,663 1,684
$235,428 4,167 67 - - - 235,428 4,167
12,595 281 _8 10,368 1,270 8 22,963 1,551
$248,023 4,448 5 10,368 1270 8 258391 5718

Number of
Positions

24

I3

Management concluded that none of the above unrealized losses are other than temporary. The process to support

this conclusion requires management to make material estimates.

See footnote 1(c) regarding material estimates.

Management believes the above fixed maturity and equity securities unrealized losses are not other than temporary as
the Company has the ability and intent to hold the investments for a period of time sufficient for a forecasted market
price recovery up to or beyond the cost of the investment. Also, in management’s opinion, evidence indicating the cost of
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the investment is recoverable within a reasonable period of time outweighs evidence to the contrary in considering the
severity and duration of the impairment in relation to the forecasted market price recovery.

The amortized cost and fair value of available for sale fixed maturities at December 31, 2003, by contractual maturity,
~are summarized as follows:

December 31, 2003
Amortized Fair
cost value

(in thousands)

DUE N 1 YA OF 1855 . uu i iiiiiii it er e ea e sarnns $3,796 3,966
Due after 1 year through 5 Years ......ccvveiieeviiiciiiiine i e 44,395 47,213
Due after 5 years through 10 years..........ccccciiiniiin i, 326,563 341,483
DUE afTEr 10 YRAIS 1iituiii i et ettt s it rra st r s e e eeenneen 771,941 812,961
Mortgage-backed SECUFTIES ...uvvvrivvreriies et veae 212,882 215,789

Total . $1,359,577 1,421,412

Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities because the issuers may have the right to call or prepay
the obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties. Fixed maturities with carrying values of approximately $49.4
million and $45.3 million were on deposit with regulators as required by law or specific escrow agreement at December
31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Components of net investment income are summarized as follows:

Year ended December 31
2003 2002 2001
(in thousands)

LD L0 BT 100 ] 1T TP $62,363 58,225 41,262
EQUItY SECUNLIES ..ovivvin i 1,686 1,146 996
Cash and cash equivalents, and other.........ccccovvvmvviirvvciniiriireiinssiienans 1,707 1,204 5,756
INVESIMENE [NICOME ....covecvivieiiiicssscrieeee e cesest v it v cats s e cvancianns 65,756 60,575 48,014
INVESEMENE EXPEMSES ..vui ittt st e e aa s 1,131 884 639
NEL [NVESEIMIENE JNICOMIE. cvevisessesisieesesiseseiressiisssssesssssisnasssoeserisesisneesires $64,625 59,691 47,375

The Company’s current investment strategy does not rely on the use of derivative financial instruments. See note 3
for additional fair value disclosures.

(3) Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The following methods and assumptions were used by the Company in estimating its fair value disclosures for
financial instruments: ‘ :

Investment securities: Fair values for investments in fixed maturities are based on quoted market prices,
where available. For fixed maturities not actively traded, fair values are estimated using values obtained from
independent pricing services. The fair values for equity securities are based on quoted market prices. The fair
value of other invested assets is based on equity or cash flow, as applicable. The investment securities fair
value adjustments are recorded in the consolidated financial statements.

Cash and cash equivalents: The carrying amounts reported in the balance sheets for these instruments
approximate their fair value, because of their short-term nature.
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Notes payable and interest swap: The Mutual note and Trust Preferred note (each as defined below)
carrying amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheets for these instruments approximate their fair value
as the interest rates adjust annually and quarterly, respectively. The $100.0 million, 6.25% senior notes have a
fair value at December 31, 2003 of $100.5 million, The financial statements reflect a $256,000 fair value
adjustment to the 6.25% senior notes which pertains to the hedged principal amount of $50.0 million. The
interest rate swap has a $485,000 ($256,000 related to debt and $229,000 related to accrued interest) fair
value at December 31, 2003. The financial statements reflect the fair value adjustments related to the interest

December 31, 2003

rate swap.
Carrying
Value

Fixed MatUrities uuviiinn s sscissaninsenens $1,421,412
EqUity SECUIES ...evvri i, 139,257
Other Invested ASSEtS....covoviviivierviie e, 9,643
Cash and Cash Equivalents.......ccoeeereeiinniiniiennnenn, 40,005
Notes Payable .........ccoiveeiiniiviiiccvreciee e, 161,220
Fair Value Hedge .......ccccvmmmiiemiinnnncniieniiaenneinnns $485

(4) Losses and Loss Expenses Payable

Fair
Value

December 31, 2002

Carrying
Value

(in thousands)

1,421,412
139,257
9,643
40,005
161,476
485

Activity in the liability for losses and loss expenses is summarized as follows:

Losses and loss expenses payable, at beginning of year........cccccvviennneen,
Less: reinsurance recoverable on losses and loss expenses payable ........
Net balance at beginning of year.........cccveviiei e

Incurred related to:
O =g 1o =T | U
PrIOr YIS, 1ttt e ey
Total INCUMTE...v e e s e s a s eaanae e s
Paid related to:
CUITENE YA ... iivecii et et st e e
PHIOr YBAIS. et
TOtal PAIA ..o e e e

Impact of adding the former Meridian Mutual Insurance Company to the
Pooling Arrangement, effective July 1, 2001 (note 6) .....cvvvevvvnnnnnn,

Impact of pooling change, October 1, 2001 (note 6)...c.cevvvvviiivriiiniinnnes
Net balance at end oOf YEar .....ccuvviieiiiiiiiii e
Plus: reinsurance recoverable on losses and loss expenses payable........

Losses and loss expenses payable, at end of year (affiliate
$303,893, $303,960 and $280,011, respectively ......ccccviieiinrrininnens
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1,216,698
53,710
1,908
96,048
75,500

Fair
Value

1,216,698
53,710
1,908
96,048
75,500

Year ended December 31

2003 2002 2001
(in thousands)

$600,958 523,860 244,583
8,825 13,919 7,930
592,133 509,941 236,653
653,010 641,060 366,348
(1,787) 12,414 60,726
651,223 653,474 427,074
370,731 349,733 240,508
243,842 221,549 144,862
614,573 571,282 385,370
- - 75,575
- - 156,009
628,783 592,133 509,941
14,236 8,825 13,919
$643,019 600,958 523,860
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The decrease of $1.8 million in 2003 and the increase of $12.4 million in 2002, for claims occurring in prior years is
well within normal expectations for reserve development and claim settlement uncertainty. The increase of $60.7 million
in 2001 for claims occurring in prior years is primarily the result of reserve strengthening on the former Meridian Mutual
business in order to bring these claim reserves in line with historic State Auto adequacy levels as well as ongoing analysis
of recent loss development trends.

(5) Reinsurance

In the ordinary course of business, the Company assumes and cedes reinsurance with other insurers and reinsurers
and is a member in various pools and associations. See Note 6(a) for discussion of reinsurance with affiliates. The
voluntary arrangements provide greater diversification of business and limit the maximum net loss potential arising from
large risks and catastrophes. Most of the ceded reinsurance is effected under reinsurance contracts known as treaties;
some is by negotiation on individual risks. Although the ceding of reinsurance does not discharge the original insurer from
its primary liability to its policyholder, the insurance company that assumes the coverage assumes the related liability.

Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in @ manner consistent with the claim liability associated with the
reinsured business. The recoverability of these assets depends on the reinsurers’ ability to perform under the reinsurance
agreements. The Company evaluates and monitors the financial condition and concentrations of credit risk associated
with its reinsurers under voluntary reinsurance arrangements to minimize its exposure to significant losses from reinsurer
insolvencies. The Company has reported ceded losses and loss expenses payable and prepaid reinsurance premiums with
other insurers and reinsurers as assets. All reinsurance contracts provide indemnification against loss or liability relating
to insurance risk and have been accounted for as reinsurance.

Prior to the reinsurance transaction with Mutual under the Pooling Arrangement, as discussed in note 6(a), the effect
of the Company’s reinsurance on its balance sheets and income statements, is as follows:

December 31
2003 2002
(in thousands)
Losses and loss expenses payable:

0= v $335,667 293,720
F U 0 =T [ PR PRt 3,458 3,278
CEABM ...t (8,529) (4,540)

Net losses and l0ss expenses payable .....ccovvvvvervinviiciiin e ee e $330,596 292,458

Unearned premiums:

D <ot (PP PRSP PTOUPTPN $281,725 243,811
Assumed.......... [ PP PR PRRPP 1,281 - 1,049
Ceded......oooveeveeneeennnn. et ieeeee et er e et e e e et e e e st re et e e b e e et e atbe e taeabee et (4,528) (3,699)

Net UNearned PremMIUMS .ioviverie e re e rerreverrsnrs e errreeressra i eessasesssnss $278,478 241,161
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Year ended December 31
2003 2002 2001
(in thousands)
Written premiums:

DIrECE i e $717,937 631,342 501,250
ASSUIMEA ...oevii et et rr s s e e e e e s e e e s arabar e 5,125 3,876 4,196
10T [l PSP PP (13,470) (12,203) (9,152)
Net written premiums .. it $709,592 623,015 496,294
Earned premiums:
(1= o PSPPSR $679,868 577,803 472,766
F N0 =T PO 4,893 3,934 4,304
(0o [T PP P OTUPUPSPPPTPPRP (12,751) (11,260) (8,335)
Net earned premiums.......vueiiciien v e eereeererean $672,010 570,477 468,735
Losses and loss expenses incurred:
DHFECL cevvereieeiee et $447,246 413,359 328,363
ASSUMED 1.t eeeeiietiie st e e n s e rrrr i e r s nr e s e s e e e v e e nrr e ea s 3,302 2,383 3,054
(0T [T [P UPUPPTRRTOTPI (6,498) (1,945) (1,550)
Net losses and loss expenses incurred ........ocvvvveniceennnniiinnnn. $444,050 412,382 329,867

(6) Transactions with Affiliates

(a) Reinsurance

State Auto P&C, Milbank, Farmers, SA Ohio (the “"STFC Pooled Companies”), SA Wisconsin and beginning January 1,
2003, SA Florida, participate in a quota share reinsurance pooling arrangement (the Pooling Arrangement) with Mutual
whereby the STFC Pooled Companies, SA Wisconsin and SA Florida cede to Mutual all of their insurance business and
assume from Mutual an amount equal to their respective participation percentages in.the Pooling Arrangement. Ali
premiums, losses and loss expenses and underwriting expenses are allocated among the participants on the basis of each
company’s participation percentage in the Pooling Arrangement. The Pooling Arrangement provides indemnification
against loss or liability relating to insurance risk and has been accounted for as reinsurance.

Effective January 1, 2003, the Pooling Arrangement was amended, adding SA Florida as a participant. At December
31, 2002, SA Florida had not commenced insurance operations, consequently, there was no impact on the Company’s
financial statements at January 1, 2003 relating to the Pooling Arrangement amendment. The STFC Pooled Companies
share of the Pool remained at 80% during the years 2003 and 2002.

In 2000, Mutual entered into an agreement with Meridian Mutual Insurance Company (Meridian Mutual), an Indiana
domiciled property and casualty insurance company, pursuant to which Meridian Mutual would be merged with and into
Mutual, with Mutual continuing as the surviving corporation. The effective date of the merger transaction was June 1,
2001. With the merging of Meridian Mutual into Mutual, all insurance business that had been written by Meridian Mutual
became, legally, Mutual business. For the period June 1, 2001 through June 30, 2001, the insurance business formerly
known as the Meridian Mutual business prior to the June 1 merger transaction was excluded from the Poocling
Arrangement. Effective July 1, 2001, the insurance business of the former Meridian Mutual became part of the Pooling
Arrangement, and the STFC Pooled Companies assumed 53% of the former Meridian Mutual business on this same date.
Concurrently, with this transaction, the STFC Pooled Companies received cash of $6.4 million and fixed maturities totaling
$109.7 million from Mutual which related to the additional net insurance liabilities assumed by the STFC Pooled
Companies on July 1, 2001. As part of the resolution of the disagreement with the Ohio Department of Insurance (ODI)
regarding the recognition of the service fee revenue paid by Mutual to State Auto P&C (see note 6(d)), the STFC Pooled
Companies aggregate participation in the Pooling Arrangement was increased to 80%, effective October 1, 2001. In
conjunction with this change in pool participation, the STFC Pooled Companies received cash of $2.2 million and fixed
maturities totaling $236.3 million from Mutual, which related to the additional net insurance liabilities assumed on October
1, 2001. All parties that participate in the Pooling Arrangement have an A. M. Best rating of A+ (Superior).
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The Pooling Arrangement does not relieve each individual pooled subsidiary of its primary liability as the originating
insurer, consequently, there is a concentration of credit risk arising from business ceded to Mutual. As the Pooling
Arrangement provides for the right of offset, the Company has reported losses and loss expenses payable and prepaid
reinsurance premiums to Mutual as assets only in situations when net amounts ceded to Mutual exceed that assumed.
The following provides a summary of the reinsurance transactions on the Company’s balance sheets and income
statements for the Pooling Arrangement between the STFC Pooled Companies and Mutual:

December 31
2003 2002
(in thousands)
Losses and loss expenses payable:

0T o o [PPSR PPTTPT $(290,979) (261,470)

LYW 0 T [ PPN 594,872 565,430

N = A LT3 Tt R RSO $303,893 303,960
Unearned premiums:

1072 Ta <o TR $(250,308) (212,077)

F YT 1 T PSPPSR 371,643 345,207

NEE BSSUMEBA L. iviiiiir it e r et v eat s raa s e rana s eaaeentnaeren $121,335 133,130

Year ended December 31
2003 2002 2001
(in thousands)

Written premiums:

0o Lo SRR $(616,571) (534,377) (448,331)

AASSUMEM ..t e s e s s s s s s e s s 917,051 864,830 529,253
Earned premiums:

Caded ... $(578,186) (495,036) (426,880)

Assumed................. TR PRSPPSO 889,532 829,981 515,619
Losses and loss expenses incurred:

60T o TR $(372,810) (353,602) (298,755)

ASSUMET . cei et 594,816 609,910 406,138

Effective with the June 1, 2001 merger transaction of Meridian Mutual into Mutual, Mutuat atso acquired all of the
outstanding shares of Meridian Insurance Group, Inc. (MIGI), an Indiana domiciled insurance holding company. MIGI's
wholly-owned insurance subsidiaries are Meridian Security Insurance Company (Meridian Security), an Indiana domiciled
property and casualty insurer, and Meridian Citizens Security Insurance Company, an Indiana domiciled property and
casualty insurer. MIGI is also party to an affiliation agreement with Meridian Citizens Mutual Insurance Company, an
Indiana domiciled property and casualty insurer. Collectively, the MIGI insurer subsidiaries and affiliate are hereafter
coliectively referred to as the “Meridian Insurers.” The STFC Pooled Companies, SA National, Mid-Plains, Mutual, SA
Wisconsin, SA Florida and the Meridian Insurers are collectively referred to as the “State Auto Group.”

State Auto PR&C assumes catastrophe reinsurance from the State Auto Group in the amount of $100 million excess of
$120 million in exchange for a premium paid by each reinsured company. Under this agreement, the Company has
assumed from Mutual and its affiliates premiums written and earned of $2.8 million, $2.9 million and $3.0 million for
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. There have been no losses assumed under this agreement. The catastrophe
reinsurance program with State Auto P&C has been excluded from the Pooling Arrangement.

To protect against a catastrophe loss event in which the State Auto Group would incur catastrophe losses in excess of
$120 million, State Auto Financial entered into a structured contingent financing transaction with a financial institution
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and a syndicate of other lenders (the Lender) to provide up to $100 million for reinsurance purposes. In the event of
such a loss, this arrangement provides that State Auto Financial would sell redeemable preferred shares to SAF Funding
Corporation, a special purpose company (SPC), which would borrow the money necessary for such purchase from the
Lenders. This arrangement with the Lenders, SPC and State Auto Financial is a financing arrangement, whereby State
Auto Financial would receive cash funding in the event of a catastrophe event as described above. State Auto Financial
would then contribute to State Auto P&C the funds received from the sale of its preferred shares. State Auto P&C would
use the contributed capital proceeds to pay its direct catastrophe losses and losses assumed under the catastrophe
reinsurance agreement. State Auto Financial is obligated to repay SPC by redeeming the preferred shares over a five-year
period. In the event of a default by State Auto Financial, the obligation to repay SPC has been secured by a Put
Agreement among State Auto Financial, Mutual and the Lenders, under which Mutual would be obligated to either
purchase the preferred shares from the SPC or repay the SPC for the loan(s) outstanding.

For the period October 1, 2001 through December 31, 2003, Mutual entered into a stop loss reinsurance arrangement
(Stop Loss) with the STFC Pooled Companies. Under the Stop Loss, Mutual have agreed to participate in the Pooling
Arrangement’s quarterly underwriting losses and gains in the manner described. If the Pooling Arrangement’s statutory
loss and loss adjustment expense ratio (loss ratio) was between 70.75% and 80% (after the application of all available
reinsurance), Mutual reinsured the STFC Pooled Companies 27% of the Pooling Arrangement’s .losses in excess of a loss
ratio of 70.75% up to 80.00%. The STFC Pooled Companies were responsible for their share of the Pooling
Arrangement’s losses over the 80% threshold. Also, Mutual had the right to participate in the profits of the Pooling
Arrangement, Mutual assumed 27% of the Pooling Arrangement’s underwriting profits attributable to loss ratios less than
69.25%, but more than 59.99%. During 2003, 2002 and 2001, the STFC Pooled Companies ceded to Mutual, $5.6 million,
$8.8 million and $6.2 million in losses, respectively, and $12.8 million, $1.4 million and $0, respectively, in premiums
under the Stop Loss. The Stop Loss ceased at December 31, 2003.

SA National and Mid-Plains each have ceding reinsurance agreements with Mutual that include excess of loss and
quota share coverages. Through Mutual’s participation in the Pooling Arrangement, the effects of these agreements with
SA National and Mid-Plains are indirectly subject to the Pooling Arrangement between Mutual and the STFC Pooled
Companies.

The following provides a summary of the ceding reinsurance transactions on the Company’s balance sheets and
income statement for the reinsurance agreements between SA National and Mutual and Mid-Plains and Mutual:

2003 2002
(in thousands)

Losses and loss expenses payable..... $5,707 4,285
Unearned premiums.......c.ccoeeeeeveeeneenn $3,906 3,996

2003 2002 2001

{(in thousands)

Written premiums...........ccccvvevvenvnnnns $12,850 12,097 6,295
Earned premiums...........c.coeveeeiveieiiies $12,831 10,299 5,288
Losses and loss expenses incurred..... $ 9,209 7,862 3,999

(b) Intercompany Balances

Pursuant to the Pooling Arrangement, Mutual is responsible for the collection of premiums and payment of losses,
loss expenses and underwriting expenses of the STFC Pooled Companies. Unpaid balances are reflected in due to or due
from affiliates in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Settlements of the intercompany account are made
quarterly. No interest is paid on this account. All premium balance receivables and reinsurance recoverable on paid
losses from unaffiliated reinsurers are carried by Mutual. The Company had off-balance-sheet credit risk of approximately
$201 million and $167 million related to premium balances due to Mutual from agents and insureds at December 31,
2003 and 2002, respectively, which is collateralized by the unearned premium from the respective policies.
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{c) Notes Payable

In 1999 State Auto Financial entered into a line of credit agreement with Mutual for $45.5 million in conjunction with
its stock repurchase program. Principal payment is due on demand by December 31, 2005. The interest rate is adjustable
annually at January 1 to reflect adjustments in the then current prime lending rate less 1.75% as well as State Auto
Financial’s current financial position. Interest rate for the years 2003, 2002 and 2001 was 2.50%, 3.00% and 7.75%,
respectively. Interest rate for the year 2004 is 2.25%.

Upon receipt of the written approval of the South Dakota Director of Insurance, in the fourth quarter of 2003 Milbank
repaid the $15.0 million surplus contribution note to Meridian Security that was entered into on September 30, 2002.
Subject to the condition described below and the other terms of the note, the maturity date was September 30, 2012.
The interest rate was equal to the U.S. Treasury ten-year note yield at September 30, 2002 plus 100 basis points (total
4.59%) and was adjustable October 1, 2007 to the then current U.S. Treasury ten-year note yield plus 100 basis points
for the remaining term of the note. Interest was accrued, but all payments of principal or interest could be made only
with the prior written approval of the South Dakota Director of Insurance.

Tota! affiliates interest expense was $2.8 million, $2.3 million and $2.3 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
Total interest expense paid to affiliates was $2.8 million, $2.2 million and 2.3 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. See discussion of notes payable (non-affiliate) and hedges at Note 7.

(d) Management Services

Stateco provides Mutual and its affiliates investment management services. Investment management income is
recognized quarterly based on a percentage of the average fair value of investable assets and the equity portfolio
performance of each company managed. Revenue related to these services amounted to $2.2 million, $2.1 million and
$3.0 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and is included in other income (affiliates).

State Auto P&C provides management and operation services to Mutual and its insurance affiliates. Revenue relating
to these services amounted to $1.1 million, $553,000 and $12.6 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. During
early 2001, the ODI requested that Mutual file an analysis with the ODI on a quarterly basis, starting with the quarter
beginning January 1, 2001, that justified the apportionment of the management and operation services fee paid by
Mutual to State Auto P&C under the accounting guidance outlined in Statement of Statutory Accounting Principles No. 70
— Allocation of Expenses. The Company believed its accounting for such service fee was consistent with all statutory
accounting principles. On October 24, 2001, the Board of Directors of the Company and Mutual and special committees
thereof approved a resolution of the disagreement between the Company and the ODI regarding the service fee paid by
Mutual to State Auto P&C. The disagreement with ODI was resolved, and ODI expressly did not take issue with Mutual’s
payment of the service fee to State Auto P&C for the nine-month period ending September 30, 2001 which amounted to
$12.5 million, pre-tax, nor with Mutual’s accounting for the service fee for this same time period. The ODI also approved
regulatory filings, effective October 1, 2001, implementing a revised management agreement, changing the STFC Pooled
Companies pooling participation percentages and implementing a stop loss reinsurance arrangement. See note 6(a)
regarding the change in the STFC Pooled Companies pooling participation percentages and the implementation of a stop
loss reinsurance arrangement.

Effective October 1, 2001, the management agreement between State Auto P&C and certain affiliate companies,
including Mutual, was amended to eliminate the management and operations service fee charged by State Auto P&C. The
management agreement continues to allocate costs and apportion those costs among the parties to the agreement in
accordance with terms outlined therein. As a result of the loss of the management and operations services income under
this management agreement, a substantial portion of State Auto P&C’s services income has been eliminated, effective
October 1, 2001.

(e) Other Transactions

State Auto P&C’s December 31, 1990 liability for losses and loss expenses of $65.5 million has been guaranteed by
Mutual. Pursuant to the guaranty agreement, ail ultimate adverse development of the December 31, 199G liability, if any,
is to be reimbursed by Mutual to State Auto P&C in conformance with pooling percentages in place at that time. As of
December 31, 2003, there has been no adverse development of the liability.
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(7) Notes Payable and Derivatives
On May 22, 2003, STFC Capital Trust I, State Auto Financial’s Delaware business trust subsidiary (the “Capital
Trust”), issued $15.0 million liquidation amount of its capital securities to a third party. In connection with the Capital
Trust’s issuance of the capital securities and the related purchase by State Auto Financial of all of the Capital Trust's
common securities (liquidation amount of $464,000 included in other invested assets) (the Capital Trust’s capital and
common securities are hereafter referred to as the “Trust Securities”), State Auto Financial issued to the Capital Trust
$15.5 million aggregate principal amount of Floating Rate Junior Subordinated Debt Securities due 2033 (the
“Subordinated Debentures”). The sole assets of the Capital Trust are the Subordinated Debentures and any interest
accrued thereon. Interest on the Trust Securities is payable quarterly at a rate equal to the three-month LIBOR rate pius
4.20%, adjusted quarterly (total 5.37% at December 31, 2003). Prior to May 2008, the interest rate may not exceed
12.5% per annum. The interest rate and interest payment dates on the Subordinated Debentures are the same as the
interest rate and interest payment dates on the Trust Securities. In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN 46, Consolidation
of Variable Interest Entities, effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2003. As a result of the Company
- adopting FIN 46 effective July 1, 2003, the financial statements of the Capital Trust are no longer consolidated within the
accompanying financial statements of the Company. See additional discussion of new accounting standards at note 1(1).

The Trust Securities are mandatorily redeemable on May 23, 2033, and may be redeemed at any time on and after
May 23, 2008, at 100% of the principal amount thereof plus unpaid interest. The Trust Securities may be redeemed in
whole, but not in part, at any time within 90 days following the occurrence of a “Tax Event” or “Investment Company
Event” (as defined in the declaration of trust) (a) if such Tax Event or Investment Company Event occurs on or after May
23, 2008, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof plus unpaid interest, and (b) if such Tax
Event or Investment Company Event occurs prior to May 23, 2008, at a redemption price equal to the greater of 100% of
the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest and a "make-whole” amount. The Subordinated Debentures are
subject to these same redemption terms. The obligations under the Subordinated Debentures and related agreements,
taken together, constitute a full and unconditional guarantee of payments due on the Trust Securities.

State Auto Financial has the right, at any time, to defer payments of interest on the Subordinated Debentures for up
to 20 consecutive quarterly payment periods. Consequently, distributions on the Trust Securities would be deferred
(though such distributions would continue to accrue with interest since interest would accrue on the Subordinated
Debentures during any such extended interest payment period). In no case may the deferral of payments and
distributions extend beyond the stated maturity dates of the respective securities. During such deferments, State Auto
Financial may not declare or pay any dividends on, or purchase any of, its capital stock, make any principal or interest
payments on debt securities that rank in all respects equally with or subordinated to the Subordinated Debentures, or
make any payment under guarantees that rank in all respects equally with or subordinated to State Auto Financial's
guaranty of the Trust Securities.

The Subordinated Debentures are unsecured and subordinated to all of the Company’s existing and future senior
indebtedness. As sponsor of the Capital Trust, State Auto Financial incurred security issuance costs related to the Trust
Preferred Capital Securities and Subordinated Debentures of $535,000, which is recorded in other assets and is being
amortized into interest expense ($13,000 for 2003) as the underlying interest expense is recognized on the Trust
Securities.

On November 13, 2003 State Auto Financial issued $100 million unsecured senior notes (Senior Notes) bearing
interest fixed at 6.25% due November 15, 2013. Interest on the Senior Notes is payable May 15 and November 15 of
each year beginning May 15, 2004. The Senior Notes are general unsecured obligations ranking senior to all existing and
future subordinated indebtedness and equal with all existing and future senior indebtedness. The Senior Notes are not
guaranteed by any of the Company subsidiaries and thereby are effectively subordinated to all Company subsidiaries
existing and future indebtedness. State Auto Financial may redeem the Senior Notes in whole at anytime or in part from
time to time at State Auto Financial’s option, on at least 30 but not more than 60 days’ prior written notice, at a
redemption price equal to the greater of the principal amount of such notes being redeemed on the redemption date or
the make whole amount, based on U.S. Treasury rates as defined by the Senior Notes, plus in each case, accrued and
unpaid interest, if any, on the Senior Notes to the redemption date. The Senior Notes issued contain certain covenants as
defined in the notes, which among other things, limit State Auto Financial and its subsidiaries ability to issue indebtedness
secured by the capital stock of certain State Auto Financial subsidiaries and sell the capital stock of certain State Auto
Financial subsidiaries. The Senior Notes also contain a covenant that requires State Auto Financial to take certain actions
in the event it engages in mergers, consolidations or sales of all or substantially all of the assets and prohibits from
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engaging in such transaction if State Auto Financial is in default under the Senior Notes. State Auto Financial incurred
$1.5 million in issuance costs related to the Senior Notes, which is recorded in other assets and is being amortized into
interest expense ($14,000 for 2003) as the underlying interest expense is recognized on the Trust Securities.

On October 1, 2003 State Auto Financial entered into an interest rate swap contract for a notional amount of $25.0
million as a hedge on the ten year treasury rate in connection with the forecasted issuance of the Senior Notes. The
swap contract was designated as a cash flow hedge and settled on November 6, 2003, the pricing date of the Senior
Notes, with the Company receiving $811,000. The gain has been recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income
and is being accreted as an offset to interest expense ($7,000 in 2003) as the underlying interest expense is recognized
for the Senior Notes. Management estimates $61,000 will be accreted as an offset to interest expense in 2004. '

On November 6, 2003 State Auto Financial entered into an interest rate swap contract for a notional amount of $50.0
million receiving semiannual payments at a fixed rate of 6.25% and making semiannual payments at a variable rate equal
to six month LIBOR plus 1.25 percent with LIBOR to be determined the last day of each interest reset period (total 2.47%
at December 31, 2003). The swap contract was designated as a fair value hedge to protect against changes in fair value
of the Senior Notes. Recorded in other assets at December.31, 2003, the fair market value of the fixed to floating
interest rate swap was $485,000 of which $229,000 related to net accrued interest to be received and reduce reported
interest expense in the period. The amount of hedge ineffectiveness was not material.

On December 21, 2003, State Auto Financial repaid the $15.0 million term loan note to the bank that it entered into
on December 21, 2002. Interest adjusted quarterly and accrued at LIBOR plus 0.75 points (2.15% at December 31, 2002)
and was payable quarterly. This note agreement had various covenants including financial ratio covenants.

Total cash paid for interest was $3.1 million, $2.2 million and $2.3 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001. See discussion of
affiliate notes payable at note 6 (¢). Notes payable at December 31, 2003 and 2002 consisted of the following:

December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
Carrying Fair Interest Carrying Market Interest
Value Value Rate Value Value Rate

(in thousands, except interest rates)
Senior notes due 2013: issued $100,000,
November 2003 with fixed interest........... $100,256 100,512 6.25% - - -

Subordinated debentures due 2033:
issued $15,464, May 2003 with variable
INEAFESE. .t 15,464 15,464 5.37% - - -

Affiliate note payable due on demand
prior to December 31, 2005: issued
$45,500, June 1999 with variable

11 0= ST 45,500 45,500 - 2.50% 45,500 45,500 3.00

Affiliate surplus note: issued $15,000, :

September 2002 with variable interest..... - - - 15,000 15,000 4.59

Note payable to bank: issued $15,000,

December 2002 with variable interest...... - - - 15,000 15,000 2.15
Total Notes Payable ...........cooerveereennn. $161,220 161,476 75,500 75,500
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(8) Federal Income Taxes
A reconciliation between actual federal income tax expense (benefit) and the amount computed at the indicated
statutory rate is as follows: :

Year ended December 31
2003 2002 2001
Amount % Amount % Amount %
(in thousands)

Amount at statutory rate .....cccoevi e $29,147 35 13,227 35 6,291 35
Tax-free interest and dividends received deduction... (9,744) (12) (11,888) (32) (8,925) (50)
Other, Net ... e 252 1 (544) 1) (5 _ -
Effective tax and rate........cccriviincniiic e, $19,655 24 795 _2 (2,639) (15)

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities are presented below:

December 31
2003 : 2002
(in thousands)
Deferred tax assets:

Unearned premiums not deductible......c....ovvvvviiiiiiin i $27,734 25,927
Losses and loss expenses payable discounting ......cooooovvvvviiviiiicn i, 21,983 21,626
Postretirement benefit Habilities ......civvviviiii it s e 18,295 16,438
)1 =T S 5,925 5,658
Alternative minimum tax credit ... ....ocii i s 217 3,439
Total deferred taxX @SSELS.....ccivriiiiiiir e e 74,154 73,088
Deferred tax liabilities:
Deferral of policy acquISItioN COSES .....uuuuiiierrreriirririireiiie e 30,485 27,260
Net prepaid PENSION EXPENSE .. iiiire ittt tiieeaineettrin s ereertssrraa e et ssaisenres 16,917 15,583 .
Unirealized holding gain on investments ......cooiviiiniiiinin e 28,101 22,891
10 ¢ 2T S O OO PTTOTRPR PP 659 1,558
Total deferred tax iabilities .......coeviieiriieiieri e e 76,162 67,292
Net deferred tax asset (liability) ......cocoviirireriii $(2,008) 5,796

The Company is required to establish a valuation allowance for any portion of the deferred tax asset that
management believes will not be realized. In the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that the Company will
realize the benefit of the deferred tax assets and, therefore, no such valuation allowance has been established.

Federal income taxes paid during 2003, 2002 and 2001 were $15.9 million, $6.0 million and $11.5 million,
respectively.

(9) Pension and Postretirement Benefit Plans

The Company provides a pension benefit plan for its eligible employees. Substantially all Company employees
become eligible to participate the year after becoming 20 years of age and vest with 5 years of credited service or attain
age 65.

The Company’s policy is to fund pension costs in accordance with the requirements of the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974. Benefits are determined by applying factors specified in the plan to a participant's defined
average annual compensation.
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Effective January 1, 2002, employees of MIGI, a subsidiary of the former Meridian Mutual, became employees of
State Auto P&C. In conjunction with this transaction approximately $3.6 million in net pension plan benefit liabilities were
transferred from MIGI to the Company.

In addition to the pension benefit plan, the Company provides a postretirement benefit plan including cettain health
care and life insurance benefits for its eligible retired employees. Substantially all of the Company's employees may
become eligible for these postretirement benefits if they retire between age 55 and 65 with 15 years or more of service or
if they retire at age 65 or later with 5 years or more of service.

The Company did not adjust its liability for postretirement benefits obligation in consideration of the potential impact
of the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003, since guidance is not final.

The Company used September 30, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, to determine the pension and postretirement
benefit measurements. Information regarding the Company’s pension and postretirement benefit plans change in benefit
obligation, plan assets and funded status are as follows:

Pension Postretirement
December 31.
2003 2002 2003 2002
(in thousands)

Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year.........ccccoeeee. $150,067 97,477 71,199 48,558
Transfer in benefit obligation at beginning

of year due to employee transfer ..........occveciiivenennn, - 31,440 - 8,235
SEIVICE COSE. it e 6,996 5,541 3,206 2,400
Interest COSt...iiiminiii 9,894 9,399 4,713 4,179
ACtUNAL J0SS 1vvvueiii it e e 6,477 15,111 2,246 9,336
ContribULIONS ...ccvvsiiis s ere e e - - (2,224) (1,509)
Benefits paid ..., (9,468) (8,901) - -
Benefit obligation at end Of year..........ceevuvursveveensen., $163,966 150,067 79,140 71,199

Chénge in plan aésets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year ............ $150,559 136,197 1,896 1,768
Transfer in plan assets at beginning

of year due to employee transfer .....cc.ocveevvvrrieen. - 31,320 - -
Actual gain(loss) return on plan assets.........cccovveeene. 19,878 (8,057) - -
Benefits Paid ....coooviieeiiveieiii e e (9,468) (8,901) - -
Expected return on plan assets ......cccceeveviiieiiinnnneen - - 171 150
Gain (J0SS) 0N @SSELS ....cvvvvvriei e e - - (89) (22)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year.......ccuuuesvun... $160,969 150,559 $1,978 1,896
Funded Status......cccceviveriinericiieiiin e $(2,997) 492 (77,161) (69,303)
Unrecognized transition asset........ccoovvivrvccieiiinnnnnn, (4,878) (5,511) (31) (34)
Unrecognized prior service cost.......cevivnvierinnneienninn 2,675 2,963 4,612 5,073
Unrecognized net (0SS .....ovviciiiiiiiiiiii e, 52,055 48,746 2,444 110
ContributioN ... vvve e e 4,560 - - -
Net prepaid (accrued obligation) benefit at end of
VI 1 ssvsiivsaserisesisissiesssesssnsisvsasesssesssesnissinsssessisiires $51,415 46,690 (70,136) (64,154)
Amounts recognized in the statement of

financial position consist of the following:
SERP (defined below) liability.........ccooveniieniveieieininnnn, - - (4,114) (2,609)
Net prepaid (accrued obligation)benefit recognized.... $51,415 46,690 (74,250) (66,763)
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Information regarding the Company’s pension and postretirement benefit plans components of net periodic benefit
cost and weighted average assumptions for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001are as follows:

Pension Postretirement
2003 2002 2001 2003 2002 2001
(in thousands)

Components of net periodic

benefit cost

Service coSt...ccoevivriiiiiiieien, $6,996 5,541 3,537 3,205 2,400 1,423
Interest cost......cooeeviveniviniviecnenens 9,895 9,399 6,750 4,713 4,179 3,356
Expected return on plan assets...... (16,710) (16,724) (14,633) (171) (150) (133)
Amortization of prior service cost .. 288 280 207 461 (3) 3)
Amortization of transition asset..... (633) (633) (121) (3) 461 -
Amortization of net gain............... - - (1,346) - (275) (520)
Net periodic (benefit) cost............ $(164) (2,137) (5,606) 8,205 6,612 4,123

The Company had no additional minimum liability included in other comprehensive income for the Pension and
Postretirement plans for 2003, 2002 and 2001.

Summarized in the following table are the weighted average assumptions used to determine the Company benefit
obligations for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002:

Pension Postretirement
2003 2002 2003 2002
Benefit obligations
Weighted-average assumptions
DisCOUNt rate...cu.eiiriieiee e 6.5% 6.75% 6.5% 6.75%
Rates of increase in compensation levels ..... 5.0% 5.0% - -

Summarized in the following table are the weighted average assumptions used to determine the Company net periodic
benefit cost for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001:

Pension Postretirement

2003 2002 2001 2003 2002 2001
Periodic benefit cost
Weighted-average assumptions
Discount rate. . 6.75% 7.5% 8.0% 6.75% 7.5% 8.0%
Expected long-term rate of return on
BSSEES 1iii i re e 9.0% 9.0% 9.0% 9.0% 8.5% 8.5%
Rates of increase in compensation levels ..... 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% - - -

The Company’s defined benefit plan obligations are long-term in nature and consequently the investment strategies
have a long-term time horizon. In establishing the long term rate of return assumption on plan assets, management,
along with its pension consulting actuary, reviews the historical performance of the plan assets and the stability in mix of
investment portfolio. The expected inflation rate and expected real rates of return of applicable asset classes are then
determined to assist in setting appropriate assumptions. The relatively stable investment strategy between fixed
maturities and equity securities has produced a 10 year average rate of return on plan assets through September 30,
2003 of 10.1%.
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The assumed health care cost trend rates used for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 are as
follows:

Postretirement
Year Ended December 31

2003 2002 2001
Assumed health care cost trend rates
Health care cost trend rate assumed for the next year ... 9.0% 10.0% 10.0%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to
decline (the ultimate trend rate) .....ccoocevveeriiviivennennn, 5.0% 5.0% 5.0%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate ......... 2008 2008 2007

The assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the postretirement
plan. A one percentage point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects:

Postretirement
Year Ended December 31, 2003

One percentage point change Increase (Decrease)
(/n thousands)
Effect on total service and interest cost ........c..cceeenn. $1,740 (1,369)
Effect on accumulated postretirement benefit
Obligation ..o 15,370 (12,303)

The Company’s pension and postretirement benefit plans weighted average asset allocations by asset category at the
Plans” measurement date of September 30, 2003 and 2002, respectively, are as follows:

Pension Postretirement
December 31
2003 2002 2003 2002

Asset Category
Equity securities .....cocveiviiiiiiiine e, 61.5% 55.0% - -
Fixed maturity securtieS..cccoiviiiviiiiniieeens 38.3 44.9 100% 100%
Cash and cash equivalents.............ceeeenis 0.2 0.1 - -

TOtal oo 100.0% 100.0% 100% 100%

The Plan’s investment policy objective is to preserve the investment principal while generating income and
appreciation in fair value to meet the Plans’ obligations. The Plans’ investment strategy and risk tolerance is balanced
between meeting cash obligation requirements and a long term relatively high risk tolerance. Since the nature and timing
of the Plans’ liabilities and cash requirements are predictable, the liquidity requirements are somewhat moderate.
Therefore at least 75% of the Plans’ assets should be in public marketable securities. Bond investments will normally
range from 10 to 20 years in maturity. Debt instruments, convertible debt and preferred stock are rated “"A” or better by
two major rating services. The equity portfolio is comprised primarily of large capitalization, high guality stocks with a
strong earnings growth and dividends payment history. Total holding of a specific stock cannot exceed 2% of the
outstanding stock. No one equity holding can be greater than 5% of the total equity portfolio. Total holdings of bonds
and stocks of any one corporation cannot exceed 5% of admitted assets.
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The following table summarizes the Plans’ asset allocation exposure range as a percent of total assets fair market
value:

Exposure

Investment Instrument Range
. (0 to %)

Cash and cash equivalents.......ccccoveeiveiiiieieeic e 10
U.S. governments debtu.. ... 100
U.S. government agencies debt .............. N 50
Corporate debt.......coo v 20
Preferred StOCK . ...t e e s e rrean 10
ComMMON SEOCK ..vvviierciiririn e e reeras e s eres s eenrneceanrn s e e 70
Convertible SECUNtIES ...uvvriiiieciiic e e eab e 25
Private placement and Other.......ccooovvvivieiiveeiien e, 6

The Company expects to contribute approximately $4.0 million to its pension plan in 2004.

All Company and affiliate personnel are employees of State Auto P&C. The Company through State Auto P&C,
provides management and operation services under management agreements for all insurance and non-insurance
affiliates. The pension net prepaid expense is carried on the financial statements of the Company, and the annual
periodic pension benefit or cost is allocated to affiliated companies based on allocations pursuant to intercompany
management agreements. The Company’s share of the 2003, 2002 and 2001 net periodic benefit was $164,000, $2.0
million and $4.0 million, respectively.

The postretirement net accrued obligation is also carried on the financial statements of the Company and the annual
periodic postretirement benefit or cost is allocated to affiliated companies based on allocations pursuant to intercompany
management agreements. The Company’s share of the 2003, 2002 and 2001 net periodic cost was $7.0 million, $5.6
million and $3.0 million, respectively.

Also, the Company has a supplemental executive retirement plan (SERP) for which the accrued obligation at
December 31, 2003 and 2002 was $4.2 million and $2.6 million, respectively, that is included in the balance sheet
postretirement benefit liabilities amount.

The Company maintains a defined contribution plan that covers substantially all employees of the Company. The
Company matches the first 2% of contributions of participants’ salary at the rate of 75 cents for each dollar contributed.
Participant contributions of 3% to 6% are matched at a rate of 50 cents for each dollar contributed. The Company’s
share of the expense under the plan totaled $2.1 million, $2.0 million and $1.1 million for the years 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively, '

(10) Stockholders' Equity

(a) Treasury Shares

On March 1, 2002, the State Auto Financial’s Board of Directors approved a plan to repurchase up to 1.0 million
shares of common stock from the public over a period extending to and through December 31, 2003. Through December
31, 2003, State Auto Financial repurchased 438,023 shares from the public under this plan of which 45,000 and 393,023
shares were purchased during 2003 and 2002, respectively. In May 2000, State Auto Financial’s Board of Directors
approved a plan to repurchase up to 1.0 million shares of its common stock from the public over a period ending
December 31, 2001. Through December 31, 2001, State Auto Financial repurchased 50,522 shares from the public.
Repurchases during 2003, 2002 and 2001 were funded through dividends from subsidiaries.

(b) Dividend Restrictions and Statutory Financial Information

State Auto P&C, Milbank, Farmers, SA Ohio and SA National are subject to regulations and restrictions under which
payment of dividends from statutory earned surplus can be made to State Auto Financial during the year without prior
approval of regulatory authorities. Pursuant to these rules, approximately $52.7 million is available for payment to State
Auto Financial in 2004 without prior approval.
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Reconciliations of statutory capital and surplus and net income (loss), as determined using statutory accounting
practices, to the amounts included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements are as follows:
December 31
2003 2002
(in thousands)

Statutory capital and surpius of insurance subSIAIEHES . ..vviveiiviiiciiiiriii $527,148 359,289
Net assets of non-insurance parent and affiliates.......ccoiviiviiiii ~(120,954) {44,060)
406,194 315,229

Increases (decreases):
Deferred policy acquUISItioN COSES ..cvuvvviiriiiriisiiisiireeivvssiisiss s sessrsssasssssesarassanaes 87,099 77,886
Anticipated salvage and subrogation .........ccccccerriiiiiiiiin e - 27,093
Net prepaid PENSION EXPENSE .. vrrris s st s e e serae s earraaaaes 51,415 46,690
Postretirement benefit ability....ccooviiiiiiii i (24,567) (21,968)
Deferred federal INCOME taXES .ovvui it ree s e e rr e e s e ar e e s (24,112) (36,964)
Fixed maturities at fair VAIUE.......cveicirin it e e b e ees 41,623 67,281
1T ] g 0] U=l Vo 1 T PO 172 (15,000)
Other, MEL ..o e e PP 4,467 3,522

Stockholders’ equity per accompanying consolidated
financial StateMENTS .......cvviiiiii e $542,291 463,769

Year ended December 31
2003 2002 2001
(in thousands)

Statutory net income (loss) of insurance subsidiaries ..........ccceevvveveiiienenennn. $54,544 17,027 (39,773)
Net income of non-insurance parent and affiliates .............. i 1,593 2,461 1,826
56,137 19,488 * (37,947)

Increases (decreases):
Deferred policy aCqQUISItION COSES .vveuruiiiriireeriiiiar e e eerererenans 9,213 10,776 34,629
Anticipated salvage and subrogation.........cccccccevvieiiie i, - 507 12,813
Net prepaid pension Benefit..........ccoiiiiiin i e 164 506 1,131
Postretirement benefit expense.........c........ et rreteee e e e rearbra (2,600) (2,260) (1,230)
Deferred federal INCOME taXES .....vvvvieiiiiecinirienivciirinreenrrceniicerereaens (1,209) 7,671 10,673

101 = g o T PP UP PR 1,917 (93) 546

Net income per accompanying consolidated
financial statementsS. ..o $63,622 36,995 20,615

(11) Preferred Stock

State Auto Financial has authorized two classes of preferred stock. For both classes, upon issuance, the Board of
Directors has authority to fix and determine the significant features of the shares issued, including, among other things,
the dividend rate, redemption price, redemption rights, conversion features and liquidation price payable in the event of
any liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the affairs of State Auto Financial. See note 6 (a) regarding State Auto
Financial’s obligation to issue redeemable preferred shares to SPC in connection with its catastrophic reinsurance
arrangements with a financial institution.

The Class A preferred stock is not entitled to voting rights until, for any period, dividends are in arrears in the amount
of six or more quarterly dividends.
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{12) Stock Incentive Plans

The Company follows Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (APB
25) and related Interpretations in accounting for its employee stock incentive plans using the intrinsic value method to
account for stock-based compensation. Compensation cost charged against operations in 2003 and 2002 were $0, and
$14,000 in 2001 for those employee stock options granted where the exercise price was less than the market price of the
underlying stock on the date of grant. Had compensation cost for the Company's plans been determined based on the fair
values at the grant dates consistent with the method of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,”
(SFAS No. 123), the Company's pro forma net earnings and net earnings per share information would have been as
follows:

Pro Forma Fair Value Method 2003 2002 2001
(in thousands, except
per share amounts)
Net income as reported.......ccccciiiiiiiii e e $63,622 36,995 20,615
Less pro farma stock compensation expense, net of tax............... (1,736) (1,427) (1,750)
Pro forma net iNCOME .......ovviiviieiiiiee i st 61,886 35,568 18,865
Pro forma net income per common share
BaSIC. i iet i e $1.58 0.91 0.49
DIUEEA . . $1.51 0.89 0.48

The fair value of options granted to employees and directors in 2003, 2002 and 2001 were estimated at the date of
grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.

The weighted average fair values and related assumptions for options granted were as follows:

2003 2002 2001
Falr VAU .. cee et $7.09 6.09 6.79
Expected dividend vield .......cccoivieiiicviiiiiinn e, .79% .94% .90%
Risk free interest rate.......cccciiviiin e e, 2.73% 4.20% 4.85%
Expected volatility factor.........cooeeiiiivimicci e, 37 33 .36
Expected life in YEArS .....covveicrricr e e 7.2 6.8 6.7

The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options which
have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. In addition, option valuation models require the input of highly
subjective assumptions including the expected stock price volatility. Because the Company's employee stock options have
characteristics significantly different from those of traded options, and because changes in the subjective input
assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, in management's opinion, the existing models do not
necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of its employee stock options. :

The Company has stock option plans for certain directors and key employees. The Nonemployee Directors' Plan
provides each nonemployee director an option to purchase 4,200 and 1,500 for 2003 and 2002, respectively, shares of
common stock following each annual meeting of the shareholders at an option price equal to the fair market value at the
close of business on the last trading day prior to the day of the annual meeting. The Company has reserved 300,000
shares of common stock under this plan. These options are exercisable at issuance to 10 years from date of grant. The
Key Employee's Plan provides that qualified stock options may be granted at an option price not less than fair market
value at date of grant and that nonqualified stock options may be granted at any price determined by the options
committee of the Board of Directors. The Company has reserved 5.0 million shares of common stock under this plan.
These options are exercisable at such time or times as may be determined by a committee of the Company's Board of
Directors. Normally, these options are exercisable from 1 to 10 years from date of grant.
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The Company has an employee stock purchase plan with a dividend reinvestment feature, under which employees of
the Company may choose at two different specified time intervals each year to have up to 6% of their annual base
earnings withheld to purchase the Company's common stock. The purchase price of the stock is 85% of the lower of its
beginning-of-interval or end-of-interval market price. The Company has reserved 2.4 million shares of common stock
under this plan. At December 31, 2003 and 2002, 2.0 million and 1.9 million shares, respectively, have been purchased
under this plan.

The Company has a stock option incentive plan for certain designated independent insurance agencies that represent
the Company and its affiliates. The Company has reserved 400,000 shares of common stock under this plan. The plan
provides that the options become exercisable on the first day of the calendar year following the agency’s achievement of
specific production and profitability requirements over a period not greater than two calendar years from date of grant or
a portion thereof in the first calendar year in which an agency commences participation under the plan. Options granted
and vested under this plan have a 10-year term. The Company has accounted for the plan in its accompanying financial
statements at fair value. Expense of $306,000, $165,000 and $140,000 associated with this plan was recognized in 2003,
2002 and 2001, respectively. The fair value of options granted to agencies was estimated at the reporting date or vesting
date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.

2003 2002 2001
Fair VaIUE v e s e s $13.37 7.55 8.04
Expected dividend Yield ....vuveeeriveiviein e niereieen e, .78% 87% .90%
Risk free interest rate......cccvviiviiiniciie i e e eee, 4.07% 4.50% 5.16%
Expected volatility factor......ccvviimiiiimn, .36 .36 34
Expected fife iN YEarS ...cvuvivererrrirneeeerieesirstinarn i 8.9 8.1 8.7

A summary of the Company's total stock option activity and related information for these plans for the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, follows:

2003 2002 2001
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average Average

Options Exercise Price Options Exercise Price Options Exercise Price
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Outstanding, beginning

of Year.ivivvevieiiiniinnnn, 2,791 $10.98 2,797 9.58 2,852 8.28
Granted....cccooeeeennn, 407 18.51 356 16.00 299 16.53
Exercised............... (532) 7.22 (362) 5.11 (315) 4.39
Canceled ............... (27) 16.24 - - (39) 10.16

Outstanding, end of year 2,639 $12.84 2,791 10.98 2,797 9.58
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A summary of information pertaining to the total options outstanding and exercisable as of December 31, 2003 follows:

Options Qutstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted-
Average Weighted- Weighted-
Remaining Average Average

Range of Exercise Prices Number Contractual Life Exercise Price = Number Exercise Price
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Less than $5.00......... 12 4 $4.67 12 $4.67
$5.01 - $10.00........... 649 2.1 6.66 648 6.66
Greater than $10.01 .. 1,978 7.0 14.92 1,334 13.66

2,639 5.8 $12.84 1,994 $11.33

(13) Net Earnings Per Common Share
The following table sets forth the compilation of basic and diluted net earnings per common share:

Year ended December 31
2003 2002 2001
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
Numerator:
Net earnings for basic and diluted earnings per common share $63,622 36,995 20,615

Denominator:
Weighted average shares for basic net earnings

PEr COMMON SNEIE ...ccvviiveeirierecirie e rnin e er e e enrrenans 39,255 38,984 38,775

Effect of dilutive stock options .......ovveeivvviivciiin e 898 759 906
Adjusted weighted average shares for diluted net

€arnings per COMMON Shar€.........cccvvvviieriiiise s venineennnns 40,153 39,743 39,681

Basic net earnings per common Share ........iceiiinieniiiecercnnnnn, $1.62 0.95 0.53

Diluted net earnings per COMMON SAAE ...u.icivainiiinmnnsienteneenss $1.58 0.93 0.52

The following options to purchase shares of common stock were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per
share because the exercise price of the options was greater than the average market price:

Year ended December 31
2003 2002 2001
~ (in thousands)

Number of OptioNS.....ve e, None 911 562
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(14) Other Comprehensive Income ‘
The related federal income tax effects of each component of other comprehensive income (loss) are as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2003

Tax Net-of-
Before-Tax (Expense) Tax
Amount or Benefit Amount

(in thousands)
Net unrealized holding gains on securities:

Unrealized holding gains arising during the year.......c.cccoceev.... $25,507 (8,926) 16,581
Reclassification adjustments for gains realized in net income... 10,623 (3,718) 6,905
Net unrealized holding gains ......ccvviiiniin e 14,884 (5,208) 9,676
Derivative used in cash flow hedge ..........cveiieiiiinnieiinnnne, 804 - 804
Other comprehensive INCOME ......cviviinnii e ireveiiccir e e $15,688 (5,208) 10,480
Year ended December 31, 2002
Tax Net-of-
Before-Tax (Expense) Tax
Amount or Benefit Amount

(in thousands)
Net unrealized holding gains on securities:

Unrealized holding gains arising during the year.......c.cc.......... $52,805 (18,482) 34,323
Reclassification adjustments for gains realized in net income... 5,909 (2,068) 3,841
Net unrealized holding gains ......o.cciiiierci s 46,896 (16,414) 30,482
Other comprehensive iNCOME .....cvvieiii e $46,896 (16,414) 30,482
Year ended December 31, 2001
Tax Net-of-
Before-Tax (Expense) Tax
Amount or Benefit Amount

(/n thousands)
Net unrealized holding losses on securities:

Unrealized holding losses arising during the year ........c..c....... $(10,787) 3,775 (7,012)
Reclassification adjustments for gains realized in net income... 1,962 (687) 1,275
Net unrealized holding [0SSES .......ovevvieieiiriiic e (12,749) 4,462 (8,287)
Other comprehensive 10SS .....uvvireuirr i cercieeevcviie e eieeieaeeee $(12,749) 4,462 {8,287)

(15) Reportable Segments ‘

At December 31, 2003, the Company has four reportable segments: State Auto standard insurance, State Auto
nonstandard insurance, Meridian standard insurance and investment management services. The reportable segments are
business units managed separately because of the differences in products or service they offer, type of customer they
serve or because of management considerations. The State Auto standard, State Auto nonstandard and the Meridian
standard insurance segments operate primarily in the central and eastern United States, excluding New York, New Jersey,
and the New England states, through an independent insurance agency system.

The State Auto standard insurance segment provides personal and commercial insurance to its policyholders. Its
principal lines of business include personal and commercial automobile, homeowners, commercial multi-peril, workers'
compensation, general liability and fire insurance. The State Auto nonstandard insurance segment provides personal
automobile insurance to policyholders that are typically rejected or canceled by standard insurance carriers because of
poor loss experience or a history of late payment of premiums.
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Effective July 1, 2001, with the STFC Pooled Companies assumption of the former Meridian Mutual business through
the Pooling Arrangement, as more fully described in note 6(a), the Company established the Meridian standard and
Meridian nonstandard insurance segments. While these Meridian segments offer similar products and services and
operate in the same geographical locations within the United States as the State Auto segments, they differ within their
operating measures, more specifically within their loss and profitability results. Monitoring the performance of the
Meridian segments allows management to review the resuits of its integration efforts of these segments while this
business continues to be processed through the Meridian systems platform. Due to the integration efforts by
management, along with this segment no longer meeting the quantitative thresholds for segment reporting within the
Meridian nonstandard business, beginning with the first quarter of 2003, the Meridian nonstandard business was included
in the State Auto nonstandard segment. The 2002 and 2001 disclosures have been revised to reflect this change.
Likewise, the Meridian standard business, beginning with the first quarter of 2004, will be included in the State Auto
standard segment. The investment management services segment manages the investment portfolios of affiliated
insurance companies.

The Company evaluates performance of its reportable segments and allocates resources thereon based on profit or
loss from operations, excluding net realized gains on investments on the Company’s investment portfolio, before federal
income taxes. The Company monitors its assets for the insurance segments on a legal entity basis, which for the STFC
Pooled Companies includes assets of two of the three reportable insurance segments (State Auto standard insurance and
Meridian standard insurance). The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in the
summary of significant accounting policies.

Revenue from segments in the other category is attributable to three other operating segments of the Company,
which individually are not material: management and operations services segment, an insurance software development
and resale segment, and a property management and leasing segment. ,

The following provides financial information regarding the Company’s reportable segments. The 2001 financial
information for the Meridian standard segment reflects the business assumed by the STFC Pooled Companies, beginning
July 1, 2001:

Year ended December 31
2003 2002 2001
(in thousands)
Revenues from external customers:

State Auto standard INSUMANCE ...v.iiiiiiviiiie i et er v es e er e $840,312 720,278 485,059
State Auto nonstandard INSUFANCE .......ccevuiviriveiieriir e e 85,768 76,618 44,037
Meridian standard INSUIANCE .....vvveiiiieiriii e esrernrean e srens 98,731 159,060 72,825
Investment Management SEIVICES ....ivvvvivviirrereriiieeereririnrerrsres e serrsrens 2,547 2,469 3,466
Al OHREE v e 3,570 3,120 15,773
Total revenues from external CUSTOMENS ..o, 1,030,928 961,545 621,160
Intersegment revenues:
State Auto standard INSUrANCE ....civeeiieiiiieii e e s 160 120 128
Investment management SErVICES ......oiviveireeirieri i eres 5,891 5,019 3,553
AL OthEE e 1,868 2,141 5,506
Total intersegment FEVENUES . ...uvvvivriiiircriiiiis s ireeie e n s s ereenrnessrrrnarenans 7,919 7,280 9,187
TOLAl FEVENUE...cittu e eccet s s er e e ere s e e s s s e e e rrrar b erens 1,038,847 968,825 630,347
Reconcifing ftems:
INtersegment FEVEMUERS .......vieeiiriiinrierciiieeisrti s sesnnissernrnssessnressssnnnns (7,919) (7,280) (9,187)
Corporate revenues...........cceiveveeiiiiecnnns e e 145 25 150
Net realized gains on investment..........ccccc e, 10,623 5,909 1,962
Total consolidated FEVENUES .. .vvuvviciviie et e a e are st $1,041,696 967,479 623,272
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Year ended December 31
2003 2002 2001
(in thousands)
Segment profit (loss):

State Auto standard INSUMANCE ...viivivee i e $57,323 37,537 45,664

State Auto nonstandard INSUFaNCE ....c.. v rierieiiieriaceiaieceiaieenieeeeaaeas, 6,632 4,075 (4,555)

Meridian standard INSUranCe .......covvveviiiiiieciiice e 3,489 (15,376) (44,397)

Investment management SEIVICES ......ovvvvviicrirriin e 7,424 6,402 5,965

Al OthEr i e e e 2,224 1,916 16,326
Total segment Profit v e et e 77,092 34,554 19,003
Reconciling items:

COrpPOrate EXPENSES 1.iiviieverertiiniiirer et iiiie e s ereesae et s s e e aesrnes s inaens (4,438) (2,673) (2,989)

Net realized gains on INVESIMENTS .......ocovvriiiiin 10,623 5,909 1,962
Total consolidated income before federal income taxes.....cooevevvvvienrirrinnnnnn, $83,277 37,790 17,976
Net investment income:

State Auto standard INSUFANCE ...vu.ivvviieviniiin e ccrrerinirse e s srre e eanaeas. $46,486 42,223 37,230

State Auto nonstandard INSUrANCE ......coiivviiereiieiir e, 3,091 2,759 2,335

Meridian standard INSUMaNCE ...vicviiiei v s e e e, 8,783 9,322 3,595

Investment management SErVICES .....ivivvveviriinn e 94 125 318

Al OENEI .. 143 180 193
Total net iNVestMENT INCOME ... e 58,597 54,609 43,671
Reconcifing itemns:

Corporate net Investment INCOME....cccivriviiiiiireiiiiiveeinircerircrreenicn 145 25 150

Reclassification adjustments in consolidation........ccc.cccoveiiiciiiiienn, 5,883 5,057 3,554
Total consolidated net investment INCOME .....ccooev i, $64,625 59,691 47,375

December 31
2003 2002

(in thousands)
Segment assets:

Y=L aTe =100 [0 LU0 = ol TN $1,962,533 1,468,482
Nonstandard INSUFANCE ..vvu.ivivre i rreree et s rre s e annes 140,803 98,886
Investment management SErVICES......civiiiiiiinii s 4,637 4,744
Al OENET v e e e 16,330 12,539
Total SEGMENE BSSEES .evvverrrerrirrriririerrr et ber b br bbb s 2,124,303 1,584,651
Reconciling items:
COrPOrAtE @SSELS 1ivuiiiiit it ittt e s e e e s et e s e e 22,045 833
Reclassification adjustments in consolidation...........coovciiniiinnccin e, (309,681) 7,511
Total consolidated ASSEtS ... e $1,836,667 1,592,995
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Revenues from external customers include the following products and services:
Year ended December 31

2003 2002 2001
Earned premiums (in thousands)
State Auto standard insurance:
Automobile - Personal .......ovcevveiiieiiieeieeenninnineninenieeens $337,548 281,373 191,600
Automobile - Commercial........cccovevvriiieerveeiiiee e 84,541 74,764 45,801
Homeowners and farmownerS.....vccee i innnensennnnan 134,001 112,350 77,105
Commercial multi-peril.......cooiviiiiconii e, 60,819 50,305 31,215
Workers’ compensation ........ccccciiineiinneieeenrnniinc e 24,141 23,236 15,365
Fire and allied........ccuveeeiievereiniiiniereeeeee e e 65,850 57,310 36,031
Other liability and products liability .........coovvevreeriiveeneenn, 54,882 49,233 21,875
(O] 1 1< gl 11 U= 26,571 24,604 25,304
Total State Auto standard insurance earned premiums......... 788,353 673,175 444,296
Total State Auto nonstandard insurance earned premiums.... 82,267 73,555 41,757
Meridian standard insurance:
Automobile - PErsonal ...cuvicvviviiineininiiiniee i e 28,374 56,908 26,153
Automobile - Commercial........ccoiiviviiiiniinin e, 15,130 22,304 10,248
Homeowners and farmowners.......ccocccviovivceiiieninieecneanns 14,593 - 21,159 9,536
Commercial multi-peril........ocoooiiiiiimmnircen 18,405 25,942 11,381
Workers” compensation ........ccuvverierrieneirrernieeneeninen, 8,458 16,081 8,660
Fire and allied...........ccccviiiviinninn i ceeereeninn 806 1,095 499
Other liability and products liability .........ccocveeirviiiiinncnnns 1,326 1,834 519
Other liNES . ivviiei i e et e e 2,856 4,542 2,157
Total Meridian standard insurance earned premiums............ 89,948 149,865 69,154
Total earned Premiums.......vivi e 960,568 896,595 555,207
Investment management SEIVICES .....vvvvrrvierrierniererernninennns 2,227 2,469 2,965
Net investment iNCOME......ciiiv it e e 64,480 59,666 47,225
Other income......... S PPN 3,653 2,815 15,763
Total revenues from external CUSIOMErS..........vvvivevvinnninnnn, $1,030,928 961,545 621,160

The standard insurance segments participate in a reinsurance pooling agreement with other standard insurance
affiliates. For discussion regarding this arrangement and these segments’ contribution to the pool and participation in the
pool, see note 6. Revenues from external customers are derived entirely within the United States. Also, all long-lived
assets are located within the United States. )
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(16) Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

2003
For three months ended
March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Total FeVENUES ..o vivveireris s esrr s ar e, $253,353 263,160 265,110 260,073
Income before federal income taxes........... 28,563 8,910 20,804 25,000
Net INCOME....iciviiviiiiii e, 21,064 8,301 15,580 18,677
Net earnings per common share

BaSIC covvviiriiiiie e e 0.54 0.21 0.40 0.47

Diluted oo 0.53 0.21 0.38 0.46

2002
For three months ended
March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Total reVenUES...c.vcvvvvereiier e ercarsieeereen, $ 229,959 236,223 246,962 254,335
Income (loss) before federal income taxes.. 17,301 (6,751) 5,128 22,112
Net income (10SS)......ccviiiiieinieiieeiiiininnenn, 13,165 (1,385) 5,885 19,330
Net earnings (loss) per common share

BaSIC .ciiirrreiniier s e 0.34 (0.04) 0.15 0.50

DIUted v 0.33 (0.04) 0.15 0.49

(17) Contingencies

The Company’s insurance subsidiaries are involved in litigation and may become involved in potentia! litigation arising
in the ordinary course of business. Additionally, the insurance subsidiaries may be impacted by adverse regulatory actions
and adverse court decisions where insurance coverages are expanded beyond the scope originally contemplated in the
policies at December 31, 2003. In the opinion of management, the effects, if any, of such litigation and published court
decisions are not expected to be material to the consolidated financial statements.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

(a)  The Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of the Company's
management, including the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the
design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(g)).
Based upon that evaluation, the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of the
end of the period covered by this report, the Company's disclosure controls and procedures were effective in timely
alerting them to material information relating to the Company (including its consolidated subsidiaries) required to be
included in the Company's periodic filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

(b) There has been no change in the Company's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the Company's most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Company's internal control over financial reporting.

PART 111

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

Information regarding directors of the Company required by Items 401(a) and (d)-(f) of Regulation S-K will be
found under the caption “Proposal One: Election of Directors” in the 2004 Proxy Statement, which information is
incorporated herein by reference. Information regarding executive officers of the Company required by Items 401(b) and
(d)-(f) of Regulation S-K is found under the caption “Executive Officers of the Registrant” at the end of Item 1 of this
Form 10-K, which information is also incorporated by reference into this Item 10.

The Company has a separately-designated standing Audit Committee established in accordance with Section
3(a)(58)(A) of the Exchange Act. As of March 5, 2004, the members of the Audit Committee were Richard K. Smith,
David J. D’Antoni and William J. Lhota. Mr. Smith is Chairman of the Audit Committee. The Company’s Board of
Directors has determined that Mr. Smith is an “audit committee financial expert,” as that term is defined in Item
401(h)(2) of Regulation S-K, and “independent,” as that term is defined in Rule 10A-3 of the Exchange Act.

Information regarding compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act required by Item 405 of Regulation S-K
will be found under the caption “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in the 2004 Proxy Statement,
which information is incorporated herein by reference.

The Company has adopted procedures by which shareholders may recommend individuals for membership to the
Company’s Board of Directors (the “"Board”). It is the policy of the Company’s Nominating and Governance Committee
(the "Nominating Committee™) to consider and evaluate candidates recommended by shareholders for membership on
the Board in the same manner as all other candidates for nomination to the Board who are not incumbent directors. If a
shareholder desires to recommend an individual for Board membership, then that shareholder must provide a written
notice to the Secretary of the Company at 518 East Broad Street, Columbus, Ohio 43215 (the “Recommendation Notice”).
For a recommendation to be considered by the Nominating Committee, the Recommendation Notice must contain, at a
minimum, the following: the name and address, as they appear on the Company’s books, and telephone number of the
shareholder making the recommendation, including information on the number of shares owned; and if such person is
not a shareholder of record or if such shares are owned by an entity, reasonable evidence of such person’s ownership of
such shares or such person’s authority to act on behaif of such entity; the full legal name, address and telephone number
of the individual being recommended, together with a reasonably detailed description of the background, experience and
qualifications of that individual; a written acknowledgement by the individual being recommended that he or she has
consented to that recommendation and consents to the Company’s undertaking of an investigation into that individual’s
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background, experience and qualifications in the event that the Nominating Committee desires to do so; the disclosure of
any relationship of the individual being recommended with the Company or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates, whether
direct or indirect; and, if known to the shareholder, any material interest of such shareholder or individual being
recommended in any proposals or other business to be presented at the Company’s next annual meeting of shareholders
(or a statement to the effect that no material interest is known to such shareholder).

The Company’s Board of Directors has adopted a code of ethics that applies to the Company’s principal executive
officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer, controller, and persons performing similar functions. This
code of ethics has been posted on the Company’s website at http://www.stfc.com under “Corporate Governance.” Any
amendment (other than any technical, administrative or other non-substantive amendment) to, or waiver from, a
provision of this code will be posted on the Company’s website described above within five business days following its
occurrence.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information regarding executive compensation required by Item 402 of Regulation S-K will be found under the
captions “Compensation of Directors,” “Compensation of Executive Officers,” “Compensation Committee Interlocks and
Insider Participation,” "Compensation Committee Report,” and “Performance Graph” in the 2004 Proxy Statement, which
information is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain_Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

Information regarding security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management required by Item 403 of
Regulation S-K will be found under the caption “Proposal One: Election of Directors” and “Principal Holders of Voting
Securities” in the 2004 Proxy Statement, which information is incorporated herein by reference.

Information regarding equity compensation plan information required by Item 201(d) of Regulation S-K is as
follows:

Equity Compensation Plan Information At December 31, 2003
‘ Number of Securities

Number of Securities Weighted-Average Remaining Available
to be Issued upon Exercise Price of for Future Issuance under

Exercise of Outstanding Outstanding Equity Compensation_Plans
Plan Category Options Options
Equity Compensation 2,548,398 $12.81 4,708,500"
Plans Approved by
Security Holders...........
Equity Compensation 90,147 . $13.86 273,2029

Plans not Approved by
Security Holders............

TOA veereeeeeerreeerseeeeens 2,638,545 4,981,702

& Includes 4,081,200 Common Shares available for issuance under the Company’s 2000 Stock Option Plan, 252,300
Common Shares available for issuance under the Company’s 2000 Directors Stock Option Plan, and 375,000
Common Shares available for issuance under the Company’s 1991 Employee Stock Purchase and Dividend
Reinvestment Plan.

@ This is the number of Common Shares available for issuance under the 1998 State Auto Agent’s Stock Option
Plan.
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1998 State Auto Agent'’s Stock Option Plan

The Company's Board of Directors adopted the 1998 State Auto Agent’s Stock Option Plan (the “Agent’s Option
Plan”) to encourage selected independent insurance agencies that represent the Company and its affiliates (the “State
Auto Agents”) to acquire or increase and retain a financial interest in the Company in order to strengthen the mutuality of
interests between the State Auto Agents and the Company's shareholders. The Agent’s Option Plan is administered by a
plan administration committee consisting of at least three members appointed by the Company’s Board of Directors, The
Agent’s Option Plan will terminate in May 2008, uniess terminated earlier by the Company's Board of Directors.

Under the Agent’s Option Plan, State Auto Agents who become participants are offered nonqualified stock options
to purchase Common Shares of the Company. The number of options granted to a participant is based on the formula
set forth in the Agent’s Option Plan and in each participant's participation agreement. The exercise price of options
granted under the Agent’s Option Plan is equal to the last reported sale price of the Common Shares on the Nasdaqg
National Market on the day of the grant. The options granted become exercisable on the first day of the calendar year
following the participant’s achievement of specific production and profitability requirements. Generally, the participant
has up to two calendar years to achieve these performance targets and vest the options. Subject to certain restrictions,
participants may exercise options that become vested. Each option has a term of ten years. If an option is not fully
exercised by its expiration date, it will terminate to the extent not previously exercised.

If a participant’s agency agreement terminates, or if the participant fails to meet its performance criteria as set
forth in its participation agreement and in the Agent’s Option Plan, or the participant fails to pay any amounts due under
its agency agreement on time, the option granted to such participant, to the extent not vested, will terminate. In
addition, if a participant terminates its relationship with the Company or its affiliates, the participant will not be eligible to
receive awards of options after the date of such termination, and any outstanding but unexercised awards will terminate
as described in the preceding sentence.

The Common Shares subject to the Agent’s Option Plan have been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended. Therefore, these Common Shares are freely tradeable once acquired upon the exercise of the options, unless
such Common Shares are acquired by a participant who is considered an “affiliate” of the Company.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Information regarding certain relationships and related transactions required by Item 404 of Regulation S-K will
be found under the caption “Certain Transactions” in the 2004 Proxy Statement, which information is incorporated herein
by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Information regarding principal accounting fees and services required by Item 9(a) of Schedule 14A will be found
under the caption “Independent Public Accountants” in the 2004 Proxy Statement, which information is incorporated
herein by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Reports on Form 8-K

(a)(1) LISTING OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following consolidated financial statements of the Company, are filed as part of this Form 10-K
Report and are included in Item 8:

Report of Independent Auditors
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of
December 31, 2003 and 2002
Consolidated Statements of Income for
each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2003
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’
Equity for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2003
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for
each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2003
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(a)(2) LISTING OF FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

The following financial statement schedules of the Company for the years 2003, 2002, and 2001, are
included in Item 15(d), following the signatures, and should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements contained in this Form 10-K Annual Report.

Schedule
Number Schedule
L Summary of Investments - Other Than
Investments in Related Parties
II. Condensed Financial Information of
Registrant
I1I. Supplementary Insurance Information
V. Reinsurance

All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is included in
the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.
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(a)(3) LISTING OF EXHIBITS

Exhibit No.

3.01

3.02

3.03

3.04

4.01

10.01

10.02

10.03*

10.04*

10.05*

10.06 *

10.07

Description of Exhibit

State Auto Financial Corporation's Amended and Restated
Articles of Incorporation

State Auto Financial Corporation's Amendment to the
Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation

State Auto Financial Corporation Certificate of Amendment
to the Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation as
of June 2, 1998

State Auto Financial Corporation's Amended and Restated
Code of Regulations

State Auto Financial Corporation's Amended and Restated
Articles of Incorporation, and Articles 1, 3, 5 and 9 of the
Company's Amended and Restated Code of Regulations
Guaranty Agreement between State Automobile Mutual
Insurance Company and State Auto Property and Casualty
Insurance Company dated as of May 16, 1991

Form of Indemnification Agreement between State Auto
Financial Corporation and each of its directors

State Auto 1991 Quality Performance Bonus Plan

1991 Stock Option Plan

Amendment Number 1 to the 1991 Stock Option Plan

1991 Directors' Stock Option Plan

License Agreement between State Automobile Mutual
Insurance Company and Policy Management Systems
Corporation dated December 28, 1984
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If incorporated by reference document with
which _Exhibit was previously filed with SEC

1933 Act Registration Statement No. 33-
40643 on Form S5-1 (see Exhibit 3(a)
therein)

1933 Act Registration Statement No. 33-
89400 on Form S-8 (see Exhibit 4(b)
therein)

Form 10-K Annual Report for the year
ended December 31, 1998 (see Exhibit
3(A)(3) therein)

1933 Act Registration Statement No. 33-
40643 on Form S-1 (see Exhibit 3(b)
therein)

Form 10-K Annual Report for the vyear
ended December 31, 1992 (see Exhibit
3(A) and 3(B) therein)}[J

1933 Act Registration Statement No. 33-
40643 on Form S-1 (see Exhibit 10 (d)
therein)

1933 Act Registration Statement No. 33-
40643 on Form S-1 (see Exhibit 10 (e)
therein)

1933 Act Registration Statement No. 33-
40643 on Form S-1 (see Exhibit 10 (f)
therein)

1933 Act Registration Statement No. 33-
40643 on Form S-1 (see Exhibit 10 (h)
therein)

1933 Act Registration Statement No. 33-
89400 on Form S-8 (see Exhibit 4 (a)
therein)

1933 Act Registration Statement No. 33-
40643 on Form S-1 (see Exhibit 10 (i)
therein)

1933 Act Registration Statement No. 33-
40643 on Form S-1 (see Exhibit 10 (k)
therein)
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Exhibit No.

10.08

10.09*

10.10%*

10.11*

10.12*

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

Description of Exhibit

Investment Management Agreement between Stateco
Financial Services, Inc. and State Automobile Mutual
Insurance Company, effective April 1, 1993
State Auto Insurance Companies Directors’ Deferred
Compensation Plan

State Auto Insurance Companies Amended and Restated
Non-Qualified Incentive Deferred Compensation Plan

Amendment Number 2 to the 1991 Stock Option Plan

Amendment Number 1 to the 1991 Directors’ Stock Option
Plan

Amended and Restated SERP of State Auto Mutual effective
as of January 1, 1994

Credit Agreement dated as of June 1, 1999 between State
Auto Financial Corporation and State Automobile Mutual
Insurance Company

Reinsurance Pooling Agreement amended and restated as
of January 1, 2000 by and among State Automobile Mutual
Insurance Company, State Auto Property and Casualty
Insurance Company, Milbank Insurance Company, Midwest
Security Insurance Company (n/kfa State Auto Insurance
Company of Wisconsin), Farmers Casualty Insurance
Company and State Auto Insurance Company (n/k/a State
Auto Insurance Company of Ohio)

Management and Operations Agreement as of January 1,
2000 among State Automobile Mutual Insurance Company,
State Auto Financial Corporation, State Auto Property and
Casualty Insurance .Company, State Auto National
Insurance Company, Milbank Insurance Company, State
Auto Insurance Company (n/k/a State Auto Insurance
Company of Ohio), Stateco Financial Services, Inc.,
Strategic Insurance Software, Inc., 518 Property
Management and Leasing, LLC
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If incorporated by reference document with
which Exhibit was previously filed with SEC

Form 10-K Annual Report for the year
ended December 31, 1992 (see Exhibit 10
(N) therein)

Form 10-K Annual Report for year ended
December 31, 1995 (see Exhibit 10(S)
therein)

Registration Statement on Form S-8, File
No. 333-56338 (see Exhibit 4(e) therein)

Form 10-K Annual Report for the year
ended December 31, 1996 (see Exhibit
10(DD) therein)

Form 10-K Annual Réport for the year

- ended December 31, 1996 (see Exhibit

10(EE) therein)

Form 10-K Annual Report for the year
ended December 31, 1997 (see Exhibit
10(HH) therein)

Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30,
1999 (see Exhibit 10(LL) therein)

Form 10-K Annual Report for the year
ended December 31, 1999 (see Exhibit
10(W) therein)

Form 10-K Annual Report for the year
ended December 31, 1999 (see Exhibit
10(X) therein)
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Exhibit No.

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21*

10.22

Description of Exhibit

Property Catastrophe Overlying Excess of Loss Reinsurance
contract issued to State Automobile Mutual Insurance
Company, State Auto Nationa! Insurance Company,
Miibank Insurance Company, Midwest Security Insurance
Company (n/kfa State Auto Insurance Company of
Wisconsin), Farmers Casualty Insurance Company, Mid-
Plains Insurance Company by State Auto Property and
Casualty Insurance Company

First Amendment to the Management and Operations
Agreement effective January 1, 2000 among State
Automobile Mutual Insurance Company, State Auto
Financial Corporation, State Auto Property and Casualty
Insurance Company, State Auto National Insurance
Company, Milbank Insurance Company, State Auto
Insurance Company (n/k/a State Auto Insurance Company
of Ohio), Stateco Financial Services, Inc., Strategic
Insurance Software, Inc. and 518 Property Management
and Leasing, LLC

First Amendment to the June 1, 1999 Credit Agreement
dated November 1, 1999 between State Auto Financial
Corporation and State Automobile Mutual Insurance
Company

Second amendment to the June 1, 1999 Credit Agreement
dated December 1, 1999 between State Auto Financial
Corporation and State Automobile Mutual Insurance
Company

Form of Executive Agreement between State Auto Financial
Corporation and certain executive officers

First Amendment to the Reinsurance Pooling Agreement
Amended and Restated as of January 1, 2000 by and
among State Auto Property and Casualty Insurance
Company, State Automobile Mutual Insurance Company,
Milbank Insurance Company, Midwest Security Insurance
Company (n/k/a State Auto Insurance Company of
Wisconsin), Farmers Casualty Insurance Company and
State Auto Insurance Company (n/k/a State Auto
Insurance Company of Ohio)
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If incorporated by reference document with
which Exhibit was previously filed with SEC

Form 10-K Annual Report for the year
ended December 31, 1999 (see Exhibit
10(Y) therein)

Form 10-K Annual Report for the year
ended December 31, 1999 (see Exhibit
10(2Z) therein) '

Form 10-K Annual Report for the year
ended December 31, 1999 (see Exhibit
10(AA) therein)

Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31,
2000 (see Exhibit 10(BB) therein)

Form 10-K Annual Report for the year
ended December 31, 2000 (see Exhibit
10(CC) therein)

Form 10-K Annual Report for the vyear
ended December 31, 2000 (see Exhibit
10(DD) therein)
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Exhibit No.

10.23

10.24*

10.25*

10.26*

10.27%

10.28*

10.29*

10.30*

10.31

. Insurance Company of Wisconsin),

Description of Exhibit

Addendum No. 1 of the Property Catastrophe Overlying
Excess of Loss Reinsurance Contract by and among State
Auto Property and Casualty Insurance Company, State
Automobile Mutual Insurance Company, State Auto
National Insurance Company, Milbank Insurance Company,
Midwest Security Insurance Company (n/k/a State Auto
Farmers Casualty
Insurance Company, Mid-Plains Insurance Company and
Stater Auto Insurance Company (n/k/a State Auto
Insurance Company of Ohio) dated November 17, 2000

2000 Stock Option Plan

2000 Directors Stock Option Plan

First Amendment to 2000 Directors Stock Option Plan

Second Amendment to the Reinsurance Pooling Agreement
Amended and Restated as of January 1, 2000, by the State
Automobile Mutual Insurance Company, State Auto
Property and Casualty Insurance Company, Milbank
Insurance Company, Midwest Security Insurance Company
(n/k/a State Auto Insurance Company of Wisconsin),
Farmers Casualty Insurance Company and State Auto
Insurance Company (n/k/a State Auto Insurance Company
of Ohio)

Second Amendment to 1991 Directors Stock Option Plan
Second Amendment to 2000 Directors Stock Option Plan
Third Amendment to 2000 Directors Stock Option Plan

Third Amendment to State Auto Reinsurance Pooling
Agreement, Amended and Restated as of January 1, 2000
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If incorporated by reference document with

which Exhibit was previously filed with SEC

Form 10-K Annual Report for the vyear
ended December 31, 2000 (see Exhibit
10(EE) therein)

Definitive Proxy Statement on Form DEF
14A, File No. 000-19289, for Annual
Meeting of Shareholders held on May 26,
2000 (see Appendix A therein)

Definitive Proxy Statement on Form DEF
14A, File No. 000-19289, for Annual
Meeting of Shareholders held on May 26,
2000 (see Appendix B therein)

Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31,
2001 (see Exhibit 10(HH) therein)

Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30,
2001 (see Exhibit 10(1I) therein)

Form 10-Q for the period ended
September 30, 2001 (see Exhibit 10(11)
therein)

Form 10-Q for the period ended
September 30, 2001 (see Exhibit 10(KK)
therein)

Form 10-K Annual Report for the year
ended December 31, 2001 (see Exhibit
10(EE) therein) .

Form 10-K Annual Report for the vyear
ended December 31, 2001 (see Exhibit
10(FF) therein)
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Exhibit No.

10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36

10.37

10.38*

10.39

10.40

10.41

10.42

Description of Exhibit

Stop Loss Reinsurance Agreement dated October 1, 2001
among inter alia Mutual and State Auto P&C

Amendment No. 2 to the Management and Operations
Agreement dated January 1, 2000 among, inter alia,
Mutual and State Auto P&C

Amendment No. 3 to Management and Operations
Agreement effective January 1, 2002, among State
Automobile Mutual Insurance Company, State Auto
Financial Corporation, State Auto Property and Casualty
Insurance Company, State Auto  National Insurance
Company, Milbank Insurance Company, State Auto
Insurance Company, Stateco Financial Services, Inc.,
Strategic Insurance Software, Inc., and 518 Property
Management and Leasing, LLC

Management Services Agreement as of July 1, 2002 by and
among State Auto Property and Casualty Insurance
Company, Meridian Insurance Group, Inc., Meridian
Security Insurance Company, Meridian Citizens Mutual
Insurance Company and Meridian Citizens Security
Insurance Company

Cost Sharing Agreement among State Auto Property and
Casualty Insurance Company, State Automobile Mutual
Insurance Company, and State Auto Florida Insurance
Company effective January 1, 2003

Fourth Amendment to State Auto Reinsurance Pooling
Agreement, Amended and Restated as of January 1, 2000

Fourth Amendment to 2000 Directors Stock Option Plan
Employment Agreement dated as of May 22, 2003,
between State Auto Financial Corporation and Robert H.

Moone

Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of STFC
Capital Trust I, dated as of May 22, 2003

Indenture dated as of May 22, 2003, for Floating Rate
Junior Subordinated Debt Securities Due 2033

Amendment No. 3 to 1991 Stock Option Plan Effective
January 1, 2001
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If incorporated by reference document with

which Exhibit was previously filed with SEC

Form 10-K Annual Report for the year
ended December 31, 2001 (see Exhibit
10(GG) therein)

Form 10-K Annual Report for the year
ended December 31, 2001 (see Exhibit
10(HH) therein)

Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30,
2002 (see Exhibit 10(LL) therein)

Form 10-Q for the period ended
September 30, 2002 (see Exhibit 10(NN)
therein)

Form 10K Annual Report for year ended
12-31-02 (see Exhibit 10(00) therein)

Form 10K Annual Report for year ended
12-31-02 (see Exhibit 10(TT) therein)

Form 10K Annual Report for year ended
12-31-02 (see Exhibit 10(UU) therein)

Form 10-Q for the period ending June 30,
2003 (see 10(WW) therein)

Form 10-Q for the period ending June 30,
2003 (see 10(XX) therein)

Form 10-Q for the period ending June 30,
2003 (see 10(YY) therein)

Form 10-Q for the period ending
September 30, 2003 (see 10.01) therein
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Exhibit No.

10.43
10.44

10.45

10.46

10.47

10.48

10.49

10.50

10.51

10.52

21.01

23.01

24.01

24.02

Description of Exhibit

Amendment No. 1 to 2000 Stock Option Plan Effective
January 1, 2001

Addendum No. 1 to Property Catastrophe Overlying Excess
of Loss Reinsurance Contract effective November 16, 2001

Property Catastrophe Overlying Excess of Loss Reinsurance
Contract effective July 1, 2002

Property Catastrophe Overlying Excess of Loss Reinsurance
Contract effective as of 7/1/03

Credit Agreement Among SAF Funding Corporation, The
Lenders and KeyBank National Association dated
November 12, 2003

Put Agreement among State Automobile Mutual Insurance
Company, State Auto Financial Corporation and KeyBank
National Association dated November 12, 2003

Standby Purchase Agreement between State Auto Financial
Corporation and SAF Funding Corporation dated November
12, 2003

Indenture dated as of November 13, 2003, among State
Auto Financial Corporation, as Issuer, and Fifth Third Bank
as Trustee

Form of 6 1/4% Senior Note due 2013 (Exchange Note)

Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of STFC
Capital Trust I, dated as of May 22, 2003

List of Subsidiaries of State Auto Financial Corporation

Consent of Independent Auditors

Powers of Attorney — William J. Lhota, Urlin G. Harris, Jr.,
Paul W. Huesman, and David J. D’Antoni

Power of Attorney — John R. Lowther
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If incorporated by reference document with
which Exhibit was previously filed with SEC

Form 10-Q for the period ending
September 30, 2003 (see 10.02) therein

Form 10-Q for the period ending
September 30, 2003 (see 10.03) therein

Form 10-Q for the period ending
September 30, 2003 (see 10.04) therein

Form 10-K Annual Report for the vyear
ended December 31, 2003 (see Exhibit
10.46 therein)

Form 8-K Current Report filed on
December 16, 2003 (see Exhibit 10.01
therein)

Form 8-K Current Report filed on
December 16, 2003 (see Exhibit 10.02
therein)

Form 8-K Current Report filed on
December 16, 2003 (see Exhibit 10.03
therein)

Securities Act Registration Statement on
Form S-4 (File No. 333-111507)(see
Exhibit 4.01 therein)

Securities Act Registration Statement on
Form S-4 (File No. 333-111507)(see
Exhibit 4.02 therein)

Securities Act Registration Statement on
Form S-4 (File No. 333-111507)(see
Exhibit 10.40 therein)

Form 10-K Annual Report for the year
ended December 31, 2003 (see Exhibit
21.01 therein)

Included herein

Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30,
1997 (see Exhibit 24(C) therein)

Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31,
1998 (see Exhibit 24(D) therein)
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Exhibit No.

24.03

24.04

24.05

24.06

31.01

31.02

32.01

32.02

Description of Exhibit

Power of Attorney — Robert H. Moone

- Power of Attorney — Richard K. Smith

Power of Attorney — S. Elaine Roberts
Power of Attorney — Paul S. Williams

CEO certification required by Section
Oxley Act of 2002

CFO certification required by Section
Oxley Act of 2002

CEO certification required by Section
Oxley Act of 2002

CFO certification required by Section
Oxley Act of 2002

302 of Sarbanes-
302 of Sarbanes-
906 of Sarbanes-

906 of Sarbanes-

If incorporated by reference document with

which Exhibit was previously filed with SEC

Form 10-K Annual Report for the year
ended December 31, 1998 (see Exhibit
24(E) therein)

Form 10-K Annual Report for the year
ended December 31, 2000 (See Exhibit
24(D) therein)
Form 10-K Annual Report for the year
ended December 31, 2002 (See Exhibit
24(F) therein)
Form 10-K Annual Report for the vyear
ended December 31, 2003 (see Exhibit
24.06 therein)

Included herein

Included herein

Included herein

Included herein

*Constitutes either a management contract or a compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an Exhibit
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(b) REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

On each of October 16, 2003, November 5, 2003, and December 16, 2003, the Company filed a Form 8-K under
Item 5.

(c) EXHIBITS

The exhibits were submitted as a separate section of the Form 10-K Annual Report for the year ended December
31, 2003 following the financial statement schedules. '

(d) FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

The financial statement schedules were submitted as a separate section of the Form 10-K Annual Report for the
year ended December 31, 2003 following the signatures and certifications.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

STATE AUTO FINANCIAL CORPORATION
Dated: March 12, 2004 /s/Robert H. Moone

Robert H. Moone
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons on
behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name Title Date
/s/Robert H. Moone Chairman, President and March 12, 2004
Robert H. Moone Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)
/s/Steven 1. Johnston Chief Financial Officer, March 12, 2004
Steven J. Johnston Senior Vice President, and Treasurer

{principal financial officer)

/s/ Cynthia A. Powell Vice President and Controller March 12, 2004
Cynthia A. Powell {principal accounting officer)
David J. D’Antoni* Director March 12, 2004

David J. D’Antoni

Urlin G. Harris, Jr.* Director March 12, 2004
Urlin G. Harris, Jr. .

Paul W. Huesman* Director March 12, 2004
Paul W. Huesman

William J. Lhota* Director March 12, 2004
William J. Lhota

John R. Lowther* Director March 12, 2004
John R. Lowther

S. Elaine Roberts* Director March 12, 2004
S. Elaine Roberts

Richard K. Smith* Director March 12, 2004
Richard K. Smith

Paul S. Williams* Director March 12, 2004
Paul S. Williams

*Steven J. Johnston by signing his name hereto, does sign this document on behalf of the person indicated above pursuant to
a Power of Attorney duly executed by such person.

/s/Steven J. Johnston March 12, 2004
Steven J. Johnston
Attorney in Fact
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Exhibit 23.01

Consent of Independent Auditors

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements and related prospectuses of State
Auto Financial Corporation of our report dated February 20, 2004, with respect to the consolidated financial statements
and schedules of State Auto Financial Corporation and subsidiaries included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the
year ended December 31, 2003.

Registration
Form Number(s) Description
S-8 33-44667 1991 Stock Option Plan
33-89400
S-8 33-44666 1991 Directors' Stock Option Plan
S-8 33-41423 1991 Employee Stock Purchase and Dividend Reinvestment Plan
333-05755
S-8 333-56336 State Auto Insurance Companies Capital Accumulation Plan
S-8 333-43882 2000 Directors' Stock Option Plan
S-8 333-43880 2000 Stock Option Plan
S-3 333-41849 Monthly Stock Purchase Plan for Independent Agents
S-3 333-90529 1998 State Auto Agents' Stock Option Plan
S-4 333-111507 6 1/4% Senior Notes due 2013

/s/Ernst & Young LLP

Columbus, Ohio
March 8, 2004
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EXHIBIT 31.01

CERTIFICATION

I, Robert H. Moone, certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this Form 10-K of State Auto Financial Corporation;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant
and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented
in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures,
as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

() Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in
the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, fo the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the

~ registrant's board of directors:

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fradd, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

/s/Robert H. Moone ,
Robert H. Moone, Chief Executive Officer
(Principal executive officer)

March 12, 2004
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EXHIBIT 31.02

CERTIFICATION

I, Steven J. Johnston, certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this Form 10-K of State Auto Financial Corporation;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
such statements were made, not misieading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer and [ are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant
and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; '

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented
in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures,
as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(©) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in
the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant's board of directors:

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

[s/Steven J. Johnston

Steven J. Johnston, Chief Financial Officer
(Principal financia!l officer)

March 12, 2004
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EXHIBIT 32.01

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of State Auto Financial Corporation (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the
period ending December 31, 2003, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the
"Report"), I, Robert H. Moone, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that: '

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company.

/s/ Robert H. Moone
Robert H. Moone
Chief Executive Officer
March 12, 2004

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been
provided to State Auto Financial Corporation and will be retained by State Auto
Financial Corporation and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or
its staff upon request.
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EXHIBIT 32.02

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of State Auto Financial Corporation (the "Company™) on Form 10-K for the
period ending December 31, 2003, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the
"Report"), I, Robert H. Moone, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company.

/s/ Steven 1. Johnston

Steven J. Johnston
Chief Financial Officer
March 12, 2004

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been
provided to State Auto Financial Corporation and will be retained by State Auto
Financial Corporation and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or
its staff upon request.
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Corporate
Information

A A A BRLER 4R Rl _EEE Vel A S Lol _LEL 4
State Auto Financial Corporation
518 E. Broad Street

Columbus, OH 43215

(614) 464-5000

www.STFC.com

ANNUAL MEETING
10 a.m. Friday, May 28, 2004,
at Corporate Headguarters

SHAREHOLDER INQUIRIES
Terrence Bowshier

Director of Investor Relations

State Auto Financial Corporation

518 E. Broad Street

Columbus, OH 43215

Phone (614) 464-5078

FAX (614) 464-5325

E-mail Terry.Bowshier @ stateauto.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
Ernst & Young LLP

One Columbus

10 W. Broad Street
Columbus, OH 43215

LEGAL COUNSEL
Baker & Hostetler LLP
65 E. State Street
Columbus, OH 43215

10-K REPORT

The Company's 10-K report filed annually with

the Securities and Exchange Commission is
available at no cost by contacting Mr. Bowshier.
This report and other filings with the Securities and
Exchange Commission are also available free of
charge on the company’s Web site maintained at
www.STFC.com.

TRANSFER AGENT/REGISTRAR
National City Bank

Corporate Trust Operations

P.O Box 92301

Cleveland Ohio 44193-0900
Phone (800) 622-6757

STOCK TRADING

Common shares are traded in the Nasdaq
National Market System under the symbol
STFC. As of March 5, 2004, there were

902 shareholders of record of the Company’s
common shares.

MARKET PRICE RANGE, COMMON STOCK"
Initial Public Offering — June 28, 1991, $2.25
The high and low sale prices for each quarterly
period for the past two years as reported by
Nasdaq are:

2002

First Qtr. $17.25 $13.70 $.0325
Second Qtr. 17.02 14.33 0325
Third Qtr. 16.82 14.50 0350
Fourth Qtr. 16.78 12.67 .0350
2003

First Qtr. $17.75 $14.96 $.0350
Second Qtr. 24.24 16.58 .0350
Third Qtr. 26.60 21.45 .0400
Fourth Qtr. 26.90 22.50 .0400

(1) Adjusted for stock splits.
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